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aBoUt CanaCCord finanCial inC. 

Through its principal subsidiaries, Canaccord Financial Inc. is a leading independent, full-service financial 
services firm, with operations in two principal segments of the securities industry: global capital markets 
and wealth management. Canaccord has over 60 offices in 12 countries worldwide, including over 40 wealth 
management offices located in Canada, the uK and Europe. Canaccord Genuity, the Company’s international 
capital markets division, has operations in Canada, the uS, the uK, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, China,  
Hong Kong, Singapore, Australia and Barbados. 

More information about Canaccord Financial Inc., including 
the Company’s 2012 online annual report, can be found at 
www.canaccordfinancial.com.
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Singapore 
Canaccord provides timely, actionable ideas 
from many of today’s important financial 
centres, including Singapore – where Canaccord 
added an office in March of 2012.

Meaning: opportunity

Opportunities exist around the world, and we’re there to help our clients leverage them. 
With operations in 12 countries and trusted expertise in 18 key sectors of the global economy, 
Canaccord is strategically positioned to cater to the increasingly global perspective of our 
corporate, institutional and private clients. 

We raise capital. We match corporate interests. We analyze companies. We build client wealth.

We interpret global opportunities for our clients.



reaching our objectives
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(1)  FP Infomart. Transactions over $1.5 million.
(2)  Based on performance figures for Collins Stewart Wealth Management for the past 14 years.
(3)  All figures as of March 31, 2012.

 During fiscal 2012, Canaccord was committed to reaching the objectives we established for our 
company. It was a productive year, and we’re proud of what we’ve accomplished.

 StrEngthEn oUr CompEtitivE poSition in EaCh of oUr CorE marKEtS 

  •�Added scale to our uK and uS investment banking operations through the acquisition of  
Collins Stewart Hawkpoint plc (CSHP)

 • Leveraged the capabilities of our expanded Mergers & Acquisitions (M&A) and advisory practice in 
Canada to achieve record advisory revenue

  •�Maintained our market leadership in the Canadian capital markets space, leading or co-leading 
more transactions during the year than any other Canadian investment bank(1) 

 Expand oUr prESEnCE in thE aSia-paCifiC rEgion

� •�Expanded our operations into Australia and Hong Kong through the acquisition of a 50% interest in 
BGF Equities, one of the fastest growing boutique advisory firms in Australia, which also provided 
Canaccord with the capabilities to list companies on the Australian Stock Exchange

  •�Gained a strategically important office in Singapore, with licences to list companies on both the 
Singapore Stock Exchange and its junior exchange – SGX Catalist 

 divErSify oUr gEographiC, diviSional and SECtor rEvEnUE mix 

� •�Expanded our research coverage to include 18 important sectors of the global economy

  •�Broadened our global distribution, now offering sales and trading services from 15 trading floors,  
in 14 cities

  •�Increased our global listing capabilities with three new licences, providing Canaccord with the  
ability to list companies on 10 stock exchanges worldwide

 • Launched new operations in key geographies, now operating from 12 countries worldwide

 •Added a strong, consistently profitable wealth management business in the uK and Europe(2) 

 groW oUr adviSory BUSinESS to CapitalizE on thE Strong m&a CyClE

  •�Gained a highly regarded European advisory franchise through our acquisition of CSHP, with 
operations in London, Paris and Frankfurt

 maintain a Solid finanCial poSition(3)

� �•�Preserved our strong, liquid balance sheet to support growing business volumes and investments  
in growth opportunities

 • Shareholders’ equity of $992.1 million

 • Book value of $8.26 per common share
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financial highlights

SElECtEd finanCial information(1)(2)

  For the years ended March 31
(C$ thousands, except per share and % amounts, 
and number of employees)  2012 2011 2012/2011 Change 

     ifrS  IFRS
Canaccord financial inc. (Cfi)
Revenue
Commission   $ 252,877 $ 294,650 $ (41,773)  (14.2)%
Investment banking    175,225  327,499  (152,274)  (46.5)%
Advisory fees    107,370  84,914  22,456  26.4%
Principal trading    10,647  43,644  (32,997)  (75.6)%
Interest     31,799  24,040  7,759  32.3%
Other     26,946  28,884  (1,938)  (6.7)%

total revenue    604,864  803,631  (198,767)  (24.7)%

Expenses
 Incentive compensation    $ 304,908 $ 389,046 $ (84,138)  (21.6)%
 Salaries and benefits    63,924  64,420  (496)  (0.8)%
 Other overhead expenses(3)    200,842  194,953  5,889  3.0%
 Acquisition-related costs    16,056  12,740  3,316  26.0%
 Restructuring costs(4)     35,253  —  35,253  n.m.

total expenses     620,983  661,159  (40,176)  (6.1)%

Income (loss) before income taxes    (16,119)  142,472  (158,591)  (111.3)%
net income (loss)   $ (21,346) $ 99,743 $ (121,089)  (121.4)%
net income (loss) attributable to Cfi shareholders   $ (20,307) $ 99,743 $ (120,050)  (120.4)%
Non-controlling interests   $ (1,039) $ — $ (1,039)  n.m.
Earnings (loss) per common share – basic    $ (0.33) $ 1.37 $ (1.70)  (124.1)%
Earnings (loss) per common share – diluted   $ (0.33) $ 1.22 $ (1.55)  (127.0)%
Return on common equity (ROE)    (3.1)%  14.2%  (17.3) p.p.
Dividends per share   $ 0.40 $ 0.275 $ 0.125  45.5%
Book value per diluted common share(5)    $ 8.26 $ 8.79 $ (0.53)  (6.0)%

Excluding significant items(6)

Total expenses   $ 564,182 $ 643,293 $ (79,111)  (12.3)%
Income before income taxes   $ 40,682 $ 160,338 $ (119,656)  (74.6)%
Net income    $ 25,193 $ 114,126 $ (88,933)  (77.9)%
Net income attributable to CFI shareholders   $ 25,591 $ 114,126 $ (88,535)  (77.6)%
Earnings per common share (EPS) – basic    $ 0.28 $ 1.56 $ (1.28)  (82.1)%
Earnings per common share (EPS) – diluted    $ 0.25 $ 1.40 $ (1.15)  (82.1)%

Balance sheet data
Total assets   $ 5,762,723 $ 5,097,500 $ 665,223  13.0%
Total liabilities    4,753,144  4,340,608  412,536  9.5%
Non-controlling interests    17,454  —  17,454  n.m.
Total shareholders’ equity     992,125  756,892  235,233  31.1%
Number of employees    2,428  1,684  744  44.2%

(1)  Data is in accordance with IFRS except for ROE, book value per diluted common share, figures excluding significant items and number of employees.
(2)  Data includes the results of Genuity since the closing date of April 23, 2010. Results of Canaccord Genuity Asia since the closing date of January 17, 2011 and the results for Canaccord BGF since 

the closing date of November 1, 2011 are also included. The operating results of Canaccord BGF have been fully consolidated and a 50% non-controlling interest has been recognized. Results of 
former CSHP entities since March 22, 2012 are also included.

(3)  Consists of trading costs, premises and equipment, communication and technology, interest, general and administrative, amortization of tangible and intangible assets, and development costs. 
(4)  Consists of staff restructuring costs and reorganization expenses related to the acquisition of CSHP, as well as restructuring costs related to the reorganization of certain Canadian trading and other operations.
(5)  Book value per diluted common share is calculated as total common shareholders’ equity divided by the number of diluted common shares outstanding. 
(6)  Net income and earnings per common share excluding significant items reflect tax-effected adjustments related to such items. See the Selected Financial Information Excluding Significant Items 

table on page 32. 
p.p.: percentage points
n.m.: not meaningful 
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Canaccord at a glance

Canaccord Financial Inc. is the publicly  
traded parent company of a group of  
financial services businesses that provide 
investment banking, wealth management 
and correspondent services to corporate, 
institutional and private clients. The two 
main operating divisions of the Company 
are Canaccord Genuity and Canaccord 
Wealth Management.

Canaccord genuity(1)

Canaccord Genuity is the capital markets division of 
Canaccord, and provides timely, actionable ideas to corporate 
and institutional clients around the world.

•� Global�investment�banking/corporate�broking�
operations, with capabilities to list companies on  
10 stock exchanges in six countries

•� Highly�regarded�M&A,�advisory�and�restructuring�
practice with offices in 19 cities worldwide

•� Sales�and�trading�services�provided�through� 
15 trading floors in six time zones

•� Award-winning�research�team,�with�coverage�of�over�
800 companies

•� Approximately�1,090�employees,�including�more�than�
175 senior level investment bankers, 85 research 
analysts and 260 sales and trading professionals

Canaccord Wealth management(1)

Canaccord Wealth Management is the division of the business 
dedicated to providing individual investors, charities and 
intermediaries with tailored investment solutions, brokerage 
services and financial planning advice.

•� Wealth�management�operations�in�Canada,�the�UK,�
Europe and Australia, catering to the specific needs 
of clients in each of these markets

•� Assets�under�administration�in�Canada�and�assets�
under management in the uK totalling C$27.9 billion(2) 

•� 280�Investment�Advisory�teams�located�at�35�wealth�
management offices across Canada

•� Over�100�investment�professionals�located�at�six�
wealth management offices in the uK and Europe

•� Operates�under�the�name�Canaccord�Wealth�
Management (in Canada) and Collins Stewart Wealth 
Management (in the uK and Europe)

3%
Asia-Pacific(3)

12%
US 

55%
Canada

30%
UK and Europe

EMPLOYEES BY GEOGRAPHY
(As at March 31, 2012. Includes employee 
additions from the acquisition of CSHP)

2%
Asia-Pacific(3)

13%
US 

76%
Canada

9%
UK and Europe

FISCAL 2012 REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHY
(Includes contributions from the acquisition
of CSHP from March 22 to March 31, 2012 only)

5%
Corporate and Other

33%
Canaccord

Wealth
Management

62%
Canaccord Genuity

FISCAL 2012 REVENUE BY BUSINESS SEGMENT
(Includes contributions from the acquisition
of CSHP from March 22 to March 31, 2012 only)

  

(1)  All figures as of March 31, 2012. 
(2)  See Non-IFRS Measures on page 23.
(3)  Includes Other Foreign Locations.

Canaccord operations

Strategic alliances
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Expanded Business Scale

On March 21, 2012, Canaccord Financial Inc. completed its acquisition of Collins Stewart Hawkpoint plc.

As the acquisition closed just prior to Canaccord’s fiscal 2012 year end, contributions from newly acquired CSHP operations 
were only recorded from March 22 to March 31, 2012. To provide a better understanding of the scale of our combined 
business, we have presented comparative information for both Canaccord and CSHP in the table below.

CollECtivE finanCial pErformanCE – CanaCCord finanCial inC. and CShp(1)

  For the years ended

    march 31, December 31, December 31,  
(C$ thousands, except per share and % amounts)   2012  2011 2011

     Canaccord  Canaccord Collins Stewart
    financial inc.(2) financial inc.(2) hawkpoint plc.(3)

       ifrS  IFRS  IFRS

Capital Markets revenue   

 Investment banking/corporate broking     $ 135,664 $ 177,580 $ 20,094

 Advisory      107,331  108,435  67,876

 Securities, fixed income and other      130,482  138,163  153,761

Wealth Management       201,290  219,470  85,122

Corporate and Other       30,097  31,116  —

total revenue      604,864  674,764  326,853

Expenses   

 Incentive compensation      $ 304,908 $ 328,650 $ 184,529

 Salaries and benefits      63,924  63,832  25,447

 Other overhead expenses(4)      200,842  198,101  107,338

 Acquisition-related costs      16,056  5,656  —

 Restructuring costs       35,253  6,292  —

total expenses       620,983  602,531  317,314

Income (loss) before income taxes     $ (16,119) $ 72,233 $ 9,539

net income (loss)      (21,346)  51,771  7,538

Non-controlling interests      (1,039)  (495)  —

net income (loss) attributable to public company      (20,307)  52,266  7,538

net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders      (25,122)  48,558  7,538

Earnings per common share (EPS) – diluted      (0.33)  0.57  0.03(6)

Excluding significant items(5)    

Total expenses      564,182  586,026  317,314

Income before income taxes      40,682  88,741  9,539

Net income       25,193  65,357  7,538

Net income attributable to public company      25,591  65,538  7,538

Net income attributable to common shareholders      20,776  61,830  7,538

EPS – basic       0.28  0.82  0.03(6)

EPS – diluted       0.25  0.73  0.03(6)

  Past performance may not be indicative of future performance.

(1)  Data is in accordance with IFRS except for figures excluding significant items.
(2)  Data includes the results of Genuity since the closing date of April 23, 2010. Results of Canaccord Genuity Asia since the closing date of January 17, 2011 and results of Canaccord BGF since the 

closing date of November 1, 2011 are also included. The operating results of Canaccord BGF have been fully consolidated and a 50% non-controlling interest has been recognized. Results of former 
CSHP entities since March 22, 2012 are also included for the period ended March 31, 2012.

(3)  The applicable exchange rate used for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2011 for CSHP was £1.0:C$1.5822.
(4)  Consists of trading costs, premises and equipment, communication and technology, interest, general and administrative, amortization of tangible and intangible assets, and development costs. 
(5)  Net income and earnings per common share excluding significant items reflect tax-effected adjustments related to such items. See the Selected Financial Information Excluding Significant Items 

table on page 32. 
(6)  Collins Stewart Hawkpoint plc EPS figures are unaudited. EPS figures are calculated using CSHP share count figures for the year ended December 31, 2011.
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Letter to Shareholders

“ during fiscal 2012, we 
accomplished many important 
initiatives to build a strong 
foundation for Canaccord’s 
long term success. it was a 
pivotal year for our firm, and 
one that will forever shape  
our company’s future.”

During fiscal 2012, we significantly expanded our global 
reach and service offering through acquisitions in Europe and 
Australia. We achieved record advisory revenue, for the second 
consecutive year, underscoring the value of the investments 
we’ve made to build out our M&A and advisory capabilities. 
And we strengthened our wealth management division, growing 
our fee-based revenue and adding a strong, profitable wealth 
management business based in the uK. Most importantly, we 
accomplished all of this with a disciplined approach and a firm 
commitment to adhering to our stated acquisition criteria. 

BUilding a foUndation for long tErm SUCCESS

Our expansion activities during fiscal 2012 centred around 
the acquisition of Collins Stewart Hawkpoint plc (CSHP) – a 
transformative transaction that closed at the end of our fiscal 
year. Through it, we grew Canaccord Genuity’s global platform 
substantially, added important operational scale to our uK  
and uS capital markets operations, and gained a profitable  
on-and-offshore uK-based wealth management business.

As contributions from the now integrated operations of CSHP 
were recorded in only the last seven days of our fiscal year, 
our 2012 results are not a true reflection of the capabilities 
our much larger firm now has. We expect the full potential of 

our improved earnings power will become evident over the next 
several years, as cost and revenue synergies of this powerful 
business combination converge with healthier market conditions 
to generate meaningful long term value for our shareholders.

Solid finanCial pErformanCE 

On a global basis, Canaccord generated $605 million in 
revenue during fiscal 2012, a respectable achievement 
considering the precarious economic backdrop and market 
volatility that existed during much of the year, but a 25% 
decrease from the record revenue we generated during last 
year’s much stronger market environment. Advisory revenue 
contributed more to our global revenue than ever before, with 
18% of fiscal 2012 revenues coming from M&A and advisory 
activity – primarily generated by our Canadian investment 
banking team. In fact, 2012 was our second consecutive record 
year for advisory revenue. And we believe this exceptional 
performance is a precursor to what our expanded advisory 
team can generate in the years ahead with the addition of the 
strong European advisory franchise we gained through CSHP.

Acquisition-related activities and associated restructuring  
led to $57 million of significant expense items during the 
fiscal year. Including these expense items, Canaccord 

fellow Shareholders:

Canaccord’s expansion during fiscal 2012 has positioned our company as a leading, growth-focused 
independent investment bank – one that is global in its scope and service offering, but focused in 
client attention. Today, we provide our growing client base with opportunities from a broader range 
of sectors and geographies than ever before. And we’re combining the core strengths, expertise 
and business relationships our professionals have developed in each of our markets to generate 
real value for our clients and shareholders.
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recorded a net loss of $21 million during fiscal 2012, or 
$(0.33) per common share. On a normalized basis, excluding 
all acquisition-related and restructuring expenses, Canaccord 
generated $25 million in net income during the year, or $0.25 
per diluted common share. 

Strong BalanCE ShEEt

Canaccord’s balance sheet remains strong and liquid. The 
corporate development initiatives we undertook during 
fiscal 2012 were financed largely through the issuance of 
cumulative, non-convertible preferred shares – a financing 
opportunity that allowed us to deploy low-cost capital to 
significantly strengthen our business. Approximately 18 million 
common shares were also issued to complete the transaction 
of CSHP on March 21. The value we received from this share 
issuance cannot be underestimated. By issuing 20% more 
common shares, we essentially doubled the earnings potential 
of our global business through the acquisition.

As at March 31, 2012, Canaccord had shareholders’ equity 
of $992 million – a 31% increase compared to the same time 
last year – working capital of $331 million, and book value per 
share of $8.26. 

gloBal Capital marKEtS CapaBilitiES

The capabilities of our global capital markets team were 
significantly bolstered this year through our expansion efforts. 
During fiscal 2012, we gained capabilities to operate on the 
Australian, Hong Kong, Singapore and Singapore Catalist stock 
exchanges. We now have investment banking teams in four 
more countries than last year. And we added five trading desks 
in four new financial centres. 

The strength of our Canadian capital markets business was 
evident again this year. Generating 62% of Canaccord Genuity’s 
global revenue, it continues to provide a solid foundation as  
we develop the strength of our operations in other geographies. 
In the uS, in particular, we see opportunities to meaningfully 
increase margins and enhance revenue potential with the 
expanded team we gained from CSHP. As the strength of the 
uS economy continues to improve, we believe the investments 
we’re making to develop our business in this market will 
generate long term value. 

In the uK, our focus is progressing away from initial integration 
activities to initiatives aimed at further capturing cost and 
revenue synergies. Our teams have come together successfully, 
and we’re already seeing positive early results from our 
combined uK business. In fact, two new corporate clients have 
retained Canaccord Genuity as their broker in the weeks since 
the integration, firmly positioning us as a leading investment 
bank in the uK, with the second most retained corporate 
clients in this market(1). 

During fiscal 2012, we also expanded our Asia-Pacific operations 
with the acquisition of a 50% interest in BGF Equities,  
now named Canaccord BGF. Our new partnership in Australia 
provides us with increased access to Australia’s robust 

resource sector, and expanded our operations into Hong Kong. 
The acquisition was a major component of our unfolding Asia-
Pacific strategy, and combined with our established investment 
banking business in mainland China and new operations in 
Singapore, we now provide our clients in the region with a 
full-service offering unmatched by other mid-market focused 
investment banks.

advanCing oUr WEalth managEmEnt platform

The growth of Canaccord’s wealth management platform into 
the uK and European markets not only enhances the size  
and stability of this division’s revenue streams, it positions  
us well to leverage the changing market dynamics in the  
uK wealth management industry. We believe opportunities to 
grow our client asset base will emerge as smaller industry 
participants face uneconomical operating costs due to 
increasing regulatory requirements. As a result, we are 
proactively investing in our IT infrastructure within our wealth 
management division, in anticipation of increased client activity.

Our Canadian wealth management operations continued to 
make meaningful progress in growing its fee-based revenue. 
At 18.5%, the division is now generating more revenue from 
recurring sources than at any other point in its history, and is 
growing its fee-based assets faster than any other Canadian 
investment dealer(2). Combined with the strong recurring revenue 
from Collins Stewart Wealth Management (CSWM), the division 
is now much better positioned to withstand fluctuating market 
conditions, while still providing enough leverage to capitalize 
on traditional trading activity in better market environments. 

thE viEW ahEad 

During fiscal 2012, we accomplished many important 
initiatives to build a strong foundation for Canaccord’s long 
term success. It was a pivotal year for our firm, and one that 
will forever shape our company’s future. In the year ahead, 
our priorities will be focused on leveraging the inherent value 
of the investments we made during 2012 – ensuring we best 
position and support our expanded team to generate the 
revenue and earnings power we know exists in our firm today. 

Our commitment to generating long term shareholder value 
remains the basis of all our strategic decisions – especially as 
we navigate the Company in today’s dynamic global economic 
environment. We’re building a business that can better 
withstand market fluctuations, and is best positioned to serve 
the broader needs of our growing global client base. We’re 
building a business our clients are loyal to, our employees are 
proud of, and our shareholders are rewarded by. 

paul d. reynolds
President & Chief Executive Officer
May 2012

Letter to Shareholders

(1)  Source: Hemscott. As of May 17, 2012
(2)  Source: Investor Economics
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Canaccord’s capital markets division, Canaccord Genuity, was transformed during fiscal 2012 
with the addition of offices in France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Australia, Hong Kong and Singapore.  
Our growth initiatives this year also significantly strengthened our businesses in the uK and the 
uS, by combining the talent base and services of our existing operations with those acquired 
through CSHP. And in Canada, our traditional capital markets stronghold, Canaccord Genuity 
continued to demonstrate the power of our expanded team, producing our second straight year  
of record advisory revenue.

Today, Canaccord’s capital markets platform provides investment banking, M&A and advisory, sales and trading, and research 
services to a growing, global client base – who value the quality of our ideas, the depth of our sector expertise, and the strength  
of our corporate and institutional relationships.

Canaccord Genuity is the division name for Canaccord’s capital markets businesses. Also included in this division are Canaccord 
Genuity Hawkpoint, Canaccord BGF and Canaccord Genuity Asia.

Canaccord Genuity
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Möglichkeiten

frankfurt, germany 
Canaccord significantly expanded its capital markets operations 
during fiscal 2012, including a new office in Frankfurt – just one 
of several cities our new European advisory practice, Canaccord 
Genuity Hawkpoint, operates from.

Meaning: opportunities

Canaccord Genuity

2%
Interest and Other

3%
Principal trading 

36%
Investment banking

29%
Advisory

30%
Commission

CANACCORD GENUITY REVENUE 
BY ACTIVITY – GLOBAL
(Includes contributions from the acquisition of 
CSHP from March 22 to March 31, 2012 only)
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globally integrated Capital markets platform

Canaccord Genuity’s expanded geographic reach allows us to layer a global perspective to the client 
relationships we have in each of our local markets. By leveraging our skills, expertise and business 
networks in markets around the world, Canaccord Genuity is uniquely positioned to provide the very 
best opportunities to our growing, sophisticated and increasingly diverse client base.

The expansion initiatives Canaccord undertook during fiscal 
2012 are already gaining traction. Our M&A and advisory 
teams in Canada, Asia, the uK and Europe are collaborating 
to ensure our corporate clients are provided with the most 
opportune corporate development options – whether they 
be in our clients’ domestic markets, or a world away. And 
this integrated strategy is building remarkable value for our 
clients, and making a notable impact on the activity of our 
advisory practice. During fiscal 2012, Canaccord Genuity 
generated record advisory revenue of $107.3 million, a 27% 
increase compared to the previous record last year. Even 
more telling of the value our global reach is generating for 
clients is the number of large transactions that had a cross-
border element this year. In fact, the two largest acquisitions 
Canaccord Genuity advised on during the fiscal year included 
an overseas component.

Our expansion efforts this year have also significantly grown 
our global capital raising capabilities. With licences to list 
companies on 10 stock exchanges, and trading desks in six 
countries, Canaccord Genuity now provides a growing set 
of corporate clients with access to a truly global network of 
sophisticated investors.

And while our growing team of sales and trading professionals 
continue to provide tailored investing ideas to their set of 
trusted institutional relationships, our global reach means 
our clients are provided with the very best domestic and 
international opportunities, from a growing number of key 
sectors and wider breadth of respected research coverage.

Canaccord GenuityCanaccord Genuity

2008 20102009 2011 2012

RECORD ADVISORY REVENUE – GLOBAL
(C$ millions, fiscal years. Includes contributions 
from the acquisition of CSHP from March 22 to 
March 31, 2012 only)
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38%
of Canaccord 
Genuity’s revenue 
was generated 
outside of 
Canada during  
fiscal 2012

27%
increase in global 
advisory revenue 
compared to the 
previous record 
generated  
last year

15
trading floors in 
14 cities, covering 
six different  
time zones

18
key sectors of the 
global economy 
are covered 
by Canaccord 
Genuity’s 
integrated capital 
markets team

2,750+
institutional 
accounts covered

Paris, France
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fiscal 2013: reflecting our Expanded global Business 

Just prior to Canaccord’s fiscal 2012 year end, on March 21, 2012, the Company acquired Collins Stewart Hawkpoint plc –  
marking a pivotal point in Canaccord Genuity’s evolution. We expect our expanded platform will change the geographic 
diversification of our revenue streams considerably in fiscal 2013.

Capital marKEtS EmployEES:

Fiscal years

(1) Average fiscal year employee count prior to CSHP acquisition.

Canaccord GenuityCanaccord Genuity

UK AND EUROPE UNITED STATES ASIA-PACIFIC
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2012(1)

181

2012(1)

47

2012(1)

Strategic alliances
Supplementing Canaccord’s global operations are two important strategic 
alliances, which provide key opportunities to many Canaccord Genuity clients: 

Export-import BanK of China (China)

In 2010, Canaccord signed a mutually beneficial agreement with the Export-
Import Bank of China (Eximbank) that provides qualified Canaccord clients with 
increased access to Chinese debt financing. In addition, in February 2012, 
Canaccord and Eximbank announced their intention to establish a joint  
uS$1 billion fund aimed at investing in Canada’s natural resource sector and in 
resource companies listed on Canadian exchanges.

iCiCi SECUritiES ltd. (india)

Through Canaccord’s acquisition of CSHP, we gained an important alliance 
with the investment banking subsidiary of India’s largest private sector 
bank, to market the introduction of Indian companies to the London securities 
markets, distribute offerings and placements of Indian or dual-listed securities 
into the uK and Europe, and jointly publish and distribute over 100 Indian  
listed companies into the uK and Europe. Beijing, 

China
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Canada

The Canadian market has traditionally been Canaccord’s capital markets stronghold, and  
fiscal 2012 proved to be no different. Producing 62% of Canaccord Genuity’s revenue during 
the fiscal year, the strength of our Canadian team continues to provide a solid foundation for 
Canaccord’s global business.

More than ever before, Canaccord has established itself as 
a full-service investment bank in Canada. This year’s record 
advisory revenue underscores the value of the investments 
we’ve made over the last two years to broaden the services 
we offer, the sectors we cover, and the corporate and 
institutional relationships we have in our domestic market. 
Canaccord Genuity now advises on more M&A transactions 
than any other independent firm in Canada – and the size and 
prominence of the transactions we advise on has never been 
more notable. During fiscal 2012, the Canadian investment 
banking team generated $78.8 million in advisory revenue – 
25% higher than the previous record set the year before. Even 
more, the average value of the transactions we advised on 
nearly doubled.

Despite an industry-wide slowdown in Canadian equity 
transactions compared to the previous year, Canaccord 
Genuity continued to dominate the market for number of 
transactions led or co-led, with 82 transactions(1), raising over 
$1.5 billion for clients during fiscal 2012. In addition, Canaccord 
Genuity led or co-led five fixed income transactions in Canada 
during the year that raised $327.5 million for clients.

And the capabilities of Canaccord Genuity’s Canadian-based 
research team were highlighted in this year’s Brendan 
Wood International survey – where we ranked as the top 
independent investment bank, and tied for first of all 
investment banks for our Quality of Investment Ideas. Even 
more, Canaccord Genuity analysts were ranked second by 

issuing companies in terms of who they respect and trust 
most to tell their story. In fact, five Canaccord Genuity 
analysts ranked in the top five of their respective sectors, 
and we ranked first for our coverage of the Insurance and the 
Telecommunications & Wireless sectors.

More companies trust Canaccord Genuity to 
lead equity financings than any other Canadian 
investment bank, seven years running.

Canaccord Genuity

CANADIAN MARKET LEADERSHIP
(Number of transactions led or co-led in Canada during fiscal 2012)(1)
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Canaccord Genuity

UK and Europe

During fiscal 2012, Canaccord Genuity strengthened its uK operations and laid an important 
foundation to fully participate in the eventual market recovery in the uK and Europe. Through the 
acquisition of CSHP, our capital markets platform was largely transformed, combining the best of our 
investment banking and sales and trading professionals, services, and sector expertise to provide 
our growing client base with the highest quality service offering possible.

Now positioned as one of the leading 
independent investment banks in the  
uK market, Canaccord Genuity has 
emerged as a top-two bank for its number 
of retained corporate clients; a market 
leader on AIM – by aggregate market cap, 
number of clients, and the value of shares 
traded; and a well-respected source for 
independent qualitative and quantitative 
research. In fact, through the acquisition 
of CSHP, Canaccord Genuity’s uK-based 
research coverage has more than tripled, 
and the number of sales and trading 
professionals in the uK and Europe has 
grown by 67% – enhancing the breadth  
of sectors and market caps we cover,  
and the depth of our strong institutional  
client relationships.

As at Mar. 31, 
2012 (Post CSHP 
acquisition)

As at Dec. 31, 
2011

NUMBER OF SALES AND TRADING  
PROFESSIONALS – UK AND EUROPE

8
2

4
9

Notable transactions led by the 
Canaccord Genuity Hawkpoint team:

introducing Canaccord genuity hawkpoint 

Through the acquisition of CSHP, Canaccord gained a highly regarded 
uK and European advisory franchise. Now branded Canaccord Genuity 
Hawkpoint, this business will meaningfully enhance our advisory 
capabilities – not only in this geography, but also worldwide – as our global 
advisory team leverages their shared expertise and client relationships. 

While revenue contributions from this business were only recorded in 
the last week of Canaccord’s 2012 fiscal year, we expect the contribution 
from advisory activities will grow materially in the years ahead. From  
April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012 (Canaccord’s fiscal year), our new 
colleagues at Canaccord Genuity Hawkpoint advised on 45 transactions, 
with an aggregate value of £12 billion.

Adviser to Bank of Ireland on its 
disposal of a uK mortgage book to 
Nationwide Building Society

December 2, 2011

£1.1 billion

Adviser to Converteam on its  
disposal to GE

September 2, 2011

€2.5 billion

Adviser to Hamworthy plc on the 
recommended cash offer by Wärtsilä 
Corp. of Finland

January 31, 2012

£383 million
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United States

During fiscal 2012, our focus in the uS was on 
strengthening that business by growing the scale 
of its front-office operations and building out key 
sector teams. 

At the end of fiscal 2012, through the acquisition of CSHP, 
Canaccord gained important additions to its sales and trading 
and research operations, significantly enhancing our client 
coverage and service offering in this market, while requiring 
relatively little additional investment in our technology and 
compliance infrastructure. The added scale and scope of our 
uS operations should support that business in generating more 
consistent performance, as a wider range of stronger revenue 
streams are generated, while being sustained through the back-
office infrastructure already in place.

With especially strong sector coverage and integrated banking 
verticals in the Technology, Life Sciences and CleanTech sectors, 
Canaccord Genuity’s uS business is strategically positioned to 
cater to the needs of growth companies in these key sectors. In 
fact, Canaccord Genuity has had an established Sustainability 
and CleanTech team for over 10 years – a longer, deeper and 
more stable commitment to the sector than any other uS firm.

annual growth Conference

The focus of Canaccord Genuity’s uS team on emerging and growth companies is highlighted each  
year at its annual Growth Conference, where institutional investors are presented with some of the 
most interesting and actionable ideas from over 300 public and private, small to mid-cap companies. 
This year’s conference was a particular success, where over 580 institutional investors, 100 private 
equity and venture-capitalist attendees and 300 public and private companies were paired  
at more than 3,400 one-on-one meetings. Canaccord Genuity’s 2012 conference is scheduled for 
August 14–16.

Event Invitation & 
Registration Information

A WORLD OF 
OPPORTUNITY

CANACCORD GENUITY 
ANNUAL GROWTH 

CONFERENCE

BOSTON, MA

AUGUST • 14 – 16 • 2012

Canaccord Genuity

international Equities group – offering trading of international Equities to Canaccord Clients

Through the acquisition of CSHP, Canaccord gained an established and highly experienced team of approximately 20 traders 
who specialize in international equities, ADRs and OTC securities. For nearly 20 years, the International Equities Group has 
provided a niche service to uS-based institutions and broker-dealers seeking to execute trades outside of uS equities. Based 
out of New York, this team makes markets in over 600 OTC ADRs.

What iS an adr?

An American Depository Receipt is a negotiable security that represents the underlying securities of a non-uS company that 
trades in the uS financial markets. Many non-uS companies trade in the uS markets through the use of ADRs. 
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asia-pacific

Over the last two years, Canaccord has expanded its global platform into the increasingly influential 
Asia-Pacific region and now has offices in six of the region’s most important financial centres.

Today, our Asia-Pacific operations offer investment banking 
services in China, Singapore and Australia, and provide 
specialized expertise to companies and institutions in each of 
these respective markets – supplemented by the support and 
relationships of Canaccord’s global investment banking team. 

Canaccord’s corporate relationships in Asia continue to 
provide meaningful value to our overall business, driven 
largely by the region’s sustained appetite for investment 
opportunities in the resource and industrial sectors. More 
than anywhere else, this is apparent in our mainland China 
operations, where Canaccord Genuity Asia provides M&A  
and advisory services to acquisitive Chinese companies,  
and international companies looking for opportunities in  
China and/or with Chinese investors. Sinopec’s acquisition  
of Canadian firm Daylight Energy in December 2011,  

a transaction Canaccord advised on, is a prime example of 
the kind of opportunities we’re seeing from this geography.

Most recently, Canaccord gained an established office in 
Singapore and listing capabilities on both the Singapore stock 
exchange and its junior exchange, the SGX Catalist. As a 
sponsor to over 20 companies on Catalist, Canaccord Genuity 
is now a key supporter of the exchange, and is well positioned 
to serve high growth companies interested in becoming 
publicly listed in Asia.

Canaccord Genuity

Canaccord Bgf – australia and hong Kong

In November 2011, Canaccord acquired a 50% interest in BGF Equities, one 
of the fastest growing boutique investment banks in Australia. Now named 
Canaccord BGF, our new operations in Australia and Hong Kong provide 
Canaccord with important licences to operate on the Australian and Hong Kong  
stock exchanges, and have established a valuable foothold in this strategically 
important geography to access the robust Australian resource industry. 

Focused primarily on emerging resource and industrial companies,  
Canaccord BGF is a full-service investment dealer with sales and trading, 
investment banking, research and wealth management services, and is  
well positioned for continued growth. Initiatives are currently underway  
to build out its wealth management operations and investment  
banking capabilities.

Canaccord BGF was named the 2012 Mining Broker of the Year by the Asia 
Mining Congress – a distinction awarded to the brokerage firm specializing 
in the natural resource sector that has been most instrumental in executing 
highly successful transactions for mining companies.

Melbourne, 
Australia
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Canaccord’s wealth management platform was substantially expanded through the acquisition  
of Collins Stewart Hawkpoint plc, with the addition of a strong, largely fee-based business 
in the uK and Europe. On a global basis, Canaccord’s wealth management division now has 
approximately $28 billion of assets under administration and over 40 locations. 

The expansion of our wealth management platform is expected to create more consistent contributions to Canaccord’s 
overall performance, through less variable revenue streams associated with this division. With a stated objective of growing 
our percentage of fee-based revenue, the dynamics of the uK wealth management sector presented a key opportunity for 
Canaccord – one that allowed us to leverage our wealth management expertise and supplier relationships, with a uK business 
model built with an emphasis on fee-based activity. Today, our wealth management operations in Canada, the uK, the Channel 
Islands, Isle of Man and Geneva all provide specialized investment and financial planning services tailored to the particular 
needs of our clients in each market. We pride ourselves on providing personalized, comprehensive investment solutions that 
assist our wealth management clients in achieving their financial goals. 

Canaccord Wealth Management is the division name for Canaccord’s retail businesses. Also included in this division is  
Collins Stewart Wealth Management, which is expected to be rebranded Canaccord Wealth Management during fiscal 2013.

Canaccord Wealth Management

Canaccord’s wealth management businesses provide clients 
with the attentive, personalized service they expect from 
a local investment manager, but with the benefits and 
backing of a global financial institution.
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OPPORtUnitÉ

geneva, Switzerland
in March of 2012, Canaccord expanded its wealth management 
operations into the UK, the Channel islands, isle of Man and 
Geneva – growing our asset base and providing a more consistent 
stream of fee-based revenue to our wealth management division.

Meaning: opportunity

Canaccord Wealth Management

Includes assets under administration for Canaccord’s Canadian 
wealth management business, and assets under management for 
Canaccord’s uK and Europe wealth management business. 

WEALTH MANAGEMENT OFFICES – GLOBAL 
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UK and Europe

Through the acquisition of CSHP , Canaccord gained a strong, award-winning wealth management 
business with offices in London, the Channel Islands (Jersey and Guernsey), Isle of Man and Geneva. 

The expansion of Canaccord’s wealth management platform into the uK, offshore and European 
markets signals an important evolution of the division – progress that positions the division well to 
leverage the changing dynamics of the uK wealth management landscape for its continued growth.

With over 100 client-facing investment professionals and 
fund managers located in six offices, Collins Stewart 
Wealth Management provides a full suite of independent 
wealth management services to high-net worth individuals, 
intermediaries and institutions, and charities. Thanks to 
its offshore heritage, the business offers investors a truly 
multi-asset investment approach delivered through a rigorous 
investment process that is institutional in quality. Coupled 
with the focus on customer service and innovation, the 
business’ ability to meet individual clients’ objectives has 
been a key driver of growth. 

Approximately 50% of Collins Stewart Wealth Management’s 
revenues are derived through fee-based activities, which 
makes these revenue streams more stable than those 
currently being generated from Canaccord’s Canadian wealth 
management business. In fact, Collins Stewart Wealth 
Management has been consistently and meaningfully 
profitable for over 14 years.

Already a growth-oriented business when acquired by Canaccord, 
Collins Stewart Wealth Management has been actively finalizing 
its integration of Corazon Capital and Andersen Charnley over 
the past year – acquisitions made by the business in 2010. We 
expect opportunities to continue growing the asset and client 
base of the company will emerge over the next several years, 
as the increasing regulatory burden facing smaller investment 
dealers in the fragmented uK wealth management market will 
continue to drive industry consolidation. In anticipation of this, 
Canaccord is strategically investing in Collins Stewart Wealth 
Management’s IT and operational framework, to lay a strong 

foundation for the anticipated growth of the business’ asset 
base and client activity.

Organic growth has also been, and continues to be, a key 
contributor to the success of the business, particularly in 
fee-based, discretionary assets. In support of this growth, the 
business has continued to invest in its people, with several 
significant hires made during the fiscal year, as it looks to 
build out distribution to valuable new client channels. 

10,000+ client accounts

106 investment professionals

6 offices

Collins Stewart Wealth Management

FEE-BASED REVENUE AS A % OF TOTAL CSWM REVENUE – UK AND EUROPE 
(Canaccord fiscal quarters)
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London, England

recent awards

Best Discretionary Adviser 2012: 
Money Marketing Financial 
Services Awards

Best Advisory Service 2012:  
City of London Wealth  
Management Awards

Best Stockbroker for Bonds: 
Financial Times/Investor  
Chronicle Investment Awards

UK Offshore Investment  
Manager of the Year 2011: 
Citywealth Offshore Awards
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Canada

The initiatives undertaken by the management team of Canaccord Wealth Management have  
made important progress in improving the consistency of the business’ performance over  
the last several years. During fiscal 2012, Canaccord Wealth Management generated its second 
consecutive year of profitable operations, increased its percentage of fee-based revenue,  
and further enhanced its training programs to develop and foster the talent that exists in our 
Canadian business.

Canaccord’s Canadian wealth management business 
generated $199.3 million of revenue and $3.7 million of 
operating net income(1) during fiscal 2012 – down from  
$12.1 million last year, when markets were significantly 
stronger; however, it was a solid performance considering the 
market volatility and precarious global economic environment 
that existed during much of the year. 

Efforts to increase our Canadian discretionary asset base 
are continuing to gain traction. Fee-based revenue as a 
percentage of total revenue increased to 18.5% for the 
year – evidence that our training, support, and product 
enhancements are providing considerable value for our 
clients, as they entrust Canaccord with more of their wealth 
management needs. In fact, Canaccord was noted as having 
the fastest growing fee-based asset base of all Canadian 
investment dealers during calendar 2011(2), which is reflected 
in our performance numbers. Assets held in Canaccord’s 
Private Investment Manager Program more than doubled from 
the year before, and total fee-based assets have increased 
96% in the last two years.

Canaccord continues to cultivate a service offering 
and support network that caters to both the traditional 
transactional and comprehensive wealth management 
approaches of our Investment Advisors – allowing our 
business to cater to a wider range of clients and investor 
needs. Related to this approach, and to further assist in the 
recruitment of new professionals to our business, Canaccord 
has re-engineered its New Advisor Training Program, and will 
welcome its first set of selected professionals to this new 
program in the first quarter of fiscal 2013.

We are also continuing to make strategic investments in 
the operations, IT infrastructure and digital strategy of our 
Canadian wealth management business. Client statements 
were enhanced to provide clients with a better understanding 
of account information, new tools have been developed 
to support our financial planning and retirement planning 
services, and efforts to provide more client information  
and services online are well underway.

Canaccord Wealth Management

(1)  Net income before taxes, excluding significant items.
(2)  Source: Investor Economics

FEE-BASED REVENUE AS A % OF TOTAL CWM 
REVENUE – CANADA
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280 Investment Advisory teams

$3.7 million of net income before taxes 
during fiscal 2012, excluding significant items

35 wealth management offices  
across Canada
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the Canaccord growth Story

Over the last several decades, Canaccord has been transformed from a small Canadian boutique 
investment dealer to a global independent, full-service investment bank. Through acquisitions that 
added strength to our core markets, or expanded our operations into new, strategically important 
geographies, Canaccord now operates in 12 countries and over 60 cities worldwide. Today, the 
Company is better positioned than ever before to service our growing, global client base.

recent acquisitions

Canaccord has successfully acquired and integrated five companies in the last six years.

marCh 2012: aCqUiSition of CollinS StEWart haWKpoint plC 
(uK, Europe, uS and Singapore)

Canaccord’s largest acquisition was of Collins Stewart Hawkpoint plc, an independent financial 
services firm headquartered in the uK. The acquisition significantly grew the scale of Canaccord’s 
operations in the uK and the uS, and expanded our business into Europe and Singapore. The addition 
of a highly regarded European advisory practice, and a strong uK and European wealth management 
business, added significant capabilities to Canaccord’s global platform. 

novEmBEr 2011: aCqUiSition of a 50% intErESt in Bgf EqUitiES 
(Australia and Hong Kong)

Our investment in BGF, a growing Australian boutique investment dealer, positions Canaccord well 
to leverage our expertise in the Mining, Energy and Industrial sectors of Australia’s robust resource 
economy. It also expanded our global footprint into Hong Kong and provided important licences to 
operate on the Australian and Hong Kong stock exchanges.

JanUary 2011: aCqUiSition of thE BalloCh groUp 
(China)

Canaccord’s acquisition of The Balloch Group, a boutique investment bank in China, represented a 
milestone in Canaccord’s evolution by expanding our global platform into Asia. Our operations in this 
region continue to provide important regional expertise and client relationships to Canaccord’s M&A 
and advisory practice.

april 2010: aCqUiSition of gEnUity Capital marKEtS 
(Canada)

Well known in the Canadian capital markets space as a leading, independent advisory firm, Genuity 
Capital Markets added significant strength to Canaccord’s investment banking division, particularly to 
our M&A, advisory and restructuring practice. This business combination created a powerful full-service 
investment bank and significantly enhanced the strength of Canaccord’s operations in Canada. 

JanUary 2006: aCqUiSition of adamS harKnESS
(united States)

The acquisition of this Boston-based investment dealer expanded Canaccord’s capital markets 
operations into the united States and grew Canaccord’s sector coverage, with key expertise in the 
Technology, Life Sciences and Consumer sectors.

The Canaccord Growth Story



SEvEn KEy valUES drive Canaccord employees and management 
in delivering results to our shareholders, clients and the 
communities we operate in. pursuing and living up to these 
values is a responsibility we take great pride in.

 WE pUt oUr CliEntS firSt.

  We develop deep trust with our clients through detailed consultation, appropriate investment ideas 
and value-added services.

 a good rEpUtation iS oUr moSt-valUEd CUrrEnCy.

 Integrity and respect for client confidentiality are the basis of all our relationships.

 idEaS arE thE EnginE of oUr BUSinESS.

  Our ability to generate original, quality ideas – for clients and for ourselves – positions us ahead of 
the competition globally.

 WE arE an EntrEprEnEUrial, hard-WorKing CUltUrE.

  We believe that highly qualified, motivated professionals working together in an entrepreneurial 
environment results in superior client service and shareholder value.

 WE StrivE for CliEnt intimaCy.

  The more detailed our understanding of our clients’ needs and objectives, the better positioned we 
are to meet them.

 WE arE dEdiCatEd to CrEating ExEmplary SharEholdEr valUE.

  We are committed to aligning the interests of our people with fellow Canaccord shareholders 
through share ownership. We believe that ownership motivates the ideas and efforts that lead to 
value creation.

 WE arE CommittEd to ExCEllEnCE in oUr foCUS arEaS.

  We are a focused investment firm, offering our corporate, institutional and private clients 
specialized expertise in key sectors of the global economy.
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CaUtion rEgarding forWard-looKing StatEmEntS: 

This document may contain “forward-looking statements” (as defined under applicable securities laws). These statements relate to 
future events or future performance and reflect management’s expectations, beliefs, plans, estimates, intentions and similar statements 
concerning anticipated future events, results, circumstances, performance or expectations that are not historical facts, including business 
and economic conditions and Canaccord’s growth, results of operations, performance and business prospects and opportunities. Such 
forward-looking statements reflect management’s current beliefs and are based on information currently available to management. In 
some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by terminology such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, 
“believe”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, “continue”, “target”, “intend”, “could” or the negative of these terms or other comparable 
terminology. By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and specific, and a 
number of factors could cause actual events or results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. 
In evaluating these statements, readers should specifically consider various factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from 
any forward-looking statement. These factors include, but are not limited to, market and general economic conditions, the nature of the 
financial services industry and the risks and uncertainties discussed from time to time in the Company’s interim condensed and annual 
consolidated financial statements and its annual report and the annual information form (AIF) filed on www.sedar.com as well as the 
factors discussed in the section entitled “Risk Management” in this MD&A, which includes market, liquidity, credit, operational, legal and 
regulatory risks. Material factors or assumptions that were used by the Company to develop the forward-looking information contained in 
this document include, but are not limited to, those set out in the Fiscal 2013 Outlook section in the annual MD&A and those discussed 
from time to time in the Company’s interim condensed and annual consolidated financial statements and its annual report and the AIF 
filed on www.sedar.com. The preceding list is not exhaustive of all possible risk factors that may influence actual results. Readers are 
cautioned that the preceding list of material factors or assumptions is not exhaustive. 

Although the forward-looking information contained in this document is based upon what management believes are reasonable assumptions, 
there can be no assurance that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements 
contained in this document are made as of the date of this document and should not be relied upon as representing the Company’s views 
as of any date subsequent to the date of this document. Certain statements included in this document may be considered “financial 
outlook” for purposes of applicable Canadian securities laws, and such financial outlook may not be appropriate for purposes other than 
this document. Except as may be required by applicable law, the Company does not undertake, and specifically disclaims, any obligation to 
update or revise any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, further developments or otherwise. 
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fiscal year 2012 ended March 31, 2012 – this document is dated May 23, 2012.

the following discussion of canaccord financial inc.’s financial condition and results of operations is provided to enable a reader 
to assess material changes in the financial condition and results of operations for the year ended March 31, 2012 compared to 
the preceding fiscal year, with an emphasis on the most recent year. unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, 
the “company” refers to canaccord financial inc. and “canaccord” refers to the company and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. 
“canaccord Genuity” refers to the capital markets segment of the company. the Management’s discussion and analysis (Md&a) 
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2012, beginning 
on page 69 of this report. canaccord’s financial information is expressed in canadian dollars unless otherwise specified. the 
company adopted international financial reporting Standards (ifrS) beginning fiscal 2012, and consequently, the financial 
information presented in this document, including comparative information, is prepared in compliance with ifrS unless specifically 
noted. the company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2012 are prepared in accordance with ifrS. 

Presentation of Financial Information and Non-IFrs Measures

TrANsITIoN To INTerNATIoNAl FINANcIAl rePorTINg sTANDArDs

as required by the canadian accounting Standards Board (acSB), the company adopted ifrS effective april 1, 2011. the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2012 have been prepared in accordance with ifrS as issued 
by the international accounting Standards Board (iaSB). previously, the company prepared its consolidated annual financial 
statements in accordance with canadian generally accepted accounting principles (cGaap).

the company followed the provisions of ifrS 1, “First-Time Adoption of IFRS” (ifrS 1), in preparing its March 31, 2012 audited 
consolidated financial Statements. the March 31, 2012 audited consolidated financial Statements contain comparative 
information as of april 1, 2010 (our date of transition to ifrS) and March 31, 2011. an explanation of the transition to ifrS 
is presented in note 4 of the audited consolidated financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2012 and includes an 
explanation of initial elections upon first-time adoption of ifrS, changes to accounting policies and a reconciliation of amounts 
previously reported under cGaap to amounts reported under ifrS for comparative financial information. 

ADoPTIoN oF IFrs

please refer to note 5 of the March 31, 2012 audited consolidated financial Statements for a detailed description of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by the company upon adoption of ifrS. also included in the transition to international 
financial reporting Standards section of our Md&a for the quarter ended June 30, 2011 is a discussion intended to provide a 
high level overview of the impact of adopting ifrS. Such discussion is not intended to be exhaustive of all identified differences 
between cGaap and ifrS. 

NoN-IFrs MeAsures

certain non-ifrS measures are utilized by canaccord as measures of financial performance. non-ifrS measures do not have any 
standardized meaning prescribed by ifrS and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other 
companies. non-ifrS measures presented include assets under administration, assets under management, book value per 
diluted common share, return on common equity and figures that exclude significant items.

canaccord’s capital is represented by common shareholders’ equity and, therefore, management uses return on common equity 
(roe) as a performance measure. also used by the company as a performance measure is book value per diluted common share, 
which is calculated as total common shareholders’ equity divided by the number of diluted common shares outstanding. 

assets under administration (aua) and assets under management (auM) are non-ifrS measures of client assets that are common 
to the wealth management business. aua – canada or auM – uK and europe is the market value of client assets managed and 
administered by canaccord from which canaccord earns commissions or fees. this measure includes funds held in client accounts 
as well as the aggregate market value of long and short security positions. auM – canada includes all assets managed on a 
discretionary basis under programs that are generally described as or known as the Complete Canaccord Investment Counselling 
Program and the Complete Canaccord Managed Account Program. Services provided include the selection of investments and the 
provision of investment advice. canaccord’s method of calculating aua – canada, auM – canada or auM – uK and europe may 
differ from the methods used by other companies and therefore may not be comparable to other companies. Management uses 
these measures to assess operational performance of the canaccord Wealth Management business segment, which now includes 
collins Stewart Wealth Management. auM – canada is also administered by canaccord and is included in aua – canada. 
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financial statement items that exclude significant items are non-ifrS measures. Significant items for these purposes are 
defined as including restructuring costs and acquisition-related expense items, which include costs recognized in relation to both 
prospective and completed acquisitions. See the Selected financial information excluding Significant items table on page 32.

Management believes that these non-ifrS measures will allow for a better evaluation of the operating performance of canaccord’s 
business and facilitate meaningful comparison of results in the current period to those in prior periods and future periods. figures 
that exclude significant items provide useful information by excluding certain items that may not be indicative of canaccord’s 
core operating results. a limitation of utilizing these figures that exclude significant items is that the ifrS accounting for these 
items does in fact reflect the underlying financial results of canaccord’s business; thus, these effects should not be ignored 
in evaluating and analyzing canaccord’s financial results. therefore, management believes that canaccord’s ifrS measures of 
financial performance and the respective non-ifrS measures should be considered together. 

Business overview

through its principal subsidiaries, canaccord financial inc. is a leading independent, full-service financial services firm, with 
operations in two principal segments of the securities industry: global capital markets and wealth management. Since its 
establishment in 1950, canaccord has been driven by an unwavering commitment to building lasting client relationships. We 
achieve this by generating value for our individual, institutional and corporate clients through comprehensive investment solutions, 
brokerage services and investment banking services. canaccord has over 60 offices in 12 countries worldwide, including over 
40 wealth management offices located in canada, the uK and europe. canaccord Genuity, the company’s international capital 
markets division, has operations in canada, the united States, the united Kingdom, france, Germany, ireland, italy, china, Hong 
Kong, Singapore, australia and Barbados. 

ABouT cANAccorD’s oPerATIoNs

canaccord financial inc.’s operations are divided into two business segments: canaccord Genuity (capital markets operations) and 
canaccord Wealth Management. together, these operations offer a wide range of complementary investment banking services, 
investment products and brokerage services to canaccord’s institutional, corporate and private clients. canaccord’s administrative 
segment is referred to as corporate and other. 

canaccord genuity

canaccord Genuity offers corporations and institutional investors around the world an integrated platform for equity research, 
sales and trading, and investment banking services that is built on extensive operations in canada, the uK, europe, the uS, 
china, Singapore, australia and Barbados. the canaccord Genuity business segment includes operations from canaccord Genuity 
branded businesses, but also from canaccord Genuity Hawkpoint, canaccord BGf and canaccord Genuity asia.

canaccord Wealth Management

canaccord’s wealth management operations provide comprehensive wealth management solutions and brokerage services to 
individual investors, private clients, charities and intermediaries, through a full suite of services tailored to the needs of clients 
in each of the markets the division operates in. canaccord’s growing wealth management division now has investment advisors 
and professionals in canada, the uK, Geneva and offshore locations (the channel islands and isle of Man). the canaccord 
Wealth Management business segment includes operations from canaccord Wealth Management branded businesses and collins 
Stewart Wealth Management operations (which will be renamed canaccord Wealth Management during fiscal 2013).

corporate and other

canaccord’s administrative segment, described as corporate and other, includes revenues and expenses associated with 
providing correspondent brokerage services, bank and other interest, foreign exchange gains and losses, and activities not 
specifically allocable to either the canaccord Genuity or canaccord Wealth Management divisions. also included in this segment 
are canaccord’s operations and support services, which are responsible for front- and back-office information technology systems, 
compliance and risk management, operations, finance, and all administrative functions.
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BusINess AcTIvITy

our business is subject to the overall condition of the worldwide debt and equity markets, including seasonal fluctuations. 
Historically, north american capital markets are slower during the first half of canaccord’s fiscal year, when canaccord typically 
generates less than 50% of its annual revenue. fiscal 2012 was in line with past seasonality, with 54% of the annual revenue 
generated in the second half of the year.

the timing of revenue recognition can also materially affect canaccord’s quarterly results. revenue from underwriting transactions 
is recorded only when the transaction has closed, and as a result, quarterly results can also be affected by the timing of our 
capital markets business.

the charts below illustrate the seasonal variance in revenue in the canadian broker dealer industry over the past five years.

cANADIAN Broker DeAler ToTAl INDusTry reveNue
(c$ billions, calendar quarters)

 Source: investment industry association of canada. iiac Securities industry Quarterly Statistics. March 30, 2012.

canaccord aims to reduce its exposure to variances in the equity markets and local economies by diversifying not only its industry 
sector coverage but also its international scope. Historically, the company’s diversification across major financial centres has 
allowed it to benefit from strong equity markets.

Market Data

ToTAl FINANcINg vAlue By exchANge

          fiscal 2012/ 
    Q1/12 Q2/12 Q3/12 Q4/12 Fiscal 2012 fiscal 2011 2011 change

tSX and tSX Venture (c$ billions) 15.1 10.4 11.2 17.9 54.6 57.4 (4.9)%

aiM (£ billions)  1.1 0.7 0.8 1.0 3.6 7.5 (52.0)%

naSdaQ (uS$ billions) 15.2 5.0 9.8 14.2 44.2 46.0 (3.9)%

Source: tSX Statistics, lSe aiM Statistics, equidesk

FINANcINg vAlue For relevANT AIM INDusTry secTors

          fiscal 2012/ 
(£ millions, except for % amounts) Q1/12 Q2/12 Q3/12 Q4/12 Fiscal 2012 fiscal 2011 2011 change

oil and Gas 335.9 262.2 283.2 184.9 1,066.2 2,248.5 (52.6)%

Mining 280.5 132.1 154.0 262.2 828.8 2,165.9 (61.7)%

Health care 60.5 7.4 96.8 8.6 173.3 125.3 38.3%

Media 14.6 4.6 38.2 85.0 142.4 58.1 145.1%

technology 13.7 53.1 121.3 80.0 268.1 222.6 20.4%

Source: lSe aiM Statistics

Calendar year 2011 Calendar year 2010 Calendar year 2009 Calendar year 2007Calendar year 2008

  4Q     3Q    2Q     1Q

4.6 4.2 3.5 3.6

  4Q     3Q    2Q     1Q

3.7 3.6 3.7 4.9

  4Q     3Q    2Q     1Q

3.6 3.8 4.0 4.8

  4Q     3Q    2Q     1Q

3.9 3.8 3.6 3.3

  4Q     3Q    2Q     1Q

4.5 4.5 3.9 4.3
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FINANcINg vAlue For relevANT Tsx AND Tsx veNTure INDusTry secTors

          fiscal 2012/ 
($ millions, except for percentage amounts) Q1/12 Q2/12 Q3/12 Q4/12 Fiscal 2012 fiscal 2011 2011 change

oil and Gas 4,223.9 1,091.3 3,409.9 8,074.9 16,800.0 13,508.7 24.4%

Mining 1,427.8 1,378.1 1,197.9 1,676.9 5,680.7 11,088.2 (48.8)%

Biotech 61.2 105.9 25.3 106.7 299.1 298.9 0.07%

Media 4.0 — — 25.5 29.5 262.8 (88.8)%

real estate 1,385.4 1,360.0 1,549.9 1,402.2 5,697.5 4,538.1 25.6%

technology 78.3 230.0 4.0 34.4 346.7 967.1 (64.2)%

Source: fp infomart

Market Data

total financing values on the tSX, tSX Venture and the naSdaQ experienced mild declines compared to the previous year,  
while total financing values on aiM experienced a 52% decrease due to the challenging market environment in that geography. 

on aiM, financing values for the Health care, Media and technology sectors rose compared to the previous year, while the oil and 
Gas and Mining sectors experienced declines. on the tSX and tSX Venture, most of canaccord’s focus sectors experienced a 
decline compared to the previous year; however, the oil and Gas sector experienced a 24% increase. 

IMPAcT oF chANges IN cAPITAl MArkeTs AcTIvITy

as a brokerage firm, canaccord derives its revenue primarily from sales commissions, underwriting and advisory fees, and trading 
activity. as a result, the company’s business is materially affected by conditions in the financial marketplace and the economic 
environment, primarily in north america and europe. canaccord’s long term international business development initiatives over the 
past several years have laid a solid foundation for revenue diversification.

canaccord’s strong capital base enables it to remain competitive in today’s changing financial landscape and continue its growth 
by maintaining high standards of client service, enhancing relationships, continually recruiting highly qualified professionals and 
conducting strategic acquisitions as opportunities arise.

during fiscal 2012, canaccord’s capital markets activities were focused on the company’s sectors: Mining and Metals, energy, 
technology, Health care and life Sciences, agriculture and fertilizers, Media and telecommunications, financials, consumer and 
retail, real estate and Hospitality, infrastructure, transportation and industrial products, paper and forestry products, cleantech 
and Sustainability, Support Services, aerospace and defense, leisure, and private equity. coverage of these sectors included 
investment banking, and institutional equity activities, such as sales, trading and research. 

key Developments During Fiscal 2012

corPorATe

•	 On	April	15,	2011,	Canaccord	Financial	Inc.	shareholders	approved	amendments	to	the	Company’s	corporate	articles,	allowing	
for the issuance of preferred shares

•	 On	June	6,	2011,	Canaccord	Financial	Inc.	announced	the	offering	of	Cumulative	5-Year	Rate	Reset	Preferred	Shares,	Series	A	
(Series a preferred Shares) priced at $25.00 each to raise capital for general corporate purposes
•	 On	June	23,	2011,	the	Series	A	Preferred	Share	offering	closed	with	the	listing	of	4,000,000	Series	A	Preferred	Shares,	

trading on the tSX under the symbol cf.pr.a
•	 On	July	7,	2011,	the	syndicate	of	investment	dealers	exercised	an	over-allotment	option,	and	the	Company	issued	an	

additional 540,000 Series a preferred Shares
•	 In	total,	the	issuance	of	4,540,000	Series	A	Preferred	Shares	raised	$113.5	million	in	gross	proceeds	

•	 On	June	9,	2011,	Canaccord	Financial	Inc.	announced	the	filing	of	a	Normal	Course	Issuer	Bid	(NCIB),	to	allow	for	the	purchase	
of up to 2,000,000 common shares for cancellation over a one-year period ending June 12, 2012
•	 During	fiscal	2012,	Canaccord	Financial	Inc.	repurchased	and	cancelled	700,500	of	its	common	shares	under	the	terms	of	

its nciB
•	 As	at	May	23,	2012,	1,299,500	shares	remain	available	for	repurchase	under	the	NCIB
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•	 On	July	31,	2011,	Canaccord	announced	that	it	had	entered	into	a	definitive	agreement	to	acquire	a	50%	equity	interest	in	BGF	
capital Group pty ltd (BGf), commonly referred to as BGf equities

•	 On	November	1,	2011,	Canaccord	Financial	Inc.	closed	its	acquisition	of	a	50%	interest	in	BGF	Equities.	The	aggregate	
consideration paid by canaccord for the 50% interest in BGf totalled aud$40.2 million [c$42.2 million]. Subsequent to the 
closing, BGf was rebranded as canaccord BGf. the 50% interest was acquired through the purchase of shares from certain 
existing shareholders and the purchase of treasury shares as follows:
•	 AUD$14.7	million	for	the	purchase	of	existing	BGF	shares,	primarily	from	passive	non-executive	shareholders
•	 AUD$5.5	million	in	Canaccord	common	shares	issued	to	key	executives	of	BGF
•	 AUD$20.0	million	for	the	subscription	of	treasury	shares	in	BGF

•	 On	December	15,	2011,	Canaccord	Financial	Inc.	announced	that	it	had	made	a	formal	offer	to	acquire	100%	of	the	equity	of	
collins Stewart Hawkpoint plc (cSHp) for a price of £0.96 per cSHp-ln common share

•	 On	February	9,	2012,	Canaccord	and	the	Export-Import	Bank	of	China	announced	their	intent	to	establish	a	US$1	billion	Natural	
resource fund 
•	 The	fund	is	intended	to	raise	approximately	US$1	billion	from	investors	in	China	and	abroad	and	will	be	structured	and	

operated at arm’s length from its co-owners, with an independent management team responsible for maximizing returns for 
its limited partners

•	 A	first	closing	may	take	place	as	early	as	the	first	half	of	the	2012	calendar	year
•	 On	March	21,	2012,	Canaccord	completed	its	acquisition	of	CSHP
•	 On	March	22,	2012,	staffing	redundancies	related	to	the	acquisition	of	CSHP	were	announced	to	staff	in	the	UK	and	the	US
•	 On	March	22,	2012,	Canaccord	Financial	Inc.	announced	the	offering	of	4,000,000	Series	C	Rate	Reset	Preferred	Shares	

(Series c preferred Shares) priced at $25.00 each to raise capital to reduce the outstanding borrowings under the $150 million 
senior secured credit facility entered into by the company to fund a portion of the cash consideration for the acquisition of cSHp
•	 Subsequent	to	the	fiscal	year	end,	on	April	10,	2012,	the	Series	C	Preferred	Share	offering	closed	and	the	Series	C	Preferred	

Shares began trading on the tSX under the symbol cf.pr.c
•	 In	total,	the	Series	C	Rate	Reset	Preferred	Share	issuance	raised	$100.0	million	in	gross	proceeds

•	 On	March	26,	2012,	all	CSHP	businesses	were	integrated	into	Canaccord’s	operations
•	 On	March	28,	2012,	a	restructuring	of	Canaccord	Genuity’s	trading	operations	in	Canada	was	implemented

cANAccorD geNuITy

through the acquisition of cSHp, canaccord expanded its capital markets operations in the uK, europe, the uS and Singapore. 
contributions from these operations since March 22, 2012 are included in the operating figures below.

•	 Canaccord	Genuity	led	106	transactions	globally,	each	over	$1.5	million,	to	raise	total	proceeds	of	$2.7	billion	during	fiscal	
2012. of this:
•	 Canada	led	82	transactions,	which	raised	$1.5	billion
•	 The	UK	led	10	transactions,	which	raised	$630	million
•	 The	US	led	14	transactions,	which	raised	$590	million

•	 During	fiscal	2012,	Canaccord	Genuity	participated	in	a	total	of	323	transactions	globally,	each	over	$1.5	million,	to	raise	gross	
proceeds of $6.8 billion. of this:
•	 Canada	participated	in	274	transactions,	which	raised	$2.4	billion
•	 The	UK	participated	in	11	transactions,	which	raised	$723	million
•	 The	US	participated	in	38	transactions,	which	raised	$3.7	billion

•	 During	fiscal	2012,	Canaccord	Genuity	led	or	co-led	the	following	equity	transactions:
•	 US$550.0	million	for	Manabi	Holdings	S.A.	(non-exchange	listed)
•	 Four	transactions	raising	a	total	of	C$381.7	million	for	Artis	Real	Estate	Investment	Trust	on	the	TSX
•	 £250.0	million	for	HICL	Infrastructure	Company	Ltd.	on	the	LSE	
•	 C$230.0	million	offering	for	Wi-LAN	Inc.	on	the	TSX
•	 US$230.0	million	for	Neo	Material	Technologies	Inc.	on	the	TSX
•	 Three	transactions	raising	a	total	of	C$129.3	million	for	Pure	Industrial	Real	Estate	Trust	on	the	TSX	Venture	
•	 C$125.0	million	for	Griffiths	Energy	International	Inc.	(non-exchange	listed)	
•	 Two	transactions	raising	a	total	of	C$120.1	million	for	Pinecrest	Energy	Inc.	on	the	TSX	Venture
•	 C$113.5	million	for	Canaccord	Financial	Inc.	on	the	TSX
•	 US$100.6	million	for	Aveo	Pharmaceuticals	on	the	NASDAQ
•	 C$103.1	million	offering	for	EcoSynthetix	Inc.	on	the	TSX
•	 Two	transactions	raising	a	total	of	C$85.4	million	for	New	Zealand	Energy	Corp.	on	the	TSX	Venture	
•	 US$74.0	million	for	Dexcom	Inc.	on	the	NASDAQ
•	 C$65.1	million	offering	for	Nevada	Copper	Corp.	on	the	TSX
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•	 During	fiscal	2012,	Canaccord	Genuity	led	or	co-led	five	fixed	income	transactions	in	Canada	that	raised	$327.5	million	for	clients

•	 Canaccord	Genuity	generated	record	Advisory	revenue	of	$107.3	million	during	fiscal	2012,	27.0%	higher	than	the	previous	
record generated last year

•	 During	fiscal	2012,	Canaccord	Genuity	advised	on	30	transactions,	including	the	following:
•	 Daylight	Energy	on	its	acquisition	by	Sinopec	International	Petroleum	Exploration	and	Production	Corporation
•	 Second	Lien	Noteholders	of	Opti	Canada	Inc.	with	respect	to	restructuring	of	debt	and	sale	of	the	company
•	 Viterra	Inc.	on	its	pending	acquisition	by	Glencore	International	plc
•	 Hathor	Exploration	Ltd.	on	its	acquisition	by	Rio	Tinto	plc
•	 Kruger	Products	LP	on	its	US$211	million	debt	private	placement
•	 Canadian	Satellite	Radio	Holdings	Inc.	on	its	merger	with	Sirius	Canada	Inc.
•	 Canmarc	Real	Estate	Investment	Trust	on	its	acquisition	by	Cominar	Real	Estate	Investment	Trust
•	 ChemGenex	Pharmaceuticals	Limited	on	its	acquisition	by	Cephalon,	Inc.
•	 Alteris	Renewables	Inc.	on	its	acquisition	by	Real	Goods	Solar
•	 Gennum	Corp.	on	its	acquisition	by	Semtech	Corp.

Wealth Management (global)

through the acquisition of cSHp, canaccord gained a uK and european wealth management business (collins Stewart Wealth 
Management). this operating unit will be reported as part of the canaccord Wealth Management division going forward. 
contributions from these operations since March 22, 2012 are included in the operating figures below. 

•	 Globally,	Canaccord	Wealth	Management	generated	$201.3	million	in	revenue	and,	excluding	significant	items,	recorded	net	
income of $4.1 million before taxes during fiscal 2012

•	 The	total	of	assets	under	administration	in	Canada	and	assets	under	management	in	the	UK	and	Europe	were	$27.9	billion	at	
March 31, 2012

•	 Canaccord	Wealth	Management	had	41	offices	worldwide	as	of	March	31,	2012

Wealth Management (canada and us)

•	 Canaccord	Wealth	Management	generated	$199.3	million	in	revenue	and	on	an	operating	basis,	excluding	significant	items,	
recorded net income of $3.7 million before taxes during fiscal 2012

•	 Assets	under	administration	were	$14.8	billion	as	of	March	31,	2012,	down	13%	from	$17.0	billion	at	the	end	of	fiscal	2011
•	 Assets	under	management	were	$677	million,	up	24%	from	$546	million	at	the	end	of	fiscal	2011	
•	 As	at	March	31,	2012,	Canaccord	Wealth	Management	had	280	Advisory	Teams(1), an increase of nine advisory teams from 

March 31, 2011 and an increase of two from december 31, 2011 
•	 During	fiscal	2012,	Canaccord	opened	five	new	Canaccord	Wealth	Management	branches	on	the	Independent	Wealth	

Management (iWM) platform, and closed three iWM locations
•	 Two	corporate	branches	were	converted	to	the	IWM	platform	during	fiscal	2012

•	 At	March	31,	2012	Canaccord	Wealth	Management	had	35	offices	located	across	Canada,	including	23	IWM	locations

Wealth Management (uk and europe)

•	 In	the	seven	business	days	following	the	close	of	Canaccord’s	acquisition	of	CSHP,	Collins	Stewart	Wealth	Management	
generated $2.0 million in revenue and, excluding significant items, recorded net income of $0.3 million before taxes, which was 
attributable to canaccord’s fiscal 2012 results

•	 Assets	under	management	were	$13.1	billion	(£8.2	billion)	as	of	March	31,	2012

(1)  advisory teams are normally comprised of one or more investment advisors (ias) and their assistants and associates, who together manage a shared set of client accounts. advisory teams that 
are led by, or only include, an ia who has been licensed for less than three years are not included in our advisory team count, as it typically takes a new ia approximately three years to build an 
average-sized book of business.
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suBsequeNT eveNTs

•	 On	April	10,	2012,	$97	million	of	the	net	proceeds	from	Canaccord’s	Series	C	Preferred	Share	offering	was	used	to	repay	a	
portion of the $150 million short term credit facility the company secured for bridge financing related to the acquisition of cSHp

•	 The	balance	of	the	short	term	credit	facility	was	repaid	in	full	on	May	22,	2012

Market environment During Fiscal 2012

fiscal 2012 was characterized by heightened economic instability as the european sovereign debt crisis renewed fears of another 
global economic recession. despite a technical debt default in Greece, european policymakers injected as much liquidity as 
needed to avert another lehman-type banking crisis and additional country debt defaults in peripheral europe. the uS federal 
reserve also contributed to global liquidity through stimulus programs and by committing to keep interest rates low until 2014. 
the net result was a notable recovery in global equities in the later half of fiscal 2012. 

fiscal 2012 began with a fragile macroeconomic environment. despite several sovereign debt downgrades and surging government 
bond yields through europe, chinese and european policymakers raised interest rates in spring 2011, which fueled concerns  
that their economies were overheating. However, when a Greek debt default became imminent in early summer, contagion fears 
quickly spread through peripheral countries and capital markets seized up. Global economic growth began to lose momentum  
and fears of a uS double-dip recession emerged. as a result, equity markets suffered their first 20%+ correction since 2008 and  
uS 10-year treasury bond yields dropped below 2% for the first time since March 1946. in canada, the correction in junior and 
small-cap equities was discouraging, with the S&p/tSX Venture index dropping 40% peak-to-trough. 

the collapse in various equity markets forced global policymakers to take action. in early September 2011, leading central banks 
flooded the financial system with uS dollars, intending to boost market confidence. later that same month, the uS federal reserve 
implemented a program aimed at keeping borrowing costs as low as possible to stimulate the rapidly weakening uS economy. 
a tangible solution to europe’s sovereign debt problem came only in october when european leaders increased sovereign 
commitments to the european financial Stability facility, a bailout fund for troubled countries. as a result, market participants 
started to reverse their risk aversion, driving risk assets sharply higher. despite a setback in november, due to political gridlocks 
on bailout plan proposals in Greece and italy, capital markets received a round of fiscal stimulus in december, when the european 
central Bank went ahead with its long term refinancing operation, which provided troubled european banks and sovereigns with 
access to unlimited financing options.

from october 2011 to March 2012, the S&p 500 rose 27% and the S&p/tSX a more moderate 11%, reflecting concerns about 
an economic slowdown in china. While capital markets activity grew in the last half of the fiscal year, trading volumes and equity 
financings remained much below 2011 levels. despite large cash holdings by corporations and inexpensive equity valuations, 
merger and acquisition activity was subdued for most of the fiscal year. However, investor confidence improved as global monetary 
authorities calmed economic concerns through very accommodative monetary policies.
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Fiscal 2013 outlook

looking ahead, abnormally low interest rates worldwide could support a modest acceleration of the global economy and maintain 
a favourable environment for capital markets activities. However, periods of heightened market volatility are likely to persist as 
investors begin to evaluate the impact of tighter fiscal policies and austerity programs implemented in developed countries. 
another source of instability is the political climate in europe where skepticism on the eurozone is growing. financial markets will 
be looking for the newly elected government in france to reinstate the importance of the france-Germany relationship. Greece is 
another non-trivial risk but the market already had its “Greek panic” in 2011 and it understands the limited economic influence on 
the wider eurozone. overall, we are hopeful that political commitment to the euro area integration will remain. Sporadic economic 
setbacks could occur if political gridlocks on uS budget negotiations for calendar 2013 subtract more than 2% of Gdp. However, 
the uS federal reserve has mentioned several times that it is ready to intervene should the economy stall further. Most central 
banks in developing economies have abandoned tight monetary policies and, in some cases, implemented reflationary policies. 
as such, central banks should provide downside protection to economic growth and capital markets, which would likely encourage 
healthier capital markets activity compared to fiscal 2012. 

With corporate spending at near all-time lows as a percentage of Gdp and corporate profits, businesses should increase their 
capital investments as confidence in the global economy returns. However, in the uS, more clarity on corporate taxation by the 
elected government could be needed before businesses start spending their accumulated capital. that said, regardless of any 
shorter term cyclical fluctuations, the pace and duration of chinese industrialization should continue to have a profound impact 
on the global economy. in recent years this has been most evident through infrastructure investments and the demand dynamics 
of commodities markets. While demand for industrial commodities could moderate as china shifts to a more consumer-based 
economy, demand for consumer-sensitive commodities such as energy and agricultural products will continue to increase as a 
result of shifting demographics in china.

With global corporate margins at all-time highs and a growing number of companies operating in mature industries, merger and 
acquisition activity should reaccelerate in fiscal 2013. this is especially true in the canadian resource sector owing to depressed 
equity valuation multiples. in addition, with many foreign countries and companies looking to secure the supply of specific 
commodities through participation in public companies, advisory activity should remain healthy. overall, assuming global policy 
makers strike a fine balance between pro-growth policies and austerity, we remain cautiously optimistic that the global economic 
outlook for fiscal 2013 will remain favourable for capital markets activities.

overview of Preceding years – Fiscal 2011 vs. 2010

total revenue for the year ended March 31, 2011 (fiscal 2011) was $803.6 million, an increase of $226.1 million or 39.1% 
compared to the previous year. this increase was primarily due to improved economic and market conditions, and heightened 
demand for corporate recapitalization during fiscal 2011. Most major indices also improved during fiscal 2011 with the tSX up 
17%, the tSX Venture up 46%, the naSdaQ up 16% and the lSe up 5%. 

canaccord recorded net income of $99.7 million during fiscal 2011, which included $17.9 million of charges related to the 
acquisition of Genuity capital Markets and the Balloch Group limited. excluding acquisition-related items, net income for fiscal 
2011 was $114.1 million. canaccord’s performance during fiscal 2011 was a significant improvement over fiscal 2010, when the 
company recorded a net income of $38.5 million, or $42.0 million excluding significant items.
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Financial overview

selecTeD FINANcIAl INForMATIoN(1)(2)(3)

  for the years ended March 31
(c$ thousands, except per share and % amounts, 
and number of employees) 2012 2011 2010 2012/2011 change 

   IFrs  ifrS  cGaap

canaccord Financial Inc. (cFI)

 revenue

  commission $ 252,877 $ 294,650 $ 235,606 $ (41,773)  (14.2)%

  investment banking  175,225  327,499  215,237  (152,274)  (46.5)%

  advisory fees  107,370  84,914  39,200  22,456  26.4%

  principal trading  10,647  43,644  45,982  (32,997)  (75.6)%

  interest  31,799  24,040  12,965  7,759  32.3%

  other  26,946  28,884  28,547  (1,938)  (6.7)%

 Total revenue  604,864  803,631  577,537  (198,767)  (24.7)%

 expenses

  incentive compensation   304,908  389,046  299,084  (84,138)  (21.6)%

  Salaries and benefits  63,924  64,420  59,415  (496)  (0.8)%

  other overhead expenses(4)  200,842  194,953  162,397  5,889  3.0%

  acquisition-related costs  16,056  12,740  5,000  3,316  26.0%

  restructuring costs(5)   35,253  —  —  35,253  n.m.

 Total expenses   620,983  661,159  525,896  (40,176)  (6.1)%

 income (loss) before income taxes  (16,119)  142,472  51,641  (158,591)  (111.3)%

 Net income (loss) $ (21,346) $ 99,743 $ 38,497 $ (121,089)  (121.4)%

 Net income (loss) attributable to cFI shareholders $ (20,307) $ 99,743 $ 38,497 $ (120,050)  (120.4)%

 non-controlling interests $ (1,039) $ — $ — $ (1,039)  n.m.

 earnings (loss) per common share (epS) – basic  $ (0.33) $ 1.37 $ 0.79 $ (1.70)  (124.1)%

 earnings (loss) per common share (epS) – diluted $ (0.33) $ 1.22 $ 0.69 $ (1.55)  (127.0)%

 return on common equity  (3.1)%  14.2%  9.8%  (17.3) p.p.

 dividends per share $ 0.40 $ 0.275 $ 0.15 $ 0.125  45.5%

 Book value per diluted common share(6)  $ 8.26 $ 8.79 $ 6.96 $ (0.53)  (6.0)%

excluding significant items(7)

 total expenses $ 564,182 $ 643,293 $ 520,896 $ (79,111)  (12.3)%

 income before income taxes $ 40,682 $ 160,338 $ 56,641 $ (119,656)  (74.6)%

 net income  $ 25,193 $ 114,126 $ 42,043 $ (88,933)  (77.9)%

 net income attributable to cfi shareholders $ 25,591 $ 114,126 $ 42,043 $ (88,535)  (77.6)%

 epS – basic  $ 0.28 $ 1.56 $ 0.86 $ (1.28)  (82.1)%

 epS – diluted  $ 0.25 $ 1.40 $ 0.76 $ (1.15)  (82.1)%

Balance sheet data

 total assets $ 5,762,723 $ 5,097,500 $ 3,123,848 $ 665,223  13.0%

 total liabilities  4,753,144  4,340,608  2,722,103  412,536  9.5%

 non-controlling interests  17,454  —  —  17,454  n.m.

 total shareholders’ equity   992,125  756,892  401,745  235,233  31.1%

 number of employees  2,428  1,684  1,549  744  44.2%

(1)   the company adopted ifrS beginning april 1, 2011. consequently, data for the year ended March 31, 2012 and the comparative period ended March 31, 2011 is in compliance with ifrS except  
as noted in note 2. figures for the year ended March 31, 2010 are in accordance with cGaap except as noted in note 2. See the transition to international financial reporting Standards section  
on page 23.

(2)  data is in accordance with ifrS/cGaap except for roe, book value per diluted common share, figures excluding significant items and number of employees.
(3)  data includes the results of Genuity since the closing date of april 23, 2010. results of canaccord Genuity asia since the closing date of January 17, 2011 and the results for canaccord BGf since 

the closing date of november 1, 2011 are also included. the operating results of canaccord BGf have been fully consolidated and a 50% non-controlling interest has been recognized. results of 
former cSHp entities since March 22, 2012 are also included.

(4)  consists of trading costs, premises and equipment, communication and technology, interest, general and administrative, amortization of tangible and intangible assets, and development costs. 
(5)  consists of staff restructuring costs and reorganization expenses related to the acquisition of cSHp, as well as restructuring costs related to the reorganization of certain canadian trading and  

other operations.
(6)  Book value per diluted common share is calculated as total common shareholders’ equity divided by the number of diluted common shares outstanding. 
(7)  net income and earnings per common share excluding significant items reflect tax-effected adjustments related to such items. See the Selected financial information excluding Significant items 

table on the next page. 
p.p.: percentage points
n.m.: not meaningful 
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selecTeD FINANcIAl INForMATIoN excluDINg sIgNIFIcANT ITeMs(1)

  for the years ended March 31

(c$ thousands, except per share and % amounts) 2012 2011 2010 2012/2011 change 

 total revenue per ifrS/cGaap(2) $ 604,864 $ 803,631 $ 577,537 $ (198,767)  (24.7)%

 total expenses per ifrS/cGaap(2)  620,983  661,159  525,896  (40,176)  (6.1)%

 Significant items recorded in Canaccord Genuity     

  acquisition-related costs – cSHp  (9,023)  —  —  (9,023)  n.m.

  acquisition-related costs – BGf  (1,443)  —  —  (1,443)  n.m.

  acquisition-related costs – the Balloch Group  

   limited (tBG)  —  (1,750)  —  1,750  100.0%

  acquisition-related costs – Genuity capital  

   Markets (Genuity)  —  (10,990)  (5,000)  10,990  100.0%

  amortization of intangible assets   (5,492)  (5,126)    (366)  (7.1)%

  restructuring costs  (29,078)  —  —  (29,078)  n.m.

 Significant items recorded in Canaccord  

  Wealth Management     

  acquisition-related costs – cSHp  (4,077)  —  —  (4,077)  n.m.

  restructuring costs  (900)  —  —  (900)  n.m.

 Significant items recorded in Corporate and Other     

  acquisition-related costs – prospective  

   acquisitions not pursued  (1,513)  —  —  (1,513)  n.m.

  restructuring costs  (5,275)  —  —  (5,275)  n.m.

  total significant items  (56,801)  (17,866)  (5,000)  (38,935)  (217.9)%

 total expenses excluding significant items  564,182  643,293  520,896  (79,111)  (12.3)%

 net income before tax – adjusted   40,682  160,338  56,641  (119,656)  (74.6)%

 income taxes – adjusted   15,489  46,212  14,598  (30,723)  (66.5)% 

 net income – adjusted  $ 25,193 $ 114,126 $ 42,043 $ (88,933)  (77.9)%

 epS – basic, adjusted  $ 0.28 $ 1.56 $ 0.86 $ (1.28)  (82.1)%

 epS – diluted, adjusted  $ 0.25 $ 1.40 $ 0.76 $ (1.15)  (82.1)%

(1)  figures excluding significant items are non-ifrS/cGaap measures. See non-ifrS Measures on page 23. 
(2)  the company adopted ifrS beginning april 1, 2011. consequently, data for the year ended March 31, 2012 and the comparative period ended March 31, 2011 is in compliance with ifrS. figures 

for the year ended March 31, 2010 are in accordance with cGaap. See the transition to international financial reporting Standards section on page 23.
n.m.: not meaningful 

reveNue

on a consolidated basis, revenue is generated through six activities: commissions and fees associated with agency trading and 
private client wealth management activity, investment banking, advisory fees, principal trading, interest and other. 

revenue for fiscal 2012 was $604.9 million, a decrease of 24.7% or $198.8 million from fiscal 2011. overall, the decline 
in revenue for the year ended March 31, 2012 was mainly due to the global economic uncertainties and challenging market 
conditions that persisted throughout the fiscal year. 

commission revenue is principally generated from private client trading activity and institutional sales and trading. revenue 
generated from commissions dropped by $41.8 million or 14.2% from fiscal 2011 to $252.9 million in fiscal 2012. our canaccord 
Wealth Management segment contributed $141.8 million while our canaccord Genuity segment contributed $111.1 million. 

investment banking revenue was $175.2 million in fiscal 2012, down $152.3 million or 46.5% from fiscal 2011. revenue 
generated from investment banking activities decreased due to a subdued pace of financing activity in equity markets in canada, 
the uK and europe, and the uS. 

the strength of our Mergers & acquisitions (M&a) team resulted in the company achieving record advisory revenue of  
$107.4 million, an increase of $22.5 million from fiscal 2011, despite the challenging market environment.
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deteriorating investor confidence and a continuing sovereign debt crisis in europe led to a $33.0 million decrease in principal 
trading revenue to $10.6 million in fiscal 2012. principal trading revenue in our uK and europe and canadian operations were 
particularly affected by the instability in the economic environment, as indicated by the $17.9 million and $14.9 million decreases 
in principal trading revenue in these regions, respectively. 

interest revenue is derived from interest realized from financial instruments and fixed income securities held by canaccord, 
interest earned on cash balances held at the bank and interest paid by clients on margin accounts. as a result of changes in interest 
rates and additional interest revenue earned from activities in the fixed income group, interest revenue increased by $7.8 million 
or 32.3% from fiscal 2011 to $31.8 million for fiscal 2012. 

other revenue of $26.9 million was $1.9 million or 6.7% lower than in the prior year, largely as a result of reduced foreign 
exchange gains due to the fluctuation of the canadian dollar. 

exPeNses

expenses as a percentage of revenue(1) for the years ended March 31

     2012/2011 
   2012 2011 change

incentive compensation      50.4%  48.4%  2.0 p.p.

Salaries and benefits      10.6%  8.0%  2.6 p.p. 

other overhead expenses(2)       33.2%  24.4%  8.8 p.p.

acquisition-related costs(3)      2.7%  1.5%  1.2 p.p.

restructuring costs(3)(4)      5.8%  —   5.8 p.p.

total        102.7%  82.3%  20.4 p.p.

(1)  data includes the results of Genuity since the closing date of april 23, 2010. results of canaccord Genuity asia since the closing date of January 17, 2011 and results of canaccord BGf since 
the closing date of november 1, 2011 are also included. the operating results of canaccord BGf have been consolidated and a 50% non-controlling interest has been recognized. results of former 
cSHp entities since March 22, 2012 are also included.

(2)  consists of trading costs, premises and equipment, communication and technology, interest, general and administrative, amortization of tangible and intangible assets and development costs.
(3)  refer to the Selected financial information excluding Significant items table on page 32. 
(4)  consists of staff restructuring costs and reorganization expenses related to the acquisition of cSHp, as well as restructuring costs related to the reorganization of certain canadian trading and  

other operations. 
p.p.: percentage points

expenses for fiscal 2012 were $621.0 million, a decrease of 6.1% or $40.2 million compared to last year; however, total expenses 
as a percentage of revenue increased by 20.4 percentage points compared to the prior year. the main reason for the increase 
in expenses as a percentage of revenue is the company’s recognition of $56.8 million in significant items incurred to support 
its reorganization and global expansion strategy. the significant items recognized include $35.3 million of staff restructuring 
costs and reorganization expenses related to the acquisition of cSHp, and restructuring costs related to the reorganization of 
certain canadian trading and operations; $16.1 million of acquisition-related costs related to both completed acquisitions and 
prospective acquisitions not pursued; and $5.5 million related to the amortization of intangible assets acquired through various 
business combinations. excluding significant items, total expenses were $564.2 million, a decrease of  
$79.1 million or 12.3% from fiscal 2011. 

compensation expenses 

incentive compensation expense was $304.9 million, down $84.1 million or 21.6%, which was consistent with the decrease  
in incentive-based revenue. incentive compensation expense as a percentage of total revenue was 50.4%, an increase of  
1.9 percentage points, mainly as a result of higher long-term incentive plan (ltip) expense related to the amortization of grants 
that were awarded in prior periods. Salaries and benefits expense was $63.9 million, a decrease of 0.8% from the prior year. 
Salaries and benefits expense as a percentage of revenue was 10.6% in fiscal 2012 compared to 8.0% in fiscal 2011.

the total compensation (incentive compensation plus salaries and benefits) expense as a percentage of consolidated revenue 
was 61.0%, up 4.6 percentage points compared to 56.4% in fiscal 2011. as discussed above, this was mainly due to a higher ltip 
expense recognized in the current fiscal year. 
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ToTAl coMPeNsATIoN As A % oF reveNue

other overhead expenses for the years ended March 31

     2012/2011 
(c$ thousands, except % amounts)  2012 2011 change

trading costs     $ 30,313 $ 31,507  (3.8)%

premises and equipment      27,546  27,158  1.4% 

communication and technology      28,343  25,466  11.3%

interest      9,816  7,811  25.7%

General and administrative       69,523  67,882  2.4%

amortization(1)      14,108  12,742  10.7%

development costs      21,193  22,387  (5.3)%

total other overhead expenses     $ 200,842 $ 194,953  3.0%

(1)  includes $5.5 million and $5.1 million of amortization of intangible assets for the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011, respectively. See the Selected financial information excluding 
Significant items table on page 32. 

other overhead expenses were $5.9 million or 3.0% higher in fiscal 2012, which as a percentage of revenue represented an 
increase of 8.9 percentage points compared to fiscal 2011. 

the overall increase in other overhead expenses was driven by the $2.9 million increase in communication and technology 
expense, the $2.0 million increase in interest expense, the $1.6 million increase in general and administrative expense, and  
the $1.4 million increase in amortization expense. 

communication and technology expense was $2.9 million higher than the prior fiscal year because of investments made to 
improve our technology platform. in addition, certain costs that had been previously included as trading costs were reclassified  
as communications and technology expense during fiscal 2012. the amount reclassified for fiscal 2012 was approximately  
$0.6 million. Similar costs in the prior year were not reclassified as the amount was not considered significant.

an increase in interest expense of $2.0 million or 25.7% was a direct result of activities in the fixed income group. 

additional general and administrative expense was incurred mainly as a result of the incremental promotion and travel expense 
incurred in connection with the newly acquired subsidiaries in australia, china, and the uK and europe. there was also an 
increase in professional fees incurred related to client settlements during the year. office expense decreased compared to the 
prior year, which partially offset the above increases.

amortization expense increased by $1.4 million as a result of the amortization of intangible assets related to the acquisition of a 
50% interest in BGf in fiscal 2012.

the above increases in overhead expenses were partially offset by the $1.2 million decrease in trading costs and a $1.2 million  
decrease in development costs. the decrease in trading costs was due to reduced trading volumes, as well as the reclassification 
of certain costs to communication and technology expense, as discussed above. development costs were lower compared to fiscal  
2011, mainly due to reduced hiring incentives in our canaccord Wealth Management and canaccord Genuity uK and europe operations, 
although these reductions were partially offset by a higher retention expense recognized in our other foreign locations segment.

including significant items, non-compensation expense as a percentage of revenue was 41.7% in fiscal 2012, an increase of  
15.8 percentage points year over year. excluding significant items, non-compensation expense as a percentage of revenue increased 
by 8.7 percentage points compared to the prior year to 32.3% in fiscal 2012. 

7.5% 10.3%11.9% 8.0% 10.6%

2008 20102009 2011 2012

47.4% 51.8%46.5% 48.4% 50.4%

54.9% 62.1%58.4% 56.4% 61.0%

Salaries and benefits
Incentive compensation

Total
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NeT INcoMe (loss) 

net loss for fiscal 2012 was $21.3 million compared to net income of $99.7 million for fiscal 2011. diluted loss per share was 
$0.33 in fiscal 2012 compared to diluted earnings per share of $1.22 in the prior year. excluding significant items, net income for 
fiscal 2012 was $25.2 million versus a net income of $114.1 million in fiscal 2011, and diluted earnings per share was $0.25 
compared to diluted earnings per share of $1.40 in fiscal 2011. 

income taxes were $5.2 million for fiscal 2012, reflecting an effective tax rate of (32.4)% compared to a 30.0% effective tax rate 
in the prior year. the change in the effective tax rate was mainly due to temporary differences not recognized by subsidiaries 
outside of canada, non-deductible acquisition-related costs and other permanent items. a further discussion of our taxes is 
provided in the critical accounting estimates section of the Md&a on page 58.

results by geographic segment

this section is an analysis of canaccord’s results by geographic segment. canaccord’s business operations are grouped into  
four geographic segments: canada, the united Kingdom (uK) and europe, the united States (uS), and other foreign locations. 
revenue in canada is derived from the canaccord Genuity, canaccord Wealth Management, and corporate and other segments. 
revenue from the uK and europe was mainly derived from the canaccord Genuity segment during fiscal 2012; however, beginning 
on March 22, 2012, subsequent to the acquisition of cSHp, our uK and europe operations also include revenue earned from 
wealth management activity. revenue in the uS is mainly derived from the canaccord Genuity segment, with approximately 4.3% 
of its revenue originating from operations in the canaccord Wealth Management segment during fiscal 2012. revenue from other 
foreign locations is entirely made up of canaccord Genuity activity.

geogrAPhIc DIsTrIBuTIoN oF reveNue
(for the years ended March 31)

for the years ended March 31(1)

  2012 2011

(c$ thousands, except    other     other 
number of employees  uk and  Foreign   uK and  foreign 
and % amounts) canada europe(2) us locations(3) Total canada  europe(2) uS locations(3) total

revenue  $ 458,131 $ 53,180 $ 83,061 $ 10,492 $ 604,864 $ 598,556 $ 92,677 $ 111,170 $ 1,228 $ 803,631

expenses  418,692  94,382  90,594  17,315  620,983  486,651  78,548  94,415  1,545  661,159

income (loss) before  

 income taxes  $ 39,439 $ (41,202) $ (7,533) $ (6,823) $ (16,119) $ 111,905 $ 14,129 $ 16,755 $ (317) $ 142,472

excluding significant  

 items(4)

total expenses   395,689  65,959  86,991  15,543  564,182  468,785  78,548  94,415  1,545  643,293

income (loss) before 

 income taxes $ 62,442 $ (12,779) $ (3,930) $ (5,051) $ 40,682 $ 129,771 $ 14,129 $ 16,755 $ (317) $ 160,338

number of  

 employees  1,309  737  302  80  2,428  1,325  143  175  41  1,684

(1)  data is in accordance with ifrS except for figures excluding significant items and number of employees.
(2)  canaccord’s uK and europe operations earned most of their revenue from capital markets activities during fiscal 2012. results of former cSHp entities since March 22, 2012 are also included.
(3)  revenue derived from capital markets activities outside of canada, the uK and europe, and the uS is reported as other foreign locations, which includes operations for canaccord international 

ltd., canaccord Genuity asia, canaccord BGf, and canaccord Genuity Singapore. data in other foreign locations includes results of canaccord Genuity asia since the acquisition date of January 17, 
2011, results of canaccord BGf since the closing date of november 1, 2011, and results of canaccord Genuity Singapore since March 22, 2012.

(4)  refer to the Selected financial information excluding Significant items table on page 32. 

2012 2011
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the turbulent market conditions and decrease in investor confidence resulted in the decrease in revenue across our major 
geographic regions. revenue in canada was $458.1 million, a decrease of $140.4 million or 23.5%. in the uK and europe, 
revenue was $53.2 million, which was a decrease of $41.5 million or 44.8%, and revenue in the uS was $83.1 million, down 
$28.1 million or 25.3% from the prior year. However, in spite of such market conditions, we have further expanded into asia and 
australia, and as a result, revenue in our other foreign locations increased by $9.3 million to $10.5 million in fiscal 2012. 

expenses in the canadian operations

expenses for fiscal 2012 in canada were down $68.0 million or 14.0%. a decrease in incentive compensation expense of  
$64.4 million or 22.9%, consistent with the decrease in incentive-based revenue, was the main contributor to the overall reduction 
in expenses. Salaries and benefits expense was down $2.4 million due to charges incurred in the prior year related to staff 
reductions in our canaccord Wealth Management group. total compensation expense as a percentage of revenue was 58.6% 
in fiscal 2012, an increase of 2.6 percentage points from fiscal 2011, mainly attributable to higher ltip expense related to the 
amortization of grants awarded in prior periods. 

excluding significant items, non-compensation expense was $127.3 million in fiscal 2012 compared to $133.6 million in fiscal 
2011, a decrease of $6.3 million. the main contributor to this drop in expense was a $3.5 million decrease in development costs, 
a $3.4 million decrease in general and administrative expense, a $1.3 million decrease in premises and equipment expense, and a 
$1.9 million decrease in trading costs. 

development costs decreased $3.5 million as a result of reduced hiring incentives in our canaccord Wealth Management segment 
and lower amortization expense related to common share purchase loans granted in prior periods in our canaccord Genuity 
segment. lower client settlement expense in fiscal 2012 partially led to the decrease in general and administrative expense 
compared to the prior year. premises and equipment expense also decreased due to a drop in repairs and maintenance, and 
furniture and equipment lease expense. 

trading costs were 8.0% or $1.9 million lower than the prior year, consistent with the decrease in trading volume, and also due 
to the reclassification of certain expenses previously included as trading costs to communication and technology expense. this 
reclassification also contributed to the $1.6 million increase in communication and technology expense. 

the overall decrease in expenses was offset by a $1.9 million increase in interest expense due to increased activity in our fixed 
income group during the current fiscal year. 

in fiscal 2012, significant items in the amount of $23.0 million were recorded in our canadian operations. Significant items included 
$13.6 million for restructuring expenses as well as $9.4 million for acquisition-related expense items. excluding significant items, 
total expenses in canada were $395.7 million compared to $468.8 million during the previous year. total non-compensation 
expenses excluding significant items as a percentage of revenue increased from 22.3% in fiscal 2011 to 27.8% in fiscal 2012. 

expenses in the uk and europe operations

expenses in the uK and europe were $94.4 million, $15.8 million or 20.2% higher than the prior year. incentive compensation 
expense decreased by $13.5 million as a result of lower revenue. total compensation expenses as a percentage of revenue 
increased from 57.2% to 75.4% for fiscal 2012 due to the significant drop in revenue. 

consistent with the company’s policy of reserving against unsecured balances, a reserve expense of $0.9 million for unsecured 
balances was recorded during fiscal 2012, which partially explained the $1.8 million increase in general and administrative 
expense. reduced hiring incentives in the uK and europe operations resulted in the $2.9 million decrease in development costs 
in fiscal 2012 compared to the prior year. 

restructuring costs of $18.5 million and acquisition-related costs of $10.0 million were recorded in fiscal 2012 in relation to the 
acquisition of cSHp. excluding these significant items, total expenses in the uK and europe decreased by $12.6 million or 16.0%, 
to $66.0 million.

expenses in the us operations

expenses in the uS for the year were $90.6 million, down $3.8 million. incentive compensation expense was $11.6 million or 
19.5% lower due to the decrease in incentive-based revenue. total compensation expense as a percentage of revenue grew by  
5.2 percentage points to 63.3% for fiscal 2012. 
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excluding significant items, non-compensation expense was $34.4 million in fiscal 2012, an increase of $4.6 million from the 
prior year. the main contributors were a $1.5 million increase in general and administrative expense and a $1.5 million increase 
in development costs. General and administrative expense was $1.5 million higher than the prior year, partially due to an increase  
in promotion and travel expense. additional hiring incentives expense recorded in fiscal 2012 resulted in a $1.5 million increase in 
development costs compared to the prior year. 

Significant items incurred included restructuring costs of $3.2 million and acquisition-related costs of $0.4 million. restructuring 
costs were related to the acquisition of cSHp and the reorganization of the existing uS operations. 

expenses in the other Foreign locations operations

expenses in other foreign locations for the year were $17.3 million, up $15.8 million, mainly due to the expansion of our 
operations into china, australia and Singapore over the past fiscal year. the largest expenses include incentive compensation 
expense of $5.4 million, amortization expense of $2.0 million and development costs of $3.8 million. the $5.4 million increase 
in incentive compensation expense was related to the $9.3 million increase in revenue. the amortization of intangible assets 
acquired relating to the acquisition of BGf was $1.8 million. our china operations also recognized $2.3 million of share-based 
payment expense relating to its retention share plan, which was included in development costs. 

quarterly Financial Information(1)(2)

the following table provides selected quarterly financial information for the eight most recently completed financial quarters 
ended March 31, 2012. this information is unaudited, but reflects all adjustments of a recurring nature that are, in the opinion of 
management, necessary to present a fair statement of the results of operations for the periods. Quarter-to-quarter comparisons of 
financial results are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance.

(c$ thousands,    Fiscal 2012    fiscal 2011 
except per share amounts) q4 q3 q2 q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

revenue

 commission  $ 74,170  $ 57,380  $ 60,299 $ 61,028  $ 81,959  $ 87,433  $ 63,002  $ 62,256 

 investment banking  53,553  32,015  29,799  59,858  103,646  116,716  51,236  55,901

 advisory fees   24,634  38,541  21,664  22,531  25,702  25,276  13,215  20,721

 principal trading  6,769  3,304  (1,379)  1,953  17,431  10,658  9,597  5,958

 interest   8,205  8,147  7,590  7,857  7,707  7,753  5,436  3,144

 other    10,361  8,502  1,527  6,556  11,150  6,998  6,799  3,937

total revenue   177,692  147,889  119,500  159,783  247,595  254,834   149,285   151,917 

total expenses   207,731  142,822  126,396  144,034  189,279  192,918  134,676  144,286

net income (loss)  

 before taxes   (30,039)  5,067  (6,896)  15,749  58,316  61,916  14,609  7,631

net income (loss)  $ (31,794) $ 2,531 $ (5,278) $ 13,195 $ 41,323 $ 42,997 $ 10,251 $ 5,172

earnings (loss) per share – 

 basic   $ (0.42) $ 0.02 $ (0.09) $ 0.17 $ 0.55 $ 0.57 $ 0.14 $ 0.08

earnings (loss) per share – 

 diluted   $ (0.42) $ 0.01 $ (0.09) $ 0.16 $ 0.49 $ 0.51 $ 0.12 $ 0.07

excluding significant  

 items(3) 

net income (loss)  $ 2,089  $ 10,644  $ (1,665)  $ 14,125  $ 42,253  $ 45,604  $ 12,078  $ 14,191 

earnings (loss) per share –  

 basic    $ 0.02 $ 0.12 $ (0.05) $ 0.19 $ 0.56 $ 0.61 $ 0.16 $ 0.21

earnings (loss) per share –  

 diluted   $ 0.02 $ 0.11 $ (0.05) $ 0.17 $ 0.50 $ 0.55 $ 0.15 $ 0.19

(1)  data is in accordance with ifrS except for figures excluding significant items.
(2)  data includes the results of Genuity since the closing date of april 23, 2010. results of canaccord Genuity asia since the closing date of January 17, 2011 and the results of canaccord BGf since 

the closing date of november 1, 2011 are also included. the operating results of canaccord BGf have been fully consolidated and a 50% non-controlling interest has been recognized. results of 
former cSHp entities since March 22, 2012 are also included.

(3)  figures excluding significant items are non-ifrS measures. See the Quarterly financial information excluding Significant items table on the next page.
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quArTerly FINANcIAl INForMATIoN excluDINg sIgNIFIcANT ITeMs(1)(2)

(c$ thousands,    Fiscal 2012    fiscal 2011 
except per share amounts) q4 q3 q2 q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

total revenue per ifrS $ 177,692 $ 147,889 $ 119,500 $ 159,783 $ 247,595 $ 254,834  $ 149,285  $ 151,917 

total expenses per ifrS  207,731  142,822  126,396  144,034  189,279  192,918  134,676  144,286

Significant items recorded  

 in Canaccord Genuity 

 acquisition-related  

  costs – cSHp   (6,323)  (2,700)  —  —  —  —  —  —

 acquisition-related  

  costs – BGf    —  —  (1,443)  —  —  —  —  —

 acquisition-related  

  costs – tBG   —  —  —  —  —  (1,750)  —  —

 acquisition-related  

  costs – Genuity  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (10,990)

 amortization of  

  intangible assets   (1,865)  (1,767)  (930)  (930)  (930)  (930)  (1,827)  (1,439)

 restructuring costs  (27,786)  (1,292)  —  —  —  —  —  —

Significant items  

 recorded in Canaccord  

 Wealth Management 

 acquisition-related  

  costs – cSHp   (4,077)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —

 restructuring costs  (900)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —

Significant items  

 recorded in Corporate  

 and Other      

 acquisition-related  

  costs – prospective  

  acquisitions not  

  pursued   —  —  (1,513)  —  —  —  —  —

 restructuring costs  (275)  (5,000)  —  —  —  —  —  —

total significant items  (41,226)  (10,759)  (3,886)  (930)  (930)  (2,680)  (1,827)  (12,429)

total expenses excluding  

 significant items    166,505  132,063  122,510  143,104  188,349  190,238  132,849  131,857

net income (loss) before  

 tax – adjusted    11,187  15,826  (3,010)  16,679  59,246  64,596  16,436  20,060

income taxes (recovery) –  

 adjusted    9,098  5,182  (1,345)  2,554  16,993  18,992  4,358  5,869

net income (loss) –  

 adjusted   $ 2,089 $ 10,644 $ (1,665) $ 14,125 $ 42,253 $ 45,604 $ 12,078 $ 14,191

epS – basic – adjusted  $ 0.02 $ 0.12 $ (0.05) $ 0.19 $ 0.56 $ 0.61 $ 0.16 $ 0.21

epS – diluted – adjusted  $ 0.02 $ 0.11 $ (0.05) $ 0.17 $ 0.50 $ 0.55 $ 0.15 $ 0.19

(1)  figures excluding significant items are non-ifrS measures. 
(2)  data includes the results of Genuity since the closing date of april 23, 2010. results of canaccord Genuity asia since the closing date of January 17, 2011 and results of canaccord BGf since the 

closing date of november 1, 2011 are also included. the operating results of canaccord BGf have been consolidated and a 50% non-controlling interest has been recognized. results of former 
cSHp entities since March 22, 2012 are also included.

quarterly trends and risks 

canaccord’s business is cyclical and can experience considerable variations in revenue and income from quarter to quarter and 
year to year due to factors beyond canaccord’s control and, accordingly, revenue and net income are expected to fluctuate as they 
have historically. our business is subject to the overall condition of the worldwide debt and equity markets, including the seasonal 
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variance in these markets. in general, north american capital markets are slower in the first half of our fiscal year, during which 
we typically generate 40% to 50% of our annual revenue. during the second half of our fiscal year, when market activity picks up, 
the company typically generates more than half of the year’s revenue.

the timing of revenue recognition can also materially affect canaccord’s quarterly results. revenue from underwriting transactions 
is recorded only when the transaction has closed and, as a result, quarterly results can also be affected by the timing of our 
capital markets business. 

despite the strong market environment during the latter half of fiscal 2011, the capital markets once again experienced heightened 
volatility and a sharp swing to risk aversion in client portfolios during the first quarter of fiscal 2012. this was reflected by a 35.5% 
decrease in revenue from Q4/11 to Q1/12. Q1/12 revenue was up slightly by 5.2% compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2011. 

the second fiscal quarter is typically canaccord’s least active, and Q2/12 proved to be a difficult period for the economic 
environment as uncertainties escalated due to the uS fiscal situation and unresolved european sovereign debt crisis. Q2/12 
followed this pattern, with revenue down approximately 25.2% compared to Q1/12. 

the third quarter was characterized by a moderate recovery in risk assets as global equities responded to the easing financial 
stress in europe as the european central Bank implemented its long term refinancing operation, stronger-than-expected uS 
economic data, and rising expectations of a soft landing in china. this resulted in revenue of $147.9 million in Q3/12, which was 
23.8% higher compared to Q2/12 but 42% lower than our record quarter in Q3/11 due to uncertainties in the market conditions.

the strongest quarter of fiscal 2012 for canaccord was the fourth quarter as the capital markets environment gained momentum 
from the positive economic statistics. canaccord recorded $177.7 million in revenue – an increase of 20.2% from the prior quarter 
but a decrease of 28.2% compared to Q4/11. the decrease from Q4/11 was mostly due to a drop in investment banking revenue 
of $50.1 million and principal trading revenue of $10.7 million.

Fourth quarter 2012 performance

revenue for the fourth quarter was $177.7 million, a drop of $69.9 million or 28.2% compared to the same period in the previous 
year, due to decreases in investment banking, principal trading and commission revenue. investment banking revenue was  
$50.1 million lower compared to Q4/11, and there was a $7.8 million decline in commission revenue. principal trading revenue 
was down 61.2% from Q4/11 to $6.8 million in Q4/12. Both of our operating segments, canaccord Genuity and canaccord 
Wealth Management, experienced decreases in revenue compared to Q4/11 of $50.7 million and $18.2 million, respectively. 
although revenue decreased significantly compared to the solid performance in Q4/11, the challenging market conditions in fiscal 
2012 have made it difficult to achieve the same revenue levels as the same periods in the prior year. However, the company has 
seen improvements as its revenue increased during the latter part of the fiscal year. 

expenses were $207.7 million, up $18.5 million or 9.7% from Q4/11. this increase was largely attributable to the $29.0 million 
of restructuring costs and $10.4 million of acquisition-related costs recognized during Q4/12. total expenses excluding significant 
items were $166.5 million, a decrease of $21.8 million or 11.6% from Q4/11. 

incentive compensation expense was $23.7 million lower compared to Q4/11, which was consistent with the decline in incentive-
based revenue. total compensation expense as a percentage of revenue was up 8.4 percentage points to 63.7% in Q4/12, 
attributable to higher ltip expense in the current quarter as well as higher salaries and benefits expense from our expanded 
operations across the geographies. trading costs also decreased $2.4 million as a result of lower trading volume and the 
reclassification of certain costs to communication and technology expense. 

the decrease in incentive compensation expense and trading costs was offset by a $2.2 million increase in communication  
and technology expense, a $1.7 million increase in general and administrative expense and a $1.4 million increase in 
amortization expense. 

amortization expense was up $1.4 million or 46.7% as the company began amortizing the intangible assets acquired in 
connection to its purchase of a 50% interest in BGf commencing in Q3/12. communication and technology expense increased 
by $2.2 million due to additional expenditures incurred to expand our global information technology infrastructure, as well as the 
reclassification discussed above. General and administrative expense increased by $1.7 million due to higher promotion and 
travel expense offset by lower office expense.
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net loss for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 was $31.8 million, compared to net income of $41.3 million in Q4/11. diluted loss 
per share in the current quarter was $0.42, compared to a diluted epS of $0.49 in Q4/11. Book value per diluted common share 
decreased by 6.0%, down from $8.79 in Q4/11 to $8.26 in Q4/12, mainly due to an increase in the number of diluted common 
shares as a result of the shares issued in connection with the acquisition of cSHp. 

there were $41.2 million and $0.9 million of significant items included in the fourth quarter of 2012 and 2011, respectively. 
excluding significant items, net income for Q4/12 was $2.1 million, compared to net income of $42.3 million in Q4/11, and 
diluted epS was $0.02, compared to diluted epS of $0.50 in Q4/11. 

Business segment results(1)(2)

 
for the years ended March 31

 
     2012    2011

   canaccord    canaccord   
(c$ thousands, except canaccord Wealth corporate  canaccord Wealth corporate  
number of employees) genuity Management and other Total Genuity Management and other total

revenue

 canada  $ 232,306 $ 195,728 $ 30,097 $ 458,131 $ 338,520 $ 228,098 $ 31,938 $ 598,556

 uK and europe    51,193  1,987  —  53,180  92,677  —  —  92,677

 uS     79,486  3,575  —  83,061  106,219  4,951  —  111,170

 other foreign  

  locations   10,492  —  —  10,492  1,228  —  —  1,228

total revenue   373,477  201,290  30,097  604,864  538,644  233,049  31,938  803,631

expenses   375,144  166,465  79,374  620,983  391,082  184,313  85,764  661,159

income (loss) before 

 income taxes  $ (1,667) $ 34,825 $ (49,277) $ (16,119) $ 147,562 $ 48,736 $ (53,826) $ 142,472

excluding significant  

 items(3)        

expenses   330,108  161,488  72,586  564,182  373,216  184,313  85,764  643,293

income (loss) before  

 income taxes  $ 43,369 $ 39,802 $ (42,489) $ 40,682 $ 165,428 $ 48,736 $ (53,826) $ 160,338

number of employees  1,090  960  378  2,428  627  684  373  1,684

(1)  data is in accordance with ifrS except for figures excluding significant items and number of employees. detailed financial results for the business segments are shown in note 20 of the audited 
consolidated financial Statements on page 113.

(2)  canaccord Genuity data includes the results of Genuity since the closing date of april 23, 2010. results of canaccord Genuity asia since the closing date of January 17, 2011 and results  
of canaccord BGf since the closing date of november 1, 2011 are also included. the operating results of canaccord BGf have been consolidated and a 50% non-controlling interest has been 
recognized. results of former cSHp entities since March 22, 2012 are also included.

(3)  See the Selected financial information excluding Significant items table on page 32. 

canaccord’s operations are divided into three segments: canaccord Genuity and canaccord Wealth Management are the main 
operating segments while corporate and other is mainly an administrative segment.

canaccord Genuity provides investment banking, research, and sales and trading services to corporate, institutional and 
government clients as well as conducting principal trading activities in canada, the uS, the uK and europe, and other foreign 
locations. canaccord Genuity’s revenue is generated from commissions and fees earned in connection with investment banking 
transactions and institutional sales and trading activity, as well as trading gains and losses from canaccord’s principal and 
international trading operations. for fiscal 2012, total revenue was $373.5 million, down $165.2 million or 30.7% from the record 
year we had in 2011. fiscal 2012 expenses for canaccord Genuity were $375.1 million, a decrease of $15.9 million or 4.1% from 
fiscal 2011. excluding significant items, expenses were $330.1 million, 11.6% or $43.1 million lower than in fiscal 2011. 

canaccord Wealth Management provides brokerage services and investment advice to private clients, primarily in canada and, 
to a lesser degree, the uS. as a result of the acquisition of cSHp, our canaccord Wealth Management operations also expanded 
into the uK and europe commencing March 22, 2012. canaccord Wealth Management’s revenue is generated through traditional 
commission-based brokerage services; the sale of fee-based products and services; client-related interest; and fees and 
commissions earned by advisory teams for investment banking and venture capital transactions by private clients. in fiscal 2012, 
total revenue was $201.3 million, down 13.6% from the previous year. total expenses for canaccord Wealth Management for fiscal 
2012 were $166.5 million, down 9.7% compared to fiscal 2011. 
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the corporate and other segment includes correspondent brokerage services, interest, and foreign exchange revenue and expenses 
not specifically allocable to the canaccord Genuity and canaccord Wealth Management divisions. also included in this segment 
are canaccord’s operations and support services departments, which are responsible for front- and back-office information 
technology systems, compliance and risk management, operations, finance and other administrative functions. for fiscal 2012, 
revenue for the corporate and other segment was $30.1 million, a decrease of 5.8%. expenses also decreased by 7.5% to  
$79.4 million for the current year compared to fiscal 2011. 

cANAccorD geNuITy

overview

canaccord Genuity’s revenue is generated from commissions and fees earned in connection with investment banking transactions 
and institutional sales and trading activity, as well as trading gains and losses from canaccord’s principal and international trading 
operations. accordingly, this revenue is directly affected by the level of corporate and institutional activity and general economic, 
market and business conditions in canada, the uK and europe, the uS and internationally. 

revenue for this segment is generated from four geographic segments: canada, the uK and europe, the uS and other foreign 
locations. canaccord Genuity has 24 locations worldwide, including 20 locations outside of canada. canaccord Genuity’s business 
expansion in the uK through the acquisition of cSHp has firmly positioned the company as a leading independent investment 
bank in that market. as at March 31, 2012, canaccord Genuity had the second greatest number of corporate broking clients in 
the uK of all investment banks(1). in addition, canaccord Genuity gained a highly-regarded uK and europe-based advisory practice, 
which now operates under the name canaccord Genuity Hawkpoint and has offices in london, paris and frankfurt. during fiscal 
2012, canaccord also grew its global operations, with new offices in Singapore (through the cSHp acquisition), Hong Kong, 
Melbourne and Sydney (through canaccord’s 50% interest in canaccord BGf).

capital markets activity decreased significantly in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011, due largely to challenging macroeconomic 
conditions and volatile financial markets. despite this market environment, canaccord Genuity participated in 362 transactions 
globally for clients, which raised gross proceeds of $7.6 billion. of these, canaccord Genuity led or co-led 107 transactions 
globally, raising total proceeds of $3.2 billion. 

canaccord Genuity sector diversification remains an integral component of the company’s strategy. resource-related revenue 
was 50% of canaccord Genuity’s total investment banking revenue in fiscal 2012, versus 72% in fiscal 2011. for comparison 
purposes, resource-related transactions comprised 30% of canaccord Genuity’s total investment banking transactions in 
fiscal 2012, versus 47% in fiscal 2011. canaccord’s sector diversification was enhanced by the acquisition of cSHp, providing 
additional strength in non-resource sectors. 

during fiscal 2012, canaccord Genuity expanded its research coverage and investment banking activity to include more companies 
in the following sectors:

•	 Metals	&	Mining
•	 Energy	
•	 Agriculture
•	 Technology
•	 CleanTech	&	Sustainability
•	 Transportation	&	Industrials	
•	 Financials
•	 Healthcare	&	Life	Sciences
•	 Real	Estate	&	Hospitality
•	 Consumer	&	Retail
•	 Support	Services
•	 Media	&	Communications	
•	 Paper	&	Forestry	Products
•	 Infrastructure
•	 Investment	Trusts
•	 Aerospace	&	Defense
•	 Leisure
•	 Private	Equity

(1)  Source: Hemscott
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Industry profile 

canaccord Genuity is active in stocks listed or quoted on ten exchanges internationally – the tSX, tSX Venture, lSe, aiM, naSdaQ,  
NYSE,	AMEX,	ASX,	SGX	and	SGX	Catalist.	Our	expertise	in	these	markets	allows	us	to	lower	costs	of	capital,	broaden	shareholder	
bases and provide best execution and liquidity for our clients. for fiscal 2012, financing values were down on the tSX and tSX 
Venture, the naSdaQ and on the aiM compared to the prior year. 

consolidation continues to be an industry theme, with significant mergers and acquisitions activity taking place within the financial 
services sector. larger independent and global investment banks have placed an emphasis on international operations and 
expansion into new markets, as these companies have found opportunities to expand at reasonable prices as a result of the 
continued market dislocation and the stress it has created on smaller boutique firms. Many boutique or specialized investment 
banks have taken the opposite (defensive) strategy, choosing to refocus efforts on core activities, closing or selling operations 
that were peripheral to their main service offering and market focus. 

outlook

canaccord Genuity remains very well positioned in many of the company’s key markets. through the acquisition of cSHp, 
canaccord Genuity gained important operational scale in the uK and the uS, and added offices in Singapore and mainland 
europe. in the year ahead, management’s emphasis will be on ensuring the continued success of canaccord Genuity’s expanded 
business, and on leveraging the company’s bolstered cross-border capabilities and client relationships from our new geographic 
reach. during fiscal 2013, the company may pursue opportunities to add small teams to specific sector verticals or key service 
offerings to further strengthen our operations in areas we believe we can capture additional market share in. 

We believe exceptional opportunities to grow our advisory revenue exist through our expanded advisory capabilities. the company 
remains extremely well capitalized, and once relative stability returns to the global economy – and the eurozone in particular –  
we expect a resurgence in M&a and corporate development activity will occur.

Should global capital raising activity remain subdued, we expect larger bulge-bracket firms will continue to focus more attention 
on the mid-market space, increasing industry-wide competition for mid-market firms during the market downturn. We believe 
canaccord Genuity’s global platform and ability to list companies on 10 stock exchanges in six countries will provide a competitive 
advantage for the business compared to many of the domestically focused firms we compete with. 

the continued shift towards electronic trading, and increased trading on alternative platforms, is expected to shift some trading 
market share away from main stock exchanges. canaccord Genuity is active in offering trading services on many of the alternative 
exchanges, and recently bolstered its sales and trading capabilities through the acquisition of cSHp with the addition of the 
international equities Group – an experienced team providing institutions and intermediaries with trading services in international 
equities and adrs. 

canaccord does not expect any of the regulatory reforms proposed by uS and uK regulators will have a material impact on its 
capital markets operations, as most of the proposed reforms are targeted at trading activities canaccord does not participate in. 
the company will continue to vigilantly monitor shifts in the capital markets regulatory environment. 

canaccord Genuity remains committed to operating as efficiently as possible in order to sustain its global platform during periods 
of slower capital markets activity. a culture of cost containment continues to be reinforced throughout the company, and strategies 
to lower operating costs over the long term continue to be explored.

the management team believes the investments canaccord has made over the last two years to increase the company’s global 
presence and broaden its service offering have positioned the business very well for the eventual market recovery.
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FINANcIAl PerForMANce(1)(2)

 
for the years ended March 31

  2012 2011

(c$ thousands,     other     other 
except number  uk and  Foreign   uK and  foreign 
of employees) canada europe us locations Total canada  europe uS locations total

revenue  $ 232,306 $ 51,193 $ 79,486 $ 10,492 $ 373,477 $ 338,520 $ 92,677 $ 106,219 $ 1,228 $ 538,644

expenses

 incentive 

  compensation  109,180  33,481  46,319  5,425  194,405  145,955  47,917  57,339  109  251,320

 Salaries and 

  benefits  5,465  5,471  4,572  2,308  17,816  5,760  5,048  4,921  653  16,382

 other overhead

  expenses  54,567  25,358  33,872  9,582  123,379  54,699  25,583  29,575  783  110,640

 acquisition-related 

  costs   4,143  5,886  437  —  10,466  12,740  —  —  —  12,740

 restructuring costs  7,452  18,460  3,166  —  29,078  —  —  —  —  —

total expenses  180,807  88,656  88,366  17,315  375,144  219,154  78,548  91,835  1,545  391,082

income (loss) before 

 income taxes(3) $ 51,499 $ (37,463) $ (8,880) $ (6,823) $ (1,667) $ 119,366 $ 14,129 $ 14,384 $ (317) $ 147,562

excluding significant  

 items(4)

total expenses  165,492  64,310  84,763  15,543  330,108  201,288  78,548  91,835  1,545  373,216

income (loss) before  

 income taxes  

 (recovery) $ 66,814 $ (13,117) $ (5,277) $ (5,051) $ 43,369 $ 137,232 $ 14,129 $ 14,384 $ (317) $ 165,428

number of  

 employees  247  461  302  80  1,090  268  143  175  41  627

(1)  data is considered to be ifrS except for figures excluding significant items and number of employees.
(2)  data in canada includes the results of Genuity since the closing date of april 23, 2010. results of tBG since the closing date of January 17, 2011 are included in other foreign locations.  

the operating results of canaccord BGf have been consolidated and a 50% non-controlling interest has been recognized. results of former cSHp entities since March 22, 2012 are also included.
(3)  See the intersegment allocated costs section on page 52.
(4)  refer to the Selected financial information excluding Significant items table on page 32. 

reveNue

the capital markets environment was negatively impacted by the uncertainties in the global economy during fiscal 2012. this led 
to an overall decrease in revenue in our canaccord Genuity segment. for fiscal year 2012, revenue was $373.5 million, which was 
30.7% or $165.2 million lower than our record year in fiscal 2011. 
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PArTIcIPATIoN IN NuMBer oF TrANsAcTIoNs –  NuMBer oF leD TrANsAcTIoNs – equITy oFFerINgs oF 
equITy oFFerINgs oF $1.5 MIllIoN AND $1.5 MIllIoN AND greATer DurINg FIscAl 2012(1) 
greATer DurINg FIscAl 2012(1) 

(1)   canaccord transactions include transactions executed by its uS, uK and europe, and other foreign locations operations.
Source: fp infomart as of March 31, 2012 and company information

capital markets activities dropped significantly in our canadian operations during fiscal 2012, mainly as a result of the subdued 
pace of equity underwriting due to volatility in the market environment, leading to a decrease in revenue of 31.4%. revenue from our 
uK and europe and our uS operations dropped by 44.8% and 25.2%, respectively, due to the heightened economic uncertainties, 
especially in regards to sovereign debt, in their geographic regions. revenue from our other foreign locations represented 2.8% or 
$10.5 million of total canaccord Genuity revenue, up 2.6 percentage points compared to 0.2% or $1.2 million in fiscal 2011 as a 
result of the company’s expansion into asia and australia.

Investment banking activity

during fiscal 2012, canaccord participated in raising $6.8 billion in 323 equity offerings of $1.5 million and greater, excluding 
venture capital. canaccord Genuity’s sector mix in fiscal 2012 showed increasing diversity, with over 50% of the transactions 
occurring in the Structured products, technology, life Sciences, financials, real estate, diversified and other sectors. the Metals 
& Mining and energy sectors, traditionally canaccord’s strength, made up nearly 30% of the investment banking transactions the 
company participated in, and brought in nearly 50% of investment banking revenue. 

throughout fiscal 2012, canaccord significantly expanded its investment Banking group by growing our operations in the uK and 
uS, and adding new operations in europe, Hong Kong, australia and Singapore. canaccord Genuity’s investment Banking group 
now has capital raising operations in 19 cities worldwide and has grown its sector focus to include the aerospace & defense, 
leisure and private equity sectors. 

cANAccorD geNuITy – overAll 
(note: other includes infrastructure, consumer & retail, cleantech & Sustainability, Media & communications, investment trusts, Support Services, agriculture 
and transportation & industrials sectors) 

Investment banking transactions by sector Investment banking revenue by sector
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cANAccorD geNuITy – cANADA 
(note: other includes Media & communications, Support Services, consumer & retail, agriculture, transportation & industrials, investment trusts, 
infrastructure and cleantech & Sustainability sectors) 

Investment banking transactions by sector Investment banking revenue by sector

cANAccorD geNuITy – uk AND euroPe 
(note: other includes Support Services and Healthcare & life Sciences sectors) 

Investment banking transactions by sector Investment banking revenue by sector

cANAccorD geNuITy – us 

Investment banking transactions by sector Investment banking revenue by sector
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cANAccorD geNuITy – oTher ForeIgN locATIoNs 
(note: other includes Healthcare & life Sciences, energy, consumer & retail, and diversified sectors)

Investment banking transactions by sector Investment banking revenue by sector

equITy oFFerINgs oF $1.5 MIllIoN AND greATer PArTIcIPATeD IN By cANAccorD 

  for the years ended March 31

(c$ billions, except number of transactions)  2012  2011

   Aggregate  aggregate 
  Number of transaction number of transaction 
Market transactions value transactions value

canada     274 $ 2.4  352 $ 3.4

uK and europe    11  0.7  13  1.7

uS      38  3.7  61  6.0

total      323 $ 6.8  426 $ 11.1

Sources: financial post data Group and company sources 

exPeNses

expenses for fiscal 2012 were $375.1 million, a decrease of 4.1% year over year. the canaccord Genuity segment recognized 
$45.0 million of significant items including restructuring costs and acquisition-related expense items in relation to its acquisition 
of cSHp and a 50% interest in BGf. in the prior year, canaccord Genuity recognized $17.9 million of significant items related to  
the purchase of Genuity and tBG and the amortization of intangible assets. excluding significant items, fiscal 2012 total expenses 
were $330.1 million, a decrease of 11.6% or $43.1 million compared to fiscal 2011. 

Incentive compensation and salaries and benefits

incentive compensation expense for fiscal 2012 decreased by $56.9 million or 22.6% compared to fiscal 2011 as a result of the 
decline in incentive-based revenue. the incentive compensation expense as a percentage of revenue was 52.1%, up 5.4 percentage  
points from fiscal 2011 due to higher ltip expense in the current year related to the amortization of grants awarded in prior periods. 
Salaries and benefits expense for fiscal 2012 was up $1.4 million or 8.8% compared to fiscal 2011 due to our global expansion  
into asia and australia. total compensation expense as a percentage of revenue was 7.1 percentage points higher at 56.8%. 
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ToTAl coMPeNsATIoN As A % oF ToTAl coMPeNsATIoN As A % oF  
cANAccorD geNuITy reveNue – overAll cANAccorD geNuITy reveNue – cANADA

ToTAl coMPeNsATIoN As A % oF  ToTAl coMPeNsATIoN As A % oF  
cANAccorD geNuITy reveNue – uk AND euroPe cANAccorD geNuITy reveNue – us 
 

ToTAl coMPeNsATIoN As A % oF cANAccorD geNuITy  
reveNue – oTher ForeIgN locATIoNs

other overhead expenses

other overhead expenses excluding significant items were $117.9 million, an increase of $12.4 million. the largest fluctuation  
in other overhead expenses was a $4.6 million increase in general and administrative expense. the remainder of the change in  
other overhead expenses is mostly due to the following: a $2.3 million increase in premises and equipment expense, a $2.0 million 
increase in communication and technology expense, and a $2.0 million increase in interest expense. 

3.2% 4.2%5.4% 3.0% 4.7%

2008 20102009 2011 2012

50.2% 53.7%51.1% 46.7% 52.1%

53.4% 57.9%56.5% 49.7% 56.8%
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Total

3.9% 7.8%7.6% 5.4% 10.7%
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62.2% 41.7%81.9% 47.9% 60.0%

67.4% 51.4%91.6% 55.1% 76.0%
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Total

1.3% 1.9%2.1% 1.8% 5.3% National Health Insurance Tax

2.3% 2.5%3.4% 1.7% 2.4%
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50.7% 54.9%58.0% 44.8% 49.4%
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5.0% 4.5%6.9% 4.6% 5.8%
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51.9% 55.1%46.3% 54.0% 58.2%

56.9% 59.6%53.2% 58.6% 64.0%

Salaries and benefits
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Total

0.5% 0.6%0.8% 53.2% 22.0%

2008 20102009 2011 2012

53.7% 38.5%58.0% 8.9% 51.7%

54.2% 39.1%58.8% 62.1% 73.7%

Salaries and benefits
Incentive compensation

Total
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General and administrative expense increased by $4.6 million or 13.1% in fiscal 2012. this was partially attributable to the  
$1.8 million increase in our other foreign locations segment as we expanded our operations into asia and australia, as well as 
an increase in general and administrative expense incurred in our newly acquired cSHp entities. reserve expense for unsecured 
balances has also increased by $0.9 million in our uK and europe operations. finally, our canaccord Genuity uS operations had 
$0.7 million of higher promotion and travel expense. 

to support the growth in our canaccord Genuity segment, additional office space was required, which was achieved through an 
allocation of existing floor space from the corporate and other segment and through the acquisition of new floor space in our 
canadian and uS operations. this resulted in the $2.3 million increase in premises and equipment expense. communication and 
technology expense increased by $2.0 million from the prior year as a result of the reclassification of certain expenses previously 
included as trading costs, as well as increased expenditures to expand our global platform. increased activity of the fixed income 
group led to interest expense of $8.0 million in fiscal 2012, an increase of $2.0 million over the prior year, which was offset by 
the increase in interest revenue. 

Significant items include restructuring costs, acquisition-related costs, and amortization of intangible assets related to the 
acquisitions of Genuity and a 50% interest in BGf. in fiscal 2012, the company incurred $29.1 million of restructuring costs 
related to the acquisition of cSHp and reorganization of the trading and other operations in canada. acquisition-related costs 
of $10.5 million were also recorded in relation to the acquisition of cSHp and a 50% interest in BGf. in addition, the company 
recognized $5.5 million of amortization of intangible assets. 

INcoMe BeFore INcoMe TAxes AND INTersegMeNT AllocATeD cosTs

loss before income taxes and intersegment allocated costs in fiscal 2012 was $1.7 million compared to income before income 
taxes and intersegment allocated costs of $147.6 million in fiscal 2011. excluding significant items, income before income 
taxes and intersegment allocated costs was $43.4 million compared to $165.4 million in fiscal 2011. the challenging market 
conditions experienced in fiscal 2012 coupled with significant restructuring costs and acquisition-related expense items resulted 
in a net loss in fiscal 2012.

cANAccorD WeAlTh MANAgeMeNT

overview

canaccord’s wealth management division provides a broad range of financial services and investment products to individual 
investors (private clients), institutions and intermediaries, and charities. revenue from Wealth Management is generated through 
traditional commission-based brokerage services; the sale of fee-based products and services; client-related interest; and fees 
and commissions earned by ias for investment banking and venture capital transactions. canaccord now has wealth management 
operations in canada, the uK and europe.

over the past two years, the company has implemented several initiatives as part of a five-year strategic plan to better align 
the investment solutions and services offered by its canadian Wealth Management business with the changing needs and 
preferences of canadian investors. these initiatives have included the launch of etf portfolios, the advancement of ia training 
programs and the enhancement of many of our retail investment solutions. the company is committed to attracting and investing 
in highly experienced ias who are dedicated to providing comprehensive financial solutions to canadian investors. the company is 
also making an investment in training new advisors through the New Advisor Training Program. 

in canada, canaccord Wealth Management has had success in expanding its operations through the iWM. iWM allows ias to work 
under the canaccord Wealth Management brand with full access to canaccord’s back-office and compliance support, products and 
services, while working as independent agents of the company. this business model provides ias with more freedom to run their 
daily business, and, in doing so, transfers the daily expenses, risks and management of operating a branch to the iWM advisory 
team. during fiscal 2012, the company added five new branches under the iWM model, closed three iWM locations and converted 
two corporate branches to the iWM platform. canaccord Wealth Management now has 36 branches across canada, including  
23 operating on the iWM platform. 

through the acquisition of cSHp, canaccord gained a uK and europe wealth management business (collins Stewart Wealth 
Management, also known as cSWM), which has five offices located in the uK, the channel islands, the isle of Man and Switzerland. it is 
expected that collins Stewart Wealth Management will be rebranded canaccord Wealth Management during fiscal 2013. revenue 
generated by collins Stewart Wealth Management is largely produced through fee-based accounts and portfolio management activities. 
the business has a higher proportion of fee-based revenue than canaccord’s canadian wealth management business, and caters to 
both onshore (in the uK) and offshore client accounts. collins Stewart Wealth Management provides its clients with investing options 
from both third party and proprietary financial products, including 12 funds managed by collins Stewart portfolio Managers.
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Industry profile 

ongoing macroeconomic concerns impacted the confidence of retail investors during canaccord’s fiscal year. the market rally of 
early 2011 was met with a sharp drop in market volumes and performance during the summer of 2012. Subdued retail activity 
persisted for the remainder of calendar 2011 and the beginning of 2012. 

in canada, the recruiting environment for high quality investment advisors continues to be very competitive – with some market 
participants making historically high offers to recruit advisors in order to gain scale or expand their distribution channels for 
proprietary fund products. Margins for canadian Wealth Management firms continue to be compressed as market volumes remain 
low compared to previous years. as a result, consolidation was a theme during 2011, with two Wealth Management competitors 
being acquired by other market participants. 

the growth of fee-based accounts continues throughout the industry, as clients choose to benefit from all-inclusive accounts and 
companies focus on generating more consistent revenue streams. in canada, industry fee-based revenues surpassed $3.3 billion 
during calendar 2011, a 14% increase compared to the previous year’s record high.

in the uK, it is expected that increasing regulatory burden will cause many smaller, sub-scale wealth management firms to merge 
or be acquired by larger companies. a wave of consolidation is expected over the next few years, as the largely fragmented uK 
wealth management industry consolidates in order to operate successfully amid new compliance requirements. 

outlook

canaccord’s wealth management division grew considerably through the acquisition of cSHp, with the addition of a strong, 
consistently profitable uK-based wealth management business (cSWM). With over 50% of its revenue derived from recurring,  
fee-based activities, the revenue streams generated through canaccord’s uK and european wealth management business should 
help to improve the stability of the division’s overall performance. 

Management’s priorities for canaccord’s wealth management division will be focused on further integrating the platforms of  
its canadian and uK wealth management businesses to capture cost and revenue synergies; investing in the it infrastructure 
of the division to support the anticipated growth of client assets and client accounts; and strengthening the performance of its 
canadian business.

canaccord expects opportunities to grow the asset and client base of cSWM will emerge over the next several years, as 
increasing regulatory requirements in the uK wealth management industry impose uneconomical demands on smaller industry 
participants. an overall consolidation of the uK wealth management industry is expected, with fewer and larger wealth 
management firms ultimately competing to provide services in this market.

in canada, canaccord’s focus will remain on operating a high quality, profitable wealth management platform, rather than on 
aggressively growing the scale of the business. We expect the recruiting environment will remain very challenging in our domestic 
market, and as a result we are refocusing our efforts on developing high quality advisors internally through the launch of our 
enhanced New Advisor Training Program. this program is aimed at developing new investment advisors who have demonstrated a 
strong desire to join the wealth management industry and have complementary skill sets but come from other professions. 

as technology plays an increasingly important role in this sector, we are also actively reviewing and expanding canaccord’s digital 
strategy to better engage our wealth management clients. investments and initiatives to provide more information to investors 
online, and to advance the ways our advisors interact with their clients, are currently underway.

in addition to canaccord’s wealth management operations in canada, the uK and europe, the company is also developing plans 
to meaningfully grow the specialized wealth management business of canaccord BGf, which operates in australia and Hong Kong. 
expansion is expected to occur through targeted recruiting, and through the build-out of wealth management services and products 
in this market.
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FINANcIAl PerForMANce(1)(2)

  
(c$ thousands, except aua, auM – canada and uK and europe, for the years ended March 31
which are in c$ millions, number of employees, advisory teams,
investment professionals and fund managers, and % amounts)   2012 2011 2012/2011 change 

revenue   $ 201,290 $ 233,049 $ (31,759)  (13.6)%

expenses

 incentive compensation    101,364  116,264  (14,900)  (12.8)%

 Salaries and benefits    15,437  17,865  (2,428)  (13.6)%

 other overhead expenses    44,687  50,184  (5,497)  (11.0)%

 restructuring costs    900  —  900  n.m.

 acquisition-related costs    4,077  —  4,077  n.m.

total expenses    166,465  184,313  (17,848)  (9.7)%

income before income taxes(3)   $ 34,825 $ 48,736 $ (13,911)  (28.5)%

auM – canada (discretionary)(4)    677  546  131  24.0%

aua – canada(5)    14,828  16,985  (2,157)  (12.7)%

auM – uK and europe(6)    13,087  —  13,087  n.m.

total    27,915  16,985  10,930  64.4%

number of advisory teams – canada     280  271  9  3.3%

number of investment professionals and fund managers – uK and europe  106  —  106  n.m.

number of employees    960  684  276  40.4%

excluding significant items    

total expenses    161,488  184,313  (22,825)  (12.4)%

income (loss) before income taxes    39,802  48,736  (8,934)  (18.3)%

(1)  data is in accordance with ifrS except for figures excluding significant items, aua, auM, number of advisory teams, number of investment professionals and fund managers, and number of employees.
(2)  includes canaccord Wealth Management operations in canada and in the uK and europe. operating results from former collins Stewart Wealth Management since March 22, 2012 are also included.
(3)  See the intersegment allocated costs section on page 52.
(4)  auM in canada are assets managed on a discretionary basis under our programs generally described as or known as the Complete Canaccord Investment Counselling Program and the Complete 

Canaccord Managed Account Program.
(5)  aua in canada is the market value of client assets administered by canaccord, for which canaccord earns commissions or fees. 
(6)  auM in the uK and europe is the market value of client assets managed and administered by canaccord, for which canaccord earns commissions or fees. this measure includes both discretionary 

and non-discretionary accounts.
n.m.: not meaningful

fiscal 2012 revenue from canaccord Wealth Management was $201.3 million, a decrease of 13.6% or $31.8 million from fiscal 
2011. this drop was attributable to decreases in commission revenue of $18.8 million and investment banking revenue of  
$16.1 million, offset by an increase in interest revenue of $2.4 million and other revenue of $2.3 million. 

aua in canada decreased by 12.7% to $14.8 billion at March 31, 2012, primarily due to poor market performance. auM in 
canada increased by 24.0% compared to fiscal 2011 due to an increase in the number of managed accounts. there were 280 
advisory teams in canada, up by nine from a year ago. 

through the acquisition of cSHp, canaccord Wealth Management expanded its wealth management business segment into the 
uK and europe. auM in the uK and europe as of March 31, 2012 was $13.1 billion.

expenses for fiscal 2012 were $166.5 million, a decrease of 9.7% or $17.8 million from fiscal 2011. total compensation expense 
decreased due to a drop in incentive compensation expense of $14.9 million as a result of lower revenue, as well as a decrease 
in salaries and benefits expense of $2.4 million due to charges related to staff reductions recognized in the prior year. 
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ToTAl coMPeNsATIoN As A % oF cANAccorD WeAlTh MANAgeMeNT reveNue

excluding significant items, non-compensation expense was $44.7 million, down $5.5 million compared to $50.2 million in the 
prior year. this was mainly due to a decrease of $3.3 million in general and administrative expense because of lower provisions 
for client settlements. development costs also decreased by $1.0 million due to lower hiring incentives incurred. Significant items 
incurred during fiscal 2012 included acquisition-related costs of $4.1 million related to the purchase of cSHp and restructuring 
costs of $0.9 million recognized related to restructuring of the canadian canaccord Wealth Management group.

income before income taxes and intersegment allocated costs for canaccord Wealth Management during fiscal 2012 and 
2011 was $34.8 million and $48.7 million, respectively. lower revenue in this segment combined with acquisition-related and 
restructuring costs was the primary contributor to the decrease in income before income taxes and intersegment allocated costs 
during fiscal 2012.

corPorATe AND oTher segMeNT

the corporate and other segment includes pinnacle correspondent Services (canaccord’s correspondent brokerage services 
division), interest, foreign exchange revenue, and expenses not specifically allocable to canaccord Genuity or canaccord Wealth 
Management. pinnacle provides trade execution, clearing, settlement, custody, and front- and back-office services to other 
introducing brokerage firms. the pinnacle business unit was developed as an extension and application of canaccord’s substantial 
investment in its information technology and operating infrastructure. 

also included in this segment are canaccord’s operations and support services departments, which are responsible for front- and 
back-office information technology systems, compliance and risk management, operations, finance, and other administrative 
functions. canaccord has approximately 378 employees in the corporate and other segment. the majority of canaccord’s 
corporate support functions are based in Vancouver and toronto, canada. 

the operations group is responsible for all activity in connection with processing securities transactions, including trade execution, 
settlement of securities transactions and custody of client securities. the finance department is responsible for internal financial 
accounting and controls, and external financial and regulatory reporting, while the compliance department is responsible for client 
credit and account monitoring in relation to certain legal and financial regulatory requirements. canaccord’s risk management and 
compliance activities include procedures to identify, control, measure and monitor canaccord’s risk exposure at all times. 

6.3% 9.8%8.6% 7.6% 7.6%

2008 20102009 2011 2012

46.4% 47.4%43.1% 49.9% 50.4%

52.7% 57.2%51.7% 57.5% 58.0%

Salaries and benefits
Incentive compensation

Total
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FINANcIAl PerForMANce(1)

  for the years ended March 31

(c$ thousands, except number of employees and % amounts)   2012 2011 2012/2011 change 

revenue   $ 30,097 $ 31,938 $ (1,841)  (5.8)%

expenses

 incentive compensation    9,139  21,462  (12,323)  (57.4)%

 Salaries and benefits    30,671  30,173  498  1.7%

 other overhead expenses    32,776  34,129  (1,353)  (4.0)%

 restructuring costs    5,275  —  5,275  n.m.

 acquisition-related costs    1,513  —  1,513  n.m.

total expenses    79,374  85,764  (6,390)  (7.5)%

loss before income taxes(2)   $ (49,277) $ (53,826) $ 4,549  8.5%

number of employees    378  373  5  1.3%

excluding significant items    

total expenses    72,586  85,764  (13,178)  (15.4)%

loss before income taxes   $ (42,489) $ (53,826) $ 11,337  21.1%

(1)  data is in accordance with ifrS except for figures excluding significant items and number of employees.
(2)  See the intersegment allocated costs section below.
n.m.: not meaningful

revenue for fiscal 2012 was $30.1 million, a decrease of $1.8 million or 5.8% from fiscal 2011. the change was mainly due to a 
$4.6 million decrease in other revenue offset by a $3.1 million increase in interest revenue. other revenue decreased as a result 
of a reduction in foreign exchange gains related to the fluctuations in the canadian dollar, and interest revenue increased due to 
higher interest rates and higher balances held in interest-earning accounts.

fiscal 2012 expenses were $79.4 million, a decrease of $6.4 million or 7.5%. the $12.3 million decrease in incentive compensation 
expense resulted from the lower profitability of the consolidated group of companies. premises and equipment decreased by 
$1.4 million or 20.1% due to cost containment efforts in this segment, and the reallocation of certain expenses to the canaccord 
Genuity segment. during the year ended March 31, 2012, the company incurred restructuring charges of $5.3 million related to staff 
reductions in this segment as well as $1.5 million of acquisition-related costs in relation to prospective acquisitions not pursued. 

loss before income taxes and intersegment allocated costs was $49.3 million for fiscal 2012 compared to $53.8 million for the  
prior year. 

oPerATIoNAl hIghlIghTs 

the strength of canaccord’s back-office team was evident during the integrations of cSHp and canaccord BGf during fiscal 2012. 
the transition of these two operations onto the canaccord platform enabled the company to focus on creating value for clients 
and shareholders through the acquisitions. all of the integration was managed internally, and its success was due entirely to the 
skills and commitment of canaccord’s back-office and support team.

canaccord’s pinnacle correspondent Services is also reported within the corporate and other segment. this division enables 
us to leverage our infrastructure investments and technology capabilities. through its proprietary web portal, pinnacle provides 
access to state-of-the-art front- and back-office services to its correspondent clients. canaccord has made a substantial long term 
commitment to this line of business, and continues to view it as an important component of our business-to-business  
service offerings.

INTersegMeNT AllocATeD cosTs

included in the corporate and other segment are certain trade processing, support services, research and other expenses 
that have been incurred to support the activities within the canaccord Genuity and canaccord Wealth Management segments. 
excluding executive incentive compensation and certain administrative support, foreign exchange gains and losses, and net 
interest, management has determined that allocable costs from corporate and other to canaccord Wealth Management were 
$35.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2012, and to canaccord Genuity were $11.9 million.
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Financial condition

Below are selected balance sheet items for the past five years:(1)

  Balance sheet summary as at March 31

(c$ thousands) 2012 2011 2010 2009  2008 

   IFrs  ifrS  cGaap  cGaap  cGaap

Assets

cash and cash equivalents $ 814,238 $ 954,068 $ 731,852  $ 701,173 $ 435,649

Securities owned  1,171,988  947,185  362,755   133,691  92,796

accounts receivable  3,081,640  2,828,812  1,972,924   1,061,161  1,422,917

income taxes recoverable  8,301  —  —  23,771  11,083

deferred tax assets  3,959  1,503  13,190  15,680  28,207

investments  9,493  5,934  5,000  5,000  5,000

investment in asset-backed commercial paper (aBcp)  —  —  —  35,312  29,860

equipment and leasehold improvements  51,084  40,818  38,127   46,311  40,686

Goodwill and other intangible assets  622,020  319,180  —   —  32,520

total assets $ 5,762,723 $ 5,097,500 $ 3,123,848 $ 2,022,099 $ 2,098,718

liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Bank indebtedness $ 75,141 $ 13,580 $ 29,435  $ 75,600 $ 15,038

Short term credit facility  150,000  —  —  —  —

Securities sold short  914,649  722,613  364,137   79,426  13,757

accounts payable and accrued liabilities  3,590,266  3,557,275  2,308,146  1,469,369  1,687,479

income taxes payable  —  23,977  5,385  —  —

deferred tax liabilities  8,088  8,163  —  —  —

Subordinated debt  15,000  15,000  15,000  25,000  25,000

Shareholders’ equity  992,125  756,892  401,745  372,704  357,444

non-controlling interests  17,454  —  —  —  —

total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 5,762,723 $ 5,097,500 $ 3,123,848 $ 2,022,099 $ 2,098,718

(1)  the company adopted ifrS beginning april 1, 2011. consequently, data for the year ended March 31, 2012 and the comparative period ended March 31, 2011 is in compliance with ifrS. figures 
for periods prior to March 31, 2011 are in accordance with cGaap.

AsseTs

cash and cash equivalents were $814.2 million on March 31, 2012 compared to $954.1 million on March 31, 2011. refer to the 
liquidity and capital resources section for more details.

Securities owned were $1.2 billion compared to $947.2 million on March 31, 2011, mainly attributable to an increase in both 
corporate and government debt, and equities and convertible debentures.

accounts receivable were $3.1 billion on March 31, 2012, compared to $2.8 billion on March 31, 2011, as a result of an increase 
in receivables from brokers and investment dealers. Goodwill was $472.5 million and intangible assets were $149.5 million, 
representing the goodwill and intangible assets acquired from the acquisition of Genuity, tBG, 50% interest in BGf, and cSHp.

other assets in aggregate were $72.8 million at March 31, 2012 compared to $48.3 million at March 31, 2011. the increase 
was mainly due to an increase in deferred tax asset, equipment and leasehold improvements, income taxes recoverable, and 
investments. equipment and leasehold improvements increased mainly as a result of our acquisition of cSHp. deferred tax asset 
increased due to balances acquired from cSHp and BGf.
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lIABIlITIes AND shAreholDers’ equITy

Bank overdrafts and call loan facilities utilized by canaccord may vary significantly on a day-to-day basis and depend on securities 
trading activity. on March 31, 2012 canaccord had available credit facilities with banks in canada, and the uK and europe in the 
aggregate amount of $650.4 million [March 31, 2011 – $434.6 million]. these credit facilities, consisting of call loans, letters 
of credit and daylight overdraft facilities, are collateralized by either unpaid client securities and/or securities owned by the 
company. on March 31, 2012 there was bank indebtedness of $75.1 million, compared to $13.6 million on March 31, 2011.

in addition to the credit facilities discussed above, the company entered into a $150.0 million senior secured credit agreement  
to finance a portion of the cash consideration for its acquisition of cSHp. the balance outstanding at March 31, 2012 was  
$150.0 million.

accounts payable and provisions were $3.6 billion, showing little change from March 31, 2011. 

Securities sold short were $914.6 million, an increase of $192.0 million compared to $722.6 million at March 31, 2011. this 
increase was a result of an increase in corporate and government debt, and equities and convertible debentures. 

deferred tax liabilities of $8.1 million remained relatively consistent compared to fiscal 2011. 

other liabilities were $15.0 million at March 31, 2012 and $39.0 million at March 31, 2011. the decrease was mainly due to the 
decrease in income taxes payable.

off-Balance sheet Arrangements

a subsidiary of the company has entered into secured irrevocable standby letters of credit from a financial institution totalling 
$1.9 million (uS$1.9 million) [March 31, 2011 – $2.2 million (uS$2.3 million)] as rent guarantees for its leased premises in 
Boston	and	New	York.

the following table summarizes canaccord’s long term contractual obligations on March 31, 2012.

  contractual obligations payments due by period

    fiscal 2014– fiscal 2016–
(c$ thousands) total fiscal 2013 fiscal 2015 fiscal 2017 thereafter

premises and equipment operating leases $ 263,226 $ 33,300 $ 65,956 $ 53,714 $ 110,256

liquidity and capital resources

canaccord has a capital structure comprised of preferred shares, common shares, contributed surplus, retained earnings and 
accumulated other comprehensive losses, which is further complemented by subordinated debt. 

on March 31, 2012 cash and cash equivalents were $814.2 million, a decrease of $139.8 million from $954.1 million as of 
March 31, 2011. during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, financing activities provided cash in the amount of $232.0 million, 
which was primarily due to the drawdown of the $150 million short term credit facility and $110.8 million of net proceeds from the 
Series a preferred Shares issuance, offset by payment of dividends on the preferred and common shares. investing activities used 
cash in the amount of $196.7 million, primarily related to the acquisitions of cSHp and 50% interest in BGf. operating activities 
used cash in the amount of $177.3 million, which was due to net loss recognized during the year and changes in working capital. 
an increase in cash of $2.1 million was attributable to the effect of foreign exchange on cash balances. 

canaccord’s business requires capital for operating and regulatory purposes. the majority of current assets reflected on 
canaccord’s balance sheet are highly liquid. the majority of the positions held as securities owned are readily marketable and all 
are recorded at their fair value. the fair value of these securities fluctuates daily as factors such as changes in market conditions, 
economic conditions and investor outlook affect market prices. client receivables are secured by readily marketable securities 
and are reviewed daily for impairment in value and collectibility. receivables and payables from brokers and dealers represent the 
following: current open transactions that generally settle within the normal three-day settlement cycle; collateralized securities 
borrowed and/or loaned in transactions that can be closed within a few days on demand; and balances on behalf of introducing 
brokers representing net balances in connection with their client accounts.
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outstanding common share Data
 
  outstanding common shares  
  as of March 31

     2012 2011 

issued shares outstanding excluding unvested shares(1)        94,025,877 75,403,640

issued shares outstanding(2)         101,688,721 82,809,623

issued shares outstanding – diluted(3)        106,883,242 85,655,328

average shares outstanding – basic        76,715,248 72,989,655

average shares outstanding – diluted(4)         84,682,497 81,716,618

(1)  excludes 3,209,336 outstanding unvested shares related to share purchase loans for recruitment and 4,453,508 unvested shares purchased by the employee benefit trust for the ltip. 
(2)  includes 3,209,336 unvested shares related to share purchase loans for recruitment and 4,453,508 unvested shares purchased by the employee benefit trust for the ltip.
(3)  includes 5,194,521 of share issuance commitments.
(4)  this is the diluted share number used to calculate diluted epS.

the company has filed an nciB to allow for the purchase of up to 2,000,000 of its common shares through the facilities of the 
tSX from June 13, 2011 to June 12, 2012. the purchase of common shares under the nciB will enable the company to acquire 
shares for cancellation. the shares that may be repurchased represent 2.0% of the company’s outstanding common shares as at 
March 31, 2012. there were 700,500 shares repurchased through the nciB between June 13, 2011 and March 31, 2012 that were 
subsequently cancelled.

as of May 23, 2012, the company has 101,722,220 common shares issued and outstanding. 

IssuANce AND cANcellATIoN oF coMMoN shAre cAPITAl

      Fiscal 2012

Total common shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2011          82,809,623

Shares issued in relation to the acquisition of 50% interest in BGf         623,796

Shares issued in relation to the acquisition of cSHp           18,273,812

Shares issued in connection with share-based payment plans         841,113

Shares cancelled under the nciB           (700,500)

Shares cancelled in connection with share-based payment plans         (100,075)

Shares cancelled related to forfeited escrowed shares           (59,048)

Total common shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2012         101,688,721

Preferred shares

serIes A PreFerreD shAres

On	June	23,	2011,	the	Company	issued	4,000,000	Cumulative	5-Year	Rate	Reset	First	Preferred	Shares,	Series	A	(Series	A	
preferred Shares) at a purchase price of $25.00 per share, for gross proceeds of $100 million. on July 7, 2011, the company 
closed the over-allotment option and issued an additional 540,000 Series a preferred Shares at $25.00 per share for gross 
proceeds of $13.5 million.

the aggregate net amount recognized after deducting issue costs, net of deferred taxes of $1.0 million, was $110.8 million. 
Quarterly cumulative cash dividends, if declared, will be paid at an annual rate of 5.5% for the initial five-year period ending on 
September 30, 2016. thereafter, the dividend rate will be reset every five years at a rate equal to the five-year Government of 
canada bond yield plus 3.21%. 

Holders of Series a preferred Shares have the right, at their option, to convert any or all of their shares into an equal number  
of cumulative floating rate first preferred Shares, Series B (Series B preferred Shares), subject to certain conditions, on  
September 30, 2016 and on September 30 every five years thereafter. Holders of the Series B preferred Shares will be entitled 
to receive floating rate, cumulative, preferential dividends payable quarterly, if declared, at a rate equal to the three-month 
Government of canada treasury Bill yield plus 3.21%. 
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the company has the option to redeem the Series a preferred Shares on September 30, 2016 and on September 30 every five 
years thereafter, in whole or in part, at $25.00 per share together with all declared and unpaid dividends. the Series B preferred 
Shares are redeemable at the company’s option on September 30, 2021 and on September 30 every five years thereafter, in 
whole or in part, at $25.00 per share together with all declared and unpaid dividends.

serIes c PreFerreD shAres

On	March	22,	2012,	the	Company	announced	that	it	has	agreed	to	issue	4,000,000	Cumulative	5-Year	Rate	Reset	First	Preferred	
Shares, Series c (Series c preferred Shares) at a purchase price of $25.00 per share, for gross proceeds of $100 million. 
Quarterly cumulative cash dividends, if declared, will be paid at an annual rate of 5.75% for the initial five-year period ending on 
September 30, 2016. thereafter, the dividend rate will be reset every five years at a rate equal to the five-year Government of 
canada bond yield plus 4.03%. 

Holders of Series c preferred Shares have the right, at their option, to convert any or all of their shares into an equal number of 
cumulative floating rate first preferred Shares, Series d (Series d preferred Shares), subject to certain conditions, on June 30, 
2017 and on June 30 every five years thereafter. Holders of the Series c preferred Shares will be entitled to receive floating rate, 
cumulative, preferential dividends payable quarterly, if declared, at a rate equal to the three-month Government of canada treasury 
Bill yield plus 4.03%. 

the company has the option to redeem the Series c preferred Shares on June 30, 2017 and on June 30 every five years 
thereafter, in whole or in part, at $25.00 per share together with all declared and unpaid dividends. the Series d preferred Shares 
are redeemable at the company’s option on June 30, 2021 and on June 30 every five years thereafter, in whole or in part, at 
$25.00 per share together with all declared and unpaid dividends.

the offering closed subsequent to fiscal year end on april 10, 2012. the net amount recognized after deducting issue costs, net of 
deferred taxes of $1.0 million, was $97.3 million. 

outstanding Preferred share Data

IssuANce oF PreFerreD shAre cAPITAl
      Fiscal 2012

Total series A preferred shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2011         —

Series a preferred Shares issued           4,000,000

over-allotment of Series a preferred Shares issued            540,000

Total preferred shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2012         4,540,000

share-Based Payment Plans

shAre oPTIoNs

the company grants share options to purchase common shares of the company to independent directors and senior management. 
the independent directors and senior management have been granted options to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,482,675 common  
shares of the company. the stock options vest over a four- to five-year period and expire seven years after the grant date. the 
weighted average exercise price of the share options is $9.83 per common share.

loNg-TerM INceNTIve PlAN 

under the ltip, eligible participants are awarded restricted share units (rSus), which generally vest over three years. for employees 
in canada, an employee benefit trust (the trust) has been established, and either (a) the company will fund the trust with cash, 
which will be used by the trustee to purchase on the open market common shares of the company that will be held in trust by 
the trustee until the rSus vest or (b) the company will issue common shares from treasury to participants following vesting of 
the rSus. for employees in the uS and the uK, the company will allot common shares at the time of each rSu award, and these 
shares will be issued from treasury at the time they vest for each participant. 
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DeFerreD shAre uNITs 

Beginning april 1, 2011, the company adopted a deferred share unit (dSu) plan for its independent directors. the independent 
directors can elect to have fees payable to them paid in the form of dSus or in cash. directors must elect annually as to how 
they wish their directors’ fees to be paid and can specify the allocation of their directors’ fees between dSus and cash. When 
a director leaves the Board of directors, outstanding dSus are paid out in cash, with the amount equal to the number of dSus 
granted multiplied by the closing share price as of the end of the fiscal quarter immediately following such terminations. under the 
plan, the directors are not entitled to receive any common shares in the company, and under no circumstances will dSus confer 
on any participant any of the rights or privileges of a holder of common shares. 

coMMoN shAre PurchAse loANs

the company provides forgivable common share purchase loans to employees in order to purchase common shares. these loans 
are forgiven over a vesting period. no interest is charged related to the share purchase loans. the common share purchase loans 
include the employee stock incentive plan, the bonus compensation plan, and the partnership program. 

reTeNTIoN PlAN

in connection with the acquisition of tBG, the company established a retention plan that provides for the issuance of up to 
approximately 1,187,800 common shares of the company to key employees of canaccord Genuity asia over a five-year graded 
vesting period based on future asia-linked revenue. in addition, the applicable number of retention shares is included in diluted 
common shares outstanding. 

rePlAceMeNT PlANs

as a result of the acquisition of cSHp, the company introduced the replacement annual Bonus equity deferral (aBed) plan, which 
replaced the aBed plans that existed at cSHp as of the acquisition date. eligible employees who participated in the cSHp aBed 
plan were granted awards under the replacement aBed plan. in addition, the company introduced the replacement long-term 
incentive plan (ltip), which replaced the existing ltips at cSHp as of the acquisition date for eligible employees. 

corAzoN cAPITAl grouP lIMITeD shAre PlAN 

in connection with the acquisition of cSHp, the company assumed the outstanding obligation under the corazon capital Group 
limited Share plan (the corazon Share plan). the corazon Share plan was entered into by cSHp in relation to its acquisition of 
corazon capital Group limited, an independent, Guernsey-based investment management firm. the obligation will be paid in the 
form of 170,562 number of canaccord common shares, which will vest in March 2013, and cash consideration of $2.2 million 
(£1.4 million). 

oTher reTeNTIoN AND INceNTIve PlANs

during the course of the fiscal year, the company may have had other retention and incentive plans, including the employee stock 
purchase plan, with individual employees, for which the amount incurred was not significant in aggregate. 

International Financial centre

canaccord is a member of the advantageBc international Business centre Society (formerly known as the international financial 
centre British columbia Society) and the Montréal international financial centre, both of which provide certain tax and financial 
benefits pursuant to the International Business Activity Act of British columbia and the Act Respecting International Financial 
Centres of Québec. accordingly, canaccord’s overall income tax rate is less than the rate that would otherwise be applicable.

Foreign exchange

canaccord manages its foreign exchange risk by periodically hedging pending settlements in foreign currencies. realized and 
unrealized gains and losses related to these transactions are recognized in income during the period. on March 31, 2012, forward 
contracts outstanding to sell uS dollars had a notional amount of uS$13.3 million, an increase of uS$8.3 million from a year ago.  
forward contracts outstanding to buy uS dollars had a notional amount of uS$9.3 million, a decrease of uS$15.8 million compared 
to a year ago. canaccord’s operations in the uS, the uK and europe, australia, Hong Kong and china are conducted in the local 
currency; however, any foreign exchange risk in respect of these transactions is generally limited as pending settlements on both 
sides of the transaction are typically in the local currency. 
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related Party Transactions

the company’s related parties include the following persons and/or entities: (a) entities that are controlled or significantly 
influenced by the company, and (b) key management personnel, who are comprised of the directors of the company, as well as 
executives involved in strategic decision-making for the company. 

Security trades executed for employees, officers and directors of canaccord are transacted in accordance with terms and 
conditions applicable to all clients. commission income on such transactions in the aggregate is not material in relation to the 
overall operations of canaccord.

the company offers various share-based payment plans to its key management personnel, including common share purchase 
loans, a long-term incentive plan and share options. directors have also been granted share options and have the right to 
acquire dSus. please see note 19 of the audited consolidated financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2012 for 
further information on the compensation of and transactions with key management personnel. note 19 of the March 31, 2012 
consolidated financial Statements also includes the accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance 
with key management personnel. 

critical Accounting Policies and estimates 

the following is a summary of canaccord’s critical accounting estimates. canaccord’s accounting policies are in accordance with 
ifrS and are described in note 5 to the audited consolidated financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2012. 

the preparation of the March 31, 2012 consolidated financial statements in conformity with ifrS requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements. therefore, actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions. the 
significant estimates include share-based payments, income taxes, tax losses available for carryforward, impairment of goodwill, 
indefinite life intangible assets and other long-lived assets, allowance for credit losses, fair value of financial instruments, and 
provisions. Significant accounting policies used and policies requiring management’s judgment and estimates are disclosed in 
notes 2 and 5 of the audited consolidated financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2012. 

BusINess coMBINATIoNs 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. the cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate 
of the fair value of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the company, measured at 
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. for each business combination, the 
company elects whether it measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share 
of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. the proportionate share method was selected for the acquisition of the 
50% interest in canaccord BGf. acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. 

the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under ifrS 3, 
“Business Combinations” (ifrS 3), are recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date except for non-current assets (or 
disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with ifrS 5, “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations”, which are recognized and measured at fair value less cost to sell. 

any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date at the best 
estimate of such amount. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that are deemed to be a liability 
will be recognized in the statements of operations. 

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the consideration 
transferred over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. if this consideration is lower than the 
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. 

after initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. for the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill acquired in each of the business combinations is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the company’s 
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the corresponding combinations, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 
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gooDWIll

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid for the acquisition of subsidiaries over the fair value of the identifiable 
tangible and intangible assets acquired. following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. 

INTANgIBle AsseTs

identifiable intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. the cost of identifiable intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is equal to their fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

following initial recognition, identifiable intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

the useful lives of identifiable intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. identifiable intangible assets with 
finite lives are amortized over their useful economic lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
identifiable intangible asset may be impaired. the amortization period and the amortization method for an identifiable intangible 
asset are reviewed at least annually, at each financial year end. identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not 
amortized, but are tested for impairment annually.

IMPAIrMeNT oF gooDWIll AND INTANgIBle AsseTs

after initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. for the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill acquired in a business acquisition is allocated to each of the company’s cash-generating units that are expected 
to benefit from the acquisition. Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances 
suggest that there may be impairment. a write-down is recognized if the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, determined 
as the greater of the estimated fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use, is less than the carrying value. any impairment of 
goodwill is expensed in the period in which the impairment is identified. impairment losses relating to goodwill are not reversed if 
there is a subsequent recovery in value of the cash-generating unit.

intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but are assessed for impairment annually or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that there may be impairment. indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment 
by comparing the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units to which they have been allocated to the carrying values of 
that cash-generating unit. an impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. in estimating the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, the company uses a value-in-use approach 
based on the projected discounted cash flows to be derived from these assets. 

at each reporting date, intangible assets are assessed for indicators of impairment. if indicators are present, these assets are 
subject to an impairment review. any loss resulting from impairment of intangible assets is expensed in the period the impairment 
is identified. impairment losses may be reversed in the future, but not exceeding the carrying amount that would have been 
determined if there was no impairment loss.

reveNue recogNITIoN

revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the company and the revenue can 
be reliably measured. the company assesses its revenue arrangements in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. 

commission revenue consists of revenue generated through commission-based brokerage services, recognized on a trade date 
basis, and the sale of fee-based products and services, recognized on an accrual basis. realized and unrealized gains and losses 
on securities purchased for client-related transactions are reported as net facilitation losses and recorded as a reduction of 
commission revenues. 
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investment banking revenue consists of underwriting fees and commissions earned on corporate finance activities. revenue from 
underwritings and other corporate finance activities is recorded when the underlying transaction is substantially completed under 
the engagement terms and the related revenue is reasonably determinable. 

advisory fees consist of management and advisory fees that are recognized on an accrual basis. also included in advisory fees is 
revenue from mergers and acquisitions activities, which is recognized when the underlying transaction is substantially completed 
under the engagement terms and the related revenue is reasonably determinable. 

principal trading revenue consists of income earned in connection with principal trading operations and is recognized on a trade 
date basis.

interest revenue consists of interest earned on client margin accounts, interest earned on the company’s cash and cash 
equivalents balances, interest earned on cash delivered in support of securities borrowing activity, and dividends earned on 
securities owned. interest revenue is recognized on an effective interest rate basis. dividend income is recognized when the right 
to receive payment is established. 

other revenue includes foreign exchange gains or losses, revenue earned from our correspondent brokerage services and 
administrative fees revenues.

INcoMe TAxes

current income tax

income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the taxation authorities. the tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amounts are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted, at the reporting date, in the countries where the company operates and generates taxable income.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations 
are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax

deferred taxes are accounted for using the liability method. this method requires that deferred taxes reflect the expected deferred 
tax effect of temporary differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
statement purposes and their tax bases. 

deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except for taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences 
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized. the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets 
are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. unrecognized deferred tax assets are assessed at each 
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered. 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period. deferred tax is charged or credited in the statements of operations except where it relates to items that may 
be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is recognized directly against equity. 

shAre-BAseD PAyMeNTs

employees (including senior executives and directors) of the company receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). 
independent directors also receive dSus as part of their remuneration, which can only be settled in cash (cash-settled transactions). 
the dilutive effect of outstanding options and share-based payments is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
diluted earnings per common share. 



 canaccord financial inc.  2012 annual report 61

Management’s discussion and analysis

equity-settled transactions

for equity-settled transactions, the company measures the fair value of share-based awards as of the grant date and recognizes 
the cost as an expense over the applicable vesting period with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus. the cost is 
recognized on a graded basis. 

the company estimates the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest when calculating the amortization expense.  
no expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest. 

When share-based awards vest, contributed surplus is reduced by the applicable amount and share capital is increased by the 
same amount.

cash-settled transactions

cash-settled transactions are measured initially at fair value at the grant date. the fair values of dSus are expensed upon 
grant, as there are no vesting conditions. the liability is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date up to and including the 
settlement date, with changes in fair value recognized through the statements of operations. 

ProvIsIoNs

provisions are recognized when the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. the expense relating to any provision is presented in the statements of operations net of any 
reimbursement. if the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 
reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognized as an interest expense. 

Future changes in Accounting Policies and estimates

FINANcIAl INsTruMeNTs

in november 2009, the iaSB issued ifrS 9, “Financial Instruments” (ifrS 9). the iaSB intends that ifrS 9 will ultimately replace 
iaS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (iaS 39), in its entirety. However, the iaSB has divided its project  
to replace iaS 39 into three main phases. as the iaSB completes each phase, it will delete the relevant portions of iaS 39  
and create additions to ifrS 9 that replace the requirements in iaS 39. the three main phases of the iaSB’s project to replace 
iaS 39 are:

(a) phase 1: classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
(b) phase 2: impairment methodology
(c) phase 3: Hedge accounting

in november 2009, the iaSB issued ifrS 9, which introduced a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured 
at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in iaS 39. the approach in ifrS 9 is based on how an entity manages 
its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 

in october 2010, the iaSB issued additions to ifrS 9 that provide guidance on the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities. Most of the requirements in iaS 39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward 
unchanged to ifrS 9. 

following the iaSB’s decision in december 2011 to defer the effective date, the standard is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2015 with early adoption permitted. the company has not yet determined the impact of ifrS 9 on its 
consolidated financial statements. the iaSB is continuing its deliberations with respect to the second and third phases of this 
financial instruments project. 



 62 canaccord financial inc.  2012 annual report

Management’s discussion and analysis

PreseNTATIoN oF FINANcIAl sTATeMeNTs

iaS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements” (iaS 1), was amended by the iaSB in June 2011. items in other comprehensive 
income will be required to be presented in two categories: items that might be reclassified into profit or loss and those that will 
not be reclassified. the flexibility to present a statement of comprehensive income as one statement or two separate statements 
of profit and loss and other comprehensive income remains unchanged. the amendments to iaS 1 are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after July 1, 2012.

oTher sTANDArDs

the iaSB issued the following standards in May 2011. these standards are effective for the annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. the company has not assessed the impact that these new and amended 
standards will have on its consolidated financial statements. 

IFrs 10 – “Consolidated Financial Statements” (IFrs 10)

ifrS 10 replaces iaS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” (iaS 27) and Sic-12, “Consolidation – Special Purpose 
Entities”. this standard introduces a single consolidation model for all entities based on control, which is defined as whether an 
investor has (1) power over the investee, (2) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and  
(3) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of returns. 

IFrs 11 – “Joint Arrangements” (IFrs 11)

ifrS 11 replaces iaS 31, “Interests in Joint Ventures” and Sic-13 “Jointly Controlled Entities”. under this standard, joint 
arrangements will be differentiated between joint operations and joint ventures. a joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby 
the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities. for a joint operation, the venturer will 
recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. a joint venture is a joint arrangement 
whereby the parties that have joint control have rights to the net assets and will be accounted for using the equity method. 

IFrs 12 – “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” (IFrs 12)

ifrS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interest in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special 
purpose vehicles and off-balance sheet vehicles. 

IFrs 13 – “Fair Value Measurement” (IFrs 13)

ifrS 13 is a comprehensive standard that defines fair value, sets out a single ifrS framework for measuring fair value and 
requires disclosures about fair value measurements. this new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. 

IAs 27 – “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” and IAs 28 – “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (IAs 28)

the iaSB has also made amendments to existing standards, including iaS 27 and iaS 28. iaS 27 addresses accounting for 
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial statements. iaS 28 has been amended to 
include joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes in ifrS 10 to ifrS 13.
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Business combinations

[i] BgF capital group Pty ltd

on July 31, 2011, the company announced that it had signed a definitive agreement to acquire a 50% interest in BGf capital 
Group pty ltd, a boutique investment bank based in australia, with offices in Melbourne, Sydney and Hong Kong. the transaction 
was completed on november 1, 2011 for consideration consisting of 623,796 canaccord common shares valued at $5.7 million  
[aud$5.5 million] and cash of $36.5 million [aud$34.7 million]. the shares issued were valued at $9.20 per common share 
based on the closing share price as of november 1, 2011, the closing date of the transaction, in accordance with ifrS 3, “Business 
Combinations”. all of the canaccord common shares issued as part of the purchase price were placed in escrow at closing and will 
be released ratably over five years. Subsequent to the closing of the transaction, BGf was rebranded as canaccord BGf.

the purchase agreement grants the company a call option to purchase the remaining 50% interest in BGf. the option is 
exercisable by the company for a three-month period commencing on november 1, 2016 at a price to be determined at that 
time by reference to canaccord BGf’s profits. as the option price is expected to approximate fair market value at the time it is 
exercisable, the value of this call option is nominal.

in accordance with iaS 27, the company has consolidated the operating results of canaccord BGf and recognized a 50% non-
controlling interest, which at the acquisition date represented the portion of canaccord BGf net identifiable assets not controlled 
by the company. 

the company has determined the purchase price allocation for this acquisition and has disclosed the allocation in its March 31, 
2012 audited consolidated financial Statements. please see note 11 of the audited consolidated financial Statements for the 
year ended March 31, 2012 for further information.

[ii] collins stewart hawkpoint plc

on december 15, 2011, the company announced that it had made an offer to acquire 100% of cSHp, an independent investment 
bank based in the uK, with operations in europe, the uS and Singapore. this transaction closed on March 21, 2012. the total 
purchase consideration of $400.1 million (£254.2 million) was paid as a combination of cash and canaccord common shares.

the cash consideration payable was funded through a combination of borrowing under a short term credit facility, pursuant to a 
$150 million senior secured credit agreement, and the company’s existing cash resources. net proceeds from the issuance of 
Series c preferred Shares, which closed on april 10, 2012, were used towards reducing the outstanding borrowings under this 
short term credit facility. 

the fair value of cSHp’s net tangible assets was $141.9 million, which included accounts receivable of $908 million. identifiable 
intangible assets of $64.2 million were recognized and include brand names, customer relationships, sales backlog, and technology 
[See note 12 of the audited consolidated financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2012]. the goodwill of  
$201.9 million represents the value of expected synergies arising from the acquisition. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. 

the above amounts are estimates, which were made by management at the time of the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements based on available information. amendments may be made to these amounts while values subject to estimates are 
finalized for a period of up to 12 months subsequent to the close of the acquisition. 

the aggregate acquisition-related costs incurred by the company in connection with the acquisition of cSHp are $13.1 million. 
these costs are mainly comprised of professional and consulting fees. in addition to the acquisition-related costs incurred 
during the year ended March 31, 2012 the company also incurred restructuring expenses of $20.8 million in connection with the 
closing of the acquisition and other expenditures related to the integration of the operations of the common business units of the 
company and cSHp.

the company intends to put in place a £15 million retention plan for key cSHp staff. the company intends to implement this 
retention plan by the award of up to 2,036,785 restricted share units under a “cSHp inducement plan”, which would vest on the 
third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the completion of the acquisition, and the award of the balance of the plan as restricted 
share units under the existing ltip, which would vest on the first and second anniversaries of the completion of the acquisition.
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Disclosure controls and Procedures and Internal control over Financial reporting

DIsclosure coNTrols AND ProceDures

as of March 31, 2012, an evaluation was carried out, under the supervision of and with the participation of management, including 
the president & ceo and the executive Vice president & cfo, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as 
defined under National Instrument 52-109. Based on that evaluation, the president & ceo and the executive Vice president & cfo 
concluded that the design and operation of these disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of and during the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2012, except in the scope limitation noted below, which exists as a result of the purchase of cSHp. 

INTerNAl coNTrol over FINANcIAl rePorTINg

Management, including the president & ceo and the executive Vice president & cfo, has designed internal control over financial 
reporting as defined under National Instrument 52-109 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with ifrS. Based on that evaluation, 
the president & ceo and the executive Vice president & cfo concluded that the company’s internal control over financial 
reporting was designed and operating effectively as of and during the year ended March 31, 2012 and that there were no material 
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, except in the scope limitation noted below, which exists as a result of 
the purchase of cSHp. 

National Instrument 52-109 allows for a scope limitation on the design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control 
over financial reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures in respect of any business acquired not more than 365 days 
before the end of the relevant financial period.

accordingly, the acquisition of cSHp, which closed on March 21, 2012, has been excluded from the assessment of the company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures, as the operations of the former cSHp entities were not yet integrated into the company’s 
internal controls, policies and procedures. Management is currently in the process of revising the company’s internal control 
structure to incorporate the newly acquired operations. the following table shows the summarized financial information for the 
excluded operations of the former cSHp entities:

selected financial data

as at March 31, 2012 and for the period between March 22, 2012 and March 31, 2012
($ millions)

total assets   $ 1,407.6

total liabilities    840.8

revenue    12.0

net loss for the period   $ (7.4)

chANges IN INTerNAl coNTrol over FINANcIAl rePorTINg

there were no changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the year ended March 31, 2012 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, canaccord’s internal control over financial reporting.

risk Management

overvIeW

uncertainty and risk are inherent in any financial markets activity. as an active participant in the canadian and international  
capital markets, canaccord is exposed to risks that could result in financial losses. canaccord has identified its principal risks 
as: market risk, credit risk, operational risk and other risks. accordingly, risk management and control of the balance between 
risk and return are critical elements in maintaining canaccord’s financial stability and profitability. therefore, an effective risk 
management framework is integral to the success of canaccord.
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rIsk MANAgeMeNT sTrucTure AND goverNANce

canaccord’s disciplined risk management process encompasses a number of functional areas and requires frequent communication, 
judgment and knowledge of the business, products and markets. the company’s senior management is actively involved in the 
risk management process and has developed policies and reports that require specific administrative procedures and actions to 
assess and control risks. these policies and procedures are subject to ongoing review and modification as activities, markets and 
circumstances change. 

as part of canaccord’s risk philosophy, the first line of responsibility for managing risk lies with branch managers, department 
heads and trading desk managers (within prescribed limits). the monitoring and control of canaccord’s risk exposure is conducted 
through a variety of separate, but complementary, financial, credit, operational, compliance and legal reporting systems. 

canaccord’s governance structure includes the following elements:

the Board of directors (the Board) has oversight of the company-wide risk management framework. these responsibilities are 
mandated to the audit and risk Management committees.

the audit committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility by monitoring the effectiveness of internal controls 
and the control environment. it also receives and reviews various quarterly and annual updates, and reports on key risk metrics 
and the overall risk management program.

the risk Management committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities for monitoring risk exposures against the 
defined risk appetite and for general oversight of the risk management process. the risk Management committee is led by 
the cfo, and committee members include the ceo and senior management representation from the key revenue-producing 
businesses and functional areas of canaccord. the committee identifies, measures and monitors the principal risks facing the 
business through review and approval of canaccord’s risk appetite, policies, procedures, and limits/thresholds.

the segregation of duties and management oversight are important aspects of canaccord’s risk management process. canaccord 
has a number of functions that are independent of the revenue-producing businesses that perform risk management activities, 
including the monitoring, evaluating and analyzing of risk. these functions include enterprise risk Management, compliance, 
operations, internal controls and financial analysis, treasury, finance and legal. 

MArkeT rIsk

Market risk is the risk that a change in market prices and/or any of the underlying market factors will result in losses. each 
business area is responsible for ensuring that market risk exposures are prudent. in addition, canaccord has established 
procedures to ensure that risks are measured, closely monitored, controlled and visible to senior levels of management.

canaccord is exposed to equity price risk, liquidity risk and volatility risk as a result of its principal trading activities in equity 
securities. canaccord is also exposed to specific interest rate risk, credit spread risk and liquidity risk in respect of its principal 
trading in fixed income securities. in addition to active supervision and review of trading activities by senior management, 
canaccord mitigates its risk exposure through a variety of limits to control concentration, capital allocation and usage, as well 
as through trading policies and guidelines. canaccord manages and monitors its risks in this area using both qualitative and 
quantitative measures, on a company-wide basis, and also by trading desk and by individual trader. canaccord operates a firm-
wide Value-at-risk (Var) risk measurement system for its equity and fixed income inventories. Management also reviews and 
monitors inventory levels and positions, trading results, aging and concentration levels. consequently, canaccord can ensure 
that it is adequately diversified with respect to market risk factors and that trading activity is within the risk tolerance levels 
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established by senior management. for a detailed description of canaccord’s Var methodology, see the Market risk section in 
canaccord’s fiscal 2012 annual information form (aif).

creDIT rIsk

credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. the primary source for 
credit risk to canaccord is in connection with trading activity by clients in the canaccord Wealth Management business segment 
and private client margin accounts. in order to minimize financial exposure in this area, canaccord applies certain credit standards 
and conducts financial reviews with respect to clients and new accounts. 

canaccord provides financing to clients by way of margin lending. in a margin-based transaction, canaccord extends credit for a 
portion of the market value of a securities transaction in a client’s account, up to certain limits. Margin loans are collateralized by 
securities in the client’s account. in connection with this lending activity, canaccord faces a risk of financial loss in the event that 
a client fails to meet a margin call if market prices for securities held as collateral decline and if canaccord is unable to recover 
sufficient value from the collateral held. for margin lending purposes, canaccord has established limits that are generally more 
restrictive than those required by applicable regulatory policies. 

canaccord also faces a risk of financial loss with respect to trading activity by clients if such trading results in overdue or unpaid 
amounts in under-secured cash accounts. canaccord has developed a number of controls within its automated trade order 
management system to ensure that trading by individual account and advisor is done in accordance with customized limits and 
risk parameters. 

canaccord is engaged in various trading and brokerage activities whose counterparties primarily include broker dealers, banks,  
clearing agents, exchanges, financial intermediaries and other financial institutions. these activities include agency trading, 
securities borrowing and lending, and entering into repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements. in the event that  
counterparties do not fulfill their obligations, canaccord may be exposed to risk. the risk of default depends on the creditworthiness 
of the counterparty and/or the issuer of the instrument. canaccord manages this risk by imposing and monitoring individual 
and aggregate position limits within each business segment, for each counterparty, conducting regular credit reviews of financial 
counterparties, reviewing security and loan concentrations, holding and marking to market collateral on certain transactions, and 
conducting business through clearing organizations that guarantee performance. 

canaccord records a provision for bad debts in general and administrative expenses. any actual losses arising from or associated 
with client trading activity as described above are charged to this provision. Historically, this provision has been sufficient to cover 
actual losses. 

oPerATIoNAl rIsk

operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, fraud, people and systems, or from 
external events such as the occurrence of disasters or security threats. operational risk exists in all of canaccord’s activities, 
including processes, systems and controls used to manage other risks. failure to manage operational risk can result in financial 
loss, reputational damage, regulatory fines and failure to manage market or credit risks. 

canaccord operates in different markets and relies on its employees and systems to process a high number of transactions. 
in order to mitigate this risk, canaccord has developed a system of internal controls and checks and balances at appropriate 
levels, which includes overnight trade reconciliation, control procedures related to clearing and settlement, cash controls, physical 
security, independent review procedures, documentation standards, billing and collection procedures, and authorization and 
processing controls for transactions and accounts. in addition, canaccord has implemented an operational risk program that helps 
canaccord measure, manage, report and monitor operational risk issues (see rcSa below). canaccord also has disaster recovery 
procedures in place, business continuity plans and built-in redundancies in the event of a systems or technological failure. in 
addition, canaccord utilizes third party service agreements and security audits where appropriate. 
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risk and control self-Assessment (rcsA)

the purpose of rcSas is to:

•	 Identify	and	assess	key	risks	inherent	to	the	business	
•	 Rate	the	effectiveness	of	the	control	environment	associated	with	the	key	risks	
•	 Mitigate	the	risks	through	the	identification	of	action	plans	to	improve	the	control	environment	where	appropriate	
•	 Provide	management	with	a	consistent	approach	to	articulate	and	communicate	the	risk	profiles	of	their	areas	of	

responsibility 
•	 Meet	regulatory	requirements	and	industry	standards

canaccord has established a process to determine what the strategic objectives of each group/unit/department are and  
identify, assess and quantify operational risks that hinder the company’s ability to achieve those objectives. the rcSa results  
are specifically used to calculate the operational risk regulatory capital requirements for canaccord in the uK and operational  
risk exposure in all geographies. the rcSas are periodically updated and results are reported to the risk Management and  
audit committees. 

oTher rIsks

other risks encompass those risks that can have an adverse material affect on the business but do not belong to market, credit 
or operational risk categories.

regulatory and legal risk

regulatory risk results from non-compliance with regulatory requirements, which could lead to fines and/or sanctions. canaccord 
has established procedures to ensure compliance with all applicable statutory and regulatory requirements in each jurisdiction. 
these procedures address issues such as regulatory capital requirements, disclosure requirements, internal controls over 
financial reporting, sales and trading practices, use of and safekeeping of client funds, credit granting, collection activity, anti-money 
laundering, insider trading, conflicts of interest and recordkeeping.

legal risk results from potential criminal, civil or regulatory litigation against canaccord that could materially affect canaccord’s 
business, operations or financial condition. canaccord has in-house legal counsel, as well as access to external legal counsel, to 
assist the company in addressing legal matters related to operations and to defend canaccord in various legal actions. 

losses or costs associated with routine regulatory and legal matters are included in general and administrative expenses in 
canaccord’s audited consolidated financial Statements.

reputational risk

reputational risk is the risk that an activity undertaken by an organization or its representatives will impair its image in the 
community or lower public confidence in it, resulting in a loss of business, legal action or increased regulatory oversight. possible 
sources of reputational risk could come from operational failures, non-compliance with laws and regulations, or taking an 
incompetent company to market. reputational risk can also be reflected within customer satisfaction and external ratings, such 
as equity analyst reports. in addition to its various risk management policies, controls and procedures, canaccord has a formal 
code of Business conduct and ethics and an integrated program of marketing, branding, communications and investor relations to 
help manage and support canaccord’s reputation.

rIsk FAcTors

for a detailed list of the risk factors that are relevant to canaccord’s business and the industry in which it operates, see the  
risk factors section in canaccord’s fiscal 2012 aif. risks include, but are not necessarily limited to, those listed in the aif. 
investors should carefully consider the information about risks, together with the other information in this document, before 
making investment decisions. it should be noted that this list is not exhaustive, but contains risks that canaccord considers to be 
of particular relevance. other risk factors may apply.
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coNTrol rIsk 

as of March 31, 2012, senior officers and directors of canaccord collectively owned approximately 24% of the issued and 
outstanding common shares of canaccord financial inc. if a sufficient number of these shareholders act or vote together, they 
will have the power to exercise significant influence over all matters requiring shareholder approval, including the election of the 
company’s directors, amendments to its articles, amalgamations and plans of arrangement under canadian law and mergers or 
sales of substantially all of its assets. this could prevent canaccord from entering into transactions that could be beneficial to the 
company or its other shareholders. also, third parties could be discouraged from making a tender offer or takeover bid to acquire 
any or all of the outstanding common shares of the company. in addition, as at March 31, 2012, the single largest shareholder 
that management was aware of was franklin templeton investments corp. by one or more of its mutual funds or other managed 
accounts. as of the last public filing franklin templeton investment corp. made regarding its cf share ownership (dated  
december 15, 2011), it held 5,464,873 common shares of canaccord financial inc., which represents 5.37% of common shares 
outstanding on March 31, 2012. any significant change in these shareholdings through sale or other disposition, or significant 
acquisitions by others of the common shares in the public market or by way of private transactions, could result in a change of 
control and changes in business focus or practices that could affect the profitability of canaccord’s business. 

restrictions on ownership and transfer of common shares

restrictions on ownership and transfer of common shares in the articles of canaccord to prevent unauthorized change in control 
without regulatory approval could, in certain cases, affect the marketability and liquidity of the common shares.

Dividend Policy

although dividends are expected to be declared and paid quarterly, the Board of directors, in its sole discretion, will determine 
the amount and timing of any dividends. all dividend payments will depend on general business conditions, canaccord’s financial 
condition, results of operations, capital requirements and such other factors as the Board determines to be relevant.

Dividend Declaration

on May 22, 2012, the Board of directors approved a quarterly dividend of $0.10 per common share payable on June 15, 2012, 
with a record date of June 1, 2012. the Board of directors also approved a cash dividend of $0.34375 per Series a preferred 
Share payable on July 3, 2012, with a record date of June 15, 2012; as well as a cash dividend of $0.3190 per Series c  
preferred Share payable on July 3, 2012 and with a record date of June 15, 2012. 

Additional Information

additional information relating to canaccord, including canaccord’s annual information form, can be found on Sedar’s website at 
www.sedar.com. 
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Independent Auditors’ report
to the Shareholders of 
canaccord Financial Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of canaccord financial inc., which comprise the consolidated 
statements of financial position as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, and april 1, 2010, and the consolidated statements of 
operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated Financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with international financial reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with canadian generally accepted auditing standards. those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, the 
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our  
audit opinion.

opinion

in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of canaccord 
financial inc. as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, and april 1, 2010, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years 
ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 in accordance with international financial reporting Standards.

Vancouver, canada 
May 22, 2012 
chartered accountants
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  March 31,  March 31,  april 1, 
as at (in thousands of canadian dollars) Notes 2012 2011 2010

AsseTs

current

cash and cash equivalents   $ 814,238 $ 954,068 $ 731,852

Securities owned   6  1,171,988  947,185  362,755

accounts receivable   8, 19  3,081,640  2,828,812  1,972,924

income taxes receivable     8,301  —  — 

Total current assets    5,076,167  4,730,065  3,067,531

deferred tax assets  13  3,959  1,503  12,946

investments   9  9,493  5,934  6,732

equipment and leasehold improvements   10  51,084  40,818  38,127

intangible assets  12  149,510  73,923  —

Goodwill   12  472,510  245,257  —

   $ 5,762,723 $ 5,097,500 $ 3,125,336

lIABIlITIes AND equITy

current

Bank indebtedness   7 $ 75,141 $ 13,580 $ 29,435

Short term credit facility  7  150,000  —  —

Securities sold short   6  914,649  722,613  364,137

accounts payable and accrued liabilities   8, 19  3,550,600  3,551,124  2,303,155

provisions  23  39,666  6,151  4,991

income taxes payable    —  23,977  5,385

Subordinated debt   14  15,000  15,000  15,000

Total current liabilities    4,745,056  4,332,445  2,722,103

deferred tax liabilities  13  8,088  8,163  —

     4,753,144  4,340,608  2,722,103

equity    

preferred shares  15  110,818  —  —

common shares   16  623,739  467,050  185,691

contributed surplus     68,336  52,167  58,103

retained earnings    180,748  238,647  158,138

accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    8,484  (972)  1,301

Total shareholders’ equity    992,125  756,892  403,233

non-controlling interests    17,454  —  —

Total equity    1,009,579  756,892  403,233

   $ 5,762,723 $ 5,097,500 $ 3,125,336

See accompanying notes

on behalf of the Board:

PAul D. reyNolDs TerreNce A. lyoNs
director director
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consolidated statements of operations
   March 31,  March 31, 
for the years ended (in thousands of canadian dollars, except per share amounts)  Notes 2012 2011

reveNue

commission $ 252,877 $ 294,650

investment banking  175,225  327,499

advisory fees  107,370  84,914

principal trading  10,647  43,644

interest   31,799  24,040

other  26,946  28,884

  604,864  803,631

exPeNses

incentive compensation  304,908  389,046

Salaries and benefits  63,924  64,420

trading costs  30,313  31,507

premises and equipment  27,546  27,158

communication and technology  28,343  25,466

interest  9,816  7,811

General and administrative  69,523  67,882

amortization  14,108  12,742

development costs  21,193  22,387

acquisition-related costs  11 16,056  12,740

restructuring costs 11, 23 35,253  —

  620,983  661,159

(loss) income before income taxes  (16,119)  142,472

income tax expense (recovery)  13

 current  11,043  42,278

 future  (5,816)  451

  5,227  42,729

Net (loss) income for the year $ (21,346) $ 99,743

Net (loss) income attributable to:  

 cfi shareholders $ (20,307) $ 99,743

 non-controlling interests $ (1,039) $ —

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (thousands)  

 Basic  76,715  72,990

 diluted  84,682  81,717

Net (loss) income per common share    

 Basic 16iv $ (0.33) $ 1.37

 diluted 16iv $ (0.33) $ 1.22

Dividends per common share $ 0.40 $ 0.275 

See accompanying notes
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consolidated statements of comprehensive Income (loss)
   March 31,  March 31, 
for the years ended (in thousands of canadian dollars)   2012 2011

net (loss) income for the year $ (21,346) $ 99,743

other comprehensive income (loss) (oci)

 net change in valuation of available for sale investments, net of tax  —  (602)

 net change in unrealized gains (losses) on translation of foreign operations  9,205  (1,671)

comprehensive (loss) income for the year $ (12,141) $ 97,470 

comprehensive (loss) income attributable to:  

 cfi shareholders $ (10,851) $ 97,470

 non-controlling interests $ (1,290) $ —

See accompanying notes
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consolidated statements of changes in equity 
   March 31,  March 31, 
as at and for the years ended (in thousands of canadian dollars)  Notes 2012 2011

preferred shares, opening $ — $ —

Series a preferred Shares issued, net of share issuance costs 15 110,818  —

Preferred shares, closing  110,818  —

common shares, opening  467,050  185,691

Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of collins Stewart Hawkpoint plc (cSHp) 11 164,462  —

Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of 50% interest in BGf capital Group pty ltd (BGf) 11 5,739  —

Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of Genuity capital Markets (Genuity)  —  271,900

Shares issued in connection with share-based payments  7,081  7,969

acquisition of common shares for long-term incentive plan (ltip)  (35,857)  (17,979)

release of vested common shares from employee benefit trust   18,263  20,752

Shares cancelled  (5,259)  (546)

net unvested share purchase loans   2,866  (737)

cancellation of shares in connection with the acquisition of Genuity  (606)  —

common shares, closing  623,739  467,050

contributed surplus, opening  52,167  58,103

replacement stock plan awards related to the acquisition of cSHp  6,456  —

Share-based payments   10,876  (6,478)

cancellation of shares in connection with the acquisition of Genuity  606  —

excess on cancellation of common shares  (1,414)  (638)

unvested share purchase loans   (355)  1,180

contributed surplus, closing  68,336  52,167

retained earnings, opening  238,647  158,138

net (loss) income attributable to cfi shareholders  (20,307)  99,743

common shares dividends 17 (32,778)  (19,234)

preferred shares dividends 17 (4,814)  —

retained earnings, closing  180,748  238,647

accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), opening   (972)  1,301

other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to cfi shareholders  9,456  (2,273)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), closing  8,484  (972)

Total shareholders’ equity  992,125  756,892

non-controlling interests, opening  —  —

non-controlling interests arising on acquisition of 50% interest in BGf 11 19,019  —

foreign exchange on non-controlling interests  (275)  —

comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interests  (1,290)  —

Non-controlling interests, closing  17,454  —

Total equity $ 1,009,579 $ 756,892

See accompanying notes
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consolidated statements of cash Flows
   March 31,  March 31, 
for the years ended (in thousands of canadian dollars)  Notes 2012 2011

oPerATINg AcTIvITIes   

net (loss) income for the year $ (21,346) $ 99,743

items not affecting cash   

 amortization  14,108  12,742

 deferred income tax expense (recovery)  (5,816)  451

 Share-based compensation expense 18 51,124  40,352

changes in non-cash working capital   

 increase in securities owned  (62,053)  (579,283)

 decrease (increase) in accounts receivable  675,358  (844,557)

 decrease (increase) in income taxes receivable, net  (26,218)  18,104

 increase in securities sold short  93,787  358,425

 (decrease) increase in accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and provisions  (896,194)   1,217,745

cash provided (used) by operating activities  (177,250)  323,722

FINANcINg AcTIvITIes   

drawdown of short term credit facility  150,000  —

issuance of Series a preferred Shares, net of share issuance costs  110,818  —

acquisition of common shares for long-term incentive plan  (35,857)  (17,979)

cash dividends paid on common shares  (31,980)  (17,943)

cash dividends paid on preferred shares  (4,814)  —

issuance of shares in connection with share-based payments  555  555

increase (decrease) in net vesting of share purchase loans  (12,579)  443

redemption of share capital  (5,673)  —

Bank indebtedness  61,561  (15,855)

cash provided (used) by financing activities  232,031  (50,779)

INvesTINg AcTIvITIes   

purchase of equipment and leasehold improvements  (10,610)  (8,109)

acquisition of cSHp, net of cash acquired 11 (176,289)  —

acquisition of BGf, net of cash acquired  11 (9,848)  —

acquisition of Genuity capital Markets, net of cash acquired  —  (37,997)

acquisition of the Balloch Group limited, net of cash acquired  —  (2,472)

cash used in investing activities  (196,747)  (48,578)

effect of foreign exchange on cash balances  2,136  (2,149)

(Decrease) increase in cash position  (139,830)  222,216

cash position, beginning of year  954,068  731,852

cash position, end of year $ 814,238 $ 954,068

supplemental cash flow information

interest received $ 28,805 $ 18,613

interest paid $ 9,280 $ 8,337

income taxes paid $ 51,036 $ 27,699

See accompanying notes
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Notes to consolidated Financial statements
As at March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011, and April 1, 2010   
And for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011  
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

N
o

Te corporate Information1
through its principal subsidiaries, canaccord financial inc. (the company) is a leading independent, full-service investment dealer 
in canada with capital markets operations in the united Kingdom (uK) and europe, the united States of america (uS), australia, 
china, Singapore and Barbados. upon acquisition of cSHp, the company has also expanded its wealth management operations 
into the uK and europe. the company has operations in each of the two principal segments of the securities industry: capital 
markets and wealth management. together, these operations offer a wide range of complementary investment products, brokerage 
services and investment banking services to the company’s private, institutional and corporate clients. 

canaccord financial inc. was incorporated on february 14, 1997 by the filing of a memorandum and articles with the registrar 
of companies for British columbia under the Company Act (British columbia) and continues in existence under the Business 
Corporations Act (British columbia). the company’s head office is located at Suite 2200 – 609 Granville Street, Vancouver,  
British	Columbia,	V7Y	1H2.	The	Company’s	registered	office	is	located	at	Suite	1000	–	840	Howe	Street,	Vancouver,	 
British	Columbia,	V6Z	2M1.

the company’s common shares are publicly traded under the symbol cf on the tSX and the symbol cf. on aiM, a market operated 
by the london Stock exchange. the company’s Series a preferred Shares are listed on the tSX under the symbol cf.pr.a. the 
company’s Series c preferred Shares, issued subsequent to year end, are listed on the tSX under the symbol cf.pr.c [note 25]. 

the company’s business is cyclical and experiences considerable variations in revenue and income from quarter to quarter and 
year to year due to factors beyond the company’s control. the company’s business is affected by the overall condition of the 
worldwide equity and debt markets, including the seasonal variance in these markets. 

N
o

Te Basis of Preparation2
sTATeMeNT oF coMPlIANce

these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international financial reporting Standards 
(ifrS) as issued by the international accounting Standards Board (iaSB). the disclosures concerning the transition from canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles (cGaap) to ifrS are included in note 4. previously, the company prepared its consolidated 
annual financial statements in accordance with cGaap. 

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on the historical cost basis except 
for selected current and non-current assets and financial instruments, which have been measured at fair value as set out in the 
relevant accounting policies. 

the consolidated financial statements are presented in canadian dollars and all values are in thousands of dollars, except when 
otherwise indicated. 

these audited consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the company’s Board of directors on  
May 22, 2012.

PrINcIPles oF coNsolIDATIoN

these consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company, its subsidiaries and special purpose 
entities (Spes) where the company controls these entities. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the consolidated entity has  
the power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the 
voting rights. 

the company applied iaS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” (iaS 27), for its acquisition of the 50% interest in 
BGf, as discussed below and in note 11. in accordance with iaS 27, the operating results of a subsidiary should be consolidated 
if the company acquires control. control is presumed to exist when an entity owns greater than 50% of the voting shares. in cases 
where the parent does not own a majority of the voting rights, control still exists when there is power over more than half of the 
voting rights by virtue of an agreement with other investors, power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity under
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a statute or an agreement, power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors, or power to cast the 
majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors.

although the company does not own more than 50% of the voting shares of BGf, the company completed an evaluation of its 
relationship with the other shareholders and the power it has over the financial and operating policies of BGf and determined 
it should consolidate under iaS 27. therefore, the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of BGf have been 
consolidated. the company has also recognized a 50% non-controlling interest, which represents the portion of canaccord BGf 
net identifiable assets not owned by the company. at the date of acquisition, the non-controlling interest was determined using  
the proportionate method. net income (loss) and each component of other comprehensive income (loss) are attributed to the  
non-controlling interest and to the owners of the parent.

the company consolidates Spes in accordance with the guidance provided by the Standing interpretations committee 
interpretation 12, “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities” (Sic-12). an Spe is consolidated when the substance of the 
relationship between the entity and the Spe indicates that the Spe is controlled by that entity. 

the company has established an employee benefit trust [note 18] to fulfill obligations to employees arising from the company’s 
share-based payment plans. the employee benefit trust has been consolidated in accordance with Sic-12 since its activities are 
conducted on behalf of the company, and the company retains the majority of the benefits and risks of the employee benefit trust.

the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statements of operations from the effective 
date of the acquisition or up to the effective date of the disposal, as appropriate. 

all intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. in cases where the accounting policies of the subsidiaries differ 
from the company’s accounting policies, the company has made the appropriate adjustments to ensure conformity for purposes 
of the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. for the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, financial 
statements are prepared for all subsidiaries for the same reporting period as those of the parent. 

use oF esTIMATes AND AssuMPTIoNs

the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with ifrS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
reporting date. therefore, actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions. the significant estimates include 
share-based payments, income taxes, impairment of goodwill, indefinite life intangible assets and other long-lived assets, 
allowance for credit losses, fair value of financial instruments, and provisions.

share-based payments

the company measures the cost of equity-settled and cash-settled transactions with employees and directors based on the 
fair value of the awards granted. the fair value is determined based on the observable share prices or by using an appropriate 
valuation model. the use of option pricing models to determine the fair value requires the input of highly subjective assumptions 
including the expected price volatility, expected life of the award and dividend yield. changes in the subjective assumptions 
can materially affect the fair value estimates. the assumptions and models used for estimating the fair value of share-based 
payments are disclosed in note 18. 

Income taxes

accruals for income tax liabilities require management to make estimates and judgments with respect to the ultimate outcome of 
tax filings and assessments. actual results could vary from these estimates. the company operates within different tax jurisdictions 
and is subject to individual assessments by these jurisdictions. tax filings can involve complex issues, which may require an 
extended period of time to resolve in the event of a dispute or re-assessment by tax authorities. deferred taxes are recognized for 
all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. 
Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized based upon 
the likely timing and the level of future taxable profit.

uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws and the amount and timing of 
future taxable income. the company establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits 
by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. the amount of such provisions is based on various factors, 
such as the company’s experience of previous tax audits. 
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Impairment of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment at least annually, or whenever an event or change in 
circumstance may indicate potential impairment, to ensure that the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are attributed is greater than or equal to their carrying values. 

in determining the recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use, management uses 
valuation models that consider such factors as projected earnings, price-to-earnings multiples and discount rates. Management 
must apply judgment in the selection of the approach to determining the recoverable amount and in making any necessary 
assumptions. these judgments may affect the recoverable amount and any resulting impairment write-down. the key assumptions 
used to determine recoverable amounts for the different cash-generating units are disclosed in note 12.

Impairment of other long-lived assets

the company assesses its long-lived assets at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired. if any indication exists, the company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount using management’s best estimates 
and available information. 

Allowance for credit losses

the company records allowances for doubtful accounts associated with clients’ receivables, loans, advances and other 
receivables. the company establishes an allowance for credit losses based on management’s estimate of probable unrecoverable 
amounts. Judgment is required as to the timing of establishing an allowance for credit losses and the amount of the required 
specific allowance, taking into consideration counterparty creditworthiness, current economic trends and past experience. clients’ 
receivable balances are generally collateralized by securities; therefore, any provision is generally measured after considering the 
market value of the collateral, if any. 

valuation of financial instruments

the company measures its financial instruments at fair value or amortized cost. fair value is determined on the basis of market 
prices from independent sources, if available. if there is no available market price, then the fair value is determined by using 
valuation models. the inputs to these models, such as expected volatility and liquidity discounts, are derived from observable 
market data where possible, but where observable data is not available, judgment is required to establish fair values. 

there is inherent uncertainty and imprecision in estimating the factors that can affect fair value, and in estimating fair values 
generally, when observable data is not available. changes in assumptions and inputs used in valuing financial instruments could 
affect the reported fair values. 

Provisions

the company records provisions related to pending or outstanding legal matters and regulatory investigations. provisions 
in connection with legal matters are determined on the basis of management’s judgment in consultation with legal counsel, 
considering such factors as the amount of the claim, the possibility of wrongdoing by an employee of the company and precedents. 
contingent litigation loss provisions are recorded by the company when it is probable that the company will incur a loss as a 
result of a past event and the amount of the loss can be reliably estimated. the company also records provisions related to 
restructuring costs when the recognition criteria for provisions are fulfilled.

N
o

Te Adoption of New and revised standards and Interpretations3
FINANcIAl INsTruMeNTs

in november 2009, the iaSB issued ifrS 9, “Financial Instruments” (ifrS 9). the iaSB intends that ifrS 9 will ultimately replace 
iaS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (iaS 39), in its entirety. However, the iaSB has divided its project to 
replace iaS 39 into three main phases. as the iaSB completes each phase, it will delete the relevant portions of iaS 39 and create 
additions to ifrS 9 that replace the requirements in iaS 39. the three main phases of the iaSB’s project to replace iaS 39 are:

(a) phase 1: classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
(b) phase 2: impairment methodology
(c) phase 3: Hedge accounting
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in november 2009, the iaSB issued ifrS 9, which introduced a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured 
at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in iaS 39. the approach in ifrS 9 is based on how an entity manages 
its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 

in october 2010, the iaSB issued additions to ifrS 9 that provide guidance on the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities. Most of the requirements in iaS 39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward 
unchanged to ifrS 9. 

following the iaSB’s decision in december 2011 to defer the effective date, the standard is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2015 with early adoption permitted. the company has not yet determined the impact of ifrS 9 on its 
consolidated financial statements. the iaSB is continuing its deliberations with respect to the second and third phases of this 
financial instruments project. 

PreseNTATIoN oF FINANcIAl sTATeMeNTs

iaS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements” (iaS 1), was amended by the iaSB in June 2011. items in other comprehensive 
income will be required to be presented in two categories: items that might be reclassified into profit or loss and those that will 
not be reclassified. the flexibility to present a statement of comprehensive income as one statement or two separate statements 
of profit and loss and other comprehensive income remains unchanged. the amendments to iaS 1 are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after July 1, 2012. the company has not yet determined the impact of the amendments on its consolidated 
financial statements.

oTher sTANDArDs

the iaSB issued the following standards in May 2011. these standards are effective for the annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. the company has not assessed the impact that these new and amended 
standards will have on its consolidated financial statements. 

IFrs 10 – “Consolidated Financial Statements” (IFrs 10)

ifrS 10 replaces iaS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” and Sic-12, “Consolidation – Special Purpose  
Entities”. this standard introduces a single consolidation model for all entities based on control, which is defined as whether an 
investor has (1) power over the investee, (2) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and  
(3) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of returns. 

IFrs 11 – “Joint Arrangements” (IFrs 11)

ifrS 11 replaces iaS 31, “Interests in Joint Ventures” and Sic-13, “Jointly Controlled Entities”. under this standard, joint 
arrangements will be differentiated between joint operations and joint ventures. a joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby 
the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities. for a joint operation, the venturer  
will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. a joint venture is a joint arrangement 
whereby the parties that have joint control have rights to the net assets and will be accounted for using the equity method. 

IFrs 12 – “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” (IFrs 12)

ifrS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interest in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special 
purpose vehicles and off-balance sheet vehicles. 

IFrs 13 – “Fair Value Measurement” (IFrs 13)

ifrS 13 is a comprehensive standard that defines fair value, sets out a single ifrS framework for measuring fair value, and 
requires disclosures about fair value measurements. this new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. 
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IAs 27 – “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” and IAs 28 – “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (IAs 28)

the iaSB has also made amendments to existing standards, including iaS 27 and iaS 28. iaS 27 addresses accounting for 
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial statements. iaS 28 has been amended to 
include joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes in ifrS 10 to ifrS 13.

N
o

Te First-time Adoption of IFrs4
as required by the canadian accounting Standards Board (acSB), the company adopted ifrS effective april 1, 2011. the company’s 
transition date was april 1, 2010, and the company has prepared its ifrS opening consolidated statement of financial position as  
at that date. these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described in 
note 5.

for all periods up to and including the year ended March 31, 2011, the company’s financial statements conformed to cGaap. 
consequently, the company has prepared for the first time its annual consolidated financial statements in accordance with ifrS 
for the year ended March 31, 2012. 

the company followed the provisions of ifrS 1, “First-time Adoption of IFRS” (ifrS 1), in preparing its opening ifrS consolidated 
statement of financial position as of the transition date. there are certain differences between the accounting policies of cGaap 
and ifrS related to the accounting for transactions or events before the date of transition to ifrS, resulting in adjustments that 
would impact the opening ifrS statement of financial position. as required by ifrS 1, these adjustments are recognized directly 
through retained earnings as of april 1, 2010. Generally, ifrS is to be applied retrospectively with some mandatory exceptions 
and other exemptions permitted by ifrS 1. 

the accompanying note disclosure provides details on the principal adjustments made by the company in restating its cGaap 
statements of financial position as at april 1, 2010 and March 31, 2011 and its net income and comprehensive income for the 
year ended March 31, 2011. 

exeMPTIoNs APPlIeD

ifrS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the retrospective application of certain ifrS, effective for the year ended 
March 31, 2012. the company has applied the following exemptions to its opening consolidated statement of financial position 
dated april 1, 2010: 

•	 Business	combinations	–	IFRS	1	indicates	that	a	first-time	adopter	may	elect	not	to	apply	IFRS	3,	“Business Combinations” 
(ifrS 3), retrospectively to business combinations that occurred before the transition date. ifrS 3 was applied for the 
acquisition of Genuity capital Markets (Genuity) and the Balloch Group limited (tBG), which took place during the year ended 
March 31, 2011. consequently, ifrS 3 has been applied for all business combinations subsequent to april 1, 2010. this 
exemption is elected for all acquisitions that occurred prior to april 1, 2010. 

•	 Cumulative	translation	differences	–	IFRS	1	permits	a	first-time	adopter	to	not	comply	with	the	requirements	of	IAS	21,	 
“The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” (iaS 21), for cumulative translation differences that existed at the date of 
transition to ifrS. the company has chosen to apply this election and has reset to zero the cumulative translation difference 
and adjusted retained earnings by the same amount at the date of the transition to ifrS. 

•	 Share-based	compensation	–	IFRS	2,	“Share-based payments” (ifrS 2), has not been applied to share-based payments 
granted prior to november 7, 2002 or to share-based payments granted subsequent to november 7, 2002 that vested before 
april 1, 2010. 

•	 Leases	–	IFRS	1	permits	a	first-time	adopter	the	option	to	determine	whether	an	arrangement	existing	at	the	date	of	
transition to ifrS contains a lease on the basis of facts and circumstances existing at that date. the company has elected 
to use the information at the transition date in determining whether an arrangement contains a lease. this election did not 
affect the accounting for any of the company’s leases.
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esTIMATes

the estimates at the transition date are consistent with those made previously in accordance with cGaap, except where necessary 
to reflect any differences in accounting policies. 

coMPANy recoNcIlIATIoN oF FINANcIAl PosITIoN As AT APrIl 1, 2010

      foreign     
     Share-based exchange financial    
    cGaap  payments translation instruments provisions income taxes  ifrS

notes   a B c d e 

AsseTs       

current

cash and cash equivalents $ 731,852 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 731,852

Securities owned  362,755 — — — — — 362,755

accounts receivable  1,972,924 — — — — — 1,972,924

future income taxes 13,190 — — — —  (13,190) —

total current assets 3,080,721 — — — —  (13,190) 3,067,531

deferred tax assets  — — — — — 12,946 12,946

investment  5,000 — — 1,732 — — 6,732

equipment and leasehold improvements 38,127 — — — — — 38,127

  $ 3,123,848 $ —  $ — $  1,732 $ — $ (244) $  3,125,336

lIABIlITIes AND shAreholDers’ equITy

current       

Bank indebtedness  $ 29,435 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 29,435

Securities sold short  364,137 — — — — — 364,137

accounts payable and accrued liabilities  2,308,146 — — — (4,991) — 2,303,155

provisions — — — — 4,991 — 4,991

income taxes payable 5,385 — — — — — 5,385

Subordinated debt  15,000 — — — — — 15,000

total current liabilities 2,722,103 — — — — — 2,722,103

Shareholders’ equity       

common shares  185,691 — — — — — 185,691

contributed surplus  57,351 752 — — — — 58,103

retained earnings 194,007 (752) (35,304) — —  187 158,138

accumulated other comprehensive 

 income (loss) (35,304) — 35,304 1,732 — (431) 1,301

total shareholders’ equity 401,745 — — 1,732 —  (244) 403,233

  $ 3,123,848 $ — $ — $ 1,732 $ —  $ (244) $ 3,125,336
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coMPANy recoNcIlIATIoN oF FINANcIAl PosITIoN As AT MArch 31, 2011

      foreign     
     Share-based exchange financial    
    cGaap  payments translation instruments provisions income taxes  ifrS

notes   a B c d e 

AsseTs       

current       

cash and cash equivalents $ 954,068 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 954,068

Securities owned  947,185 — — — — — 947,185

accounts receivable  2,828,812 — — — — — 2,828,812

future income taxes 15,309 — — — —  (15,309) —

total current assets 4,745,374 — — — —  (15,309) 4,730,065

deferred tax assets — — — — — 1,503 1,503

investment  5,000 — — 934 — — 5,934

equipment and leasehold improvements 40,818 — — — — — 40,818

intangible assets 73,923 — — — — — 73,923

Goodwill 245,257 — — — — — 245,257

  $ 5,110,372 $ — $ — $ 934 $ —  $ (13,806) $ 5,097,500

lIABIlITIes AND shAreholDers’ equITy

current       

Bank indebtedness  $ 13,580 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 13,580

Securities sold short  722,613 — — — — — 722,613

accounts payable and accrued liabilities  3,557,275 — — — (6,151) — 3,551,124

provisions — — — — 6,151 — 6,151

income taxes payable 23,977 — — — — — 23,977

Subordinated debt  15,000 — — — — — 15,000

total current liabilities 4,332,445 — — — — — 4,332,445

deferred tax liabilities 21,404 — — — — (13,241) 8,163

     4,353,849 — — — — (13,241) 4,340,608

Shareholders’ equity       

common shares  467,050 — — — — — 467,050

contributed surplus  53,441 (1,274) — — — — 52,167

retained earnings 273,007 1,274 (35,304) — —  (330) 238,647

accumulated other comprehensive 

 income (loss) (36,975) — 35,304 934 — (235) (972)

total shareholders’ equity 756,523 — — 934 —  (565) 756,892

  $ 5,110,372 $ — $ — $ 934 $ —  $ (13,806) $ 5,097,500
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recoNcIlIATIoNs oF NeT INcoMe AND coMPreheNsIve INcoMe As rePorTeD uNDer cgAAP To IFrs

the following is a reconciliation of the company’s net income and comprehensive income reported in accordance with cGaap to 
its net income and comprehensive income in accordance with ifrS for the year ended March 31, 2011:

 	 Year	ended	March	31,	2011

    effect of  
  notes cGaap transition ifrS

reveNue    

commission      $ 294,650 $ — $ 294,650

investment banking       327,499  —  327,499

advisory fees       84,914  —  84,914

principal trading       43,644  —  43,644

interest        24,040  —  24,040

other        28,884  —  28,884

         803,631  —  803,631

exPeNses    

incentive compensation     a  391,050  (2,004)  389,046

Salaries and benefits       64,420  —  64,420

trading costs       31,507  —  31,507

premises and equipment       27,158  —  27,158

communication and technology       25,466  —  25,466

interest       7,811  —  7,811

General and administrative       67,882  —  67,882

amortization       12,742  —  12,742

development costs     a  22,409  (22)  22,387

acquisition-related costs        12,740  —  12,740

         663,185  (2,026)  661,159

income before income taxes       140,446  —  142,472

income taxes (recovery) 

 current       41,437  841  42,278

 deferred     e  775  (324)  451

         42,212  517  42,729

Net Income       $ 98,234 $ 1,509 $ 99,743

other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes      $ (1,671) $ — $ (1,671)

net unrealized losses on available for sale assets, before tax   c  —  (798)  (798)

income tax recovery relating to net unrealized losses on available for sale assets e  —  196  196

comprehensive income      $ 96,563 $ 907 $ 97,470

Notes to the reconciliation of financial position as at April 1, 2010 and March 31, 2011 and reconciliations of net income and 
comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2011

A. Share-based payments
under cGaap, the company had the option to recognize forfeitures of share-based payments as they occurred or estimate a 
forfeiture rate at inception. the company’s former accounting policy was to recognize forfeitures as they occurred. under ifrS,  
a forfeiture rate must be estimated upon inception. as a result of the transition, the company determined a forfeiture rate based 
on historical data and calculated the impact on the amortization of all share-based payments. 

cGaap permitted share-based payments to be amortized using either a straight-line or graded amortization basis for awards that 
vest on a graded basis. Graded amortization is required under ifrS for these awards. 
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B. Foreign exchange translation
the company has chosen to apply the election to not comply with the requirements of iaS 21, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates”, for cumulative translation differences that existed at the date of transition to ifrS. as a result, the company has 
eliminated the cumulative translation difference of $35.3 million and adjusted retained earnings by the same amount at the date 
of transition to ifrS. 

C. Financial instruments
financial assets with no quoted market price that are classified as available for sale are carried at cost under cGaap. However, 
under ifrS, financial assets with no quoted market price that are classified as available for sale are carried at fair value unless 
fair value is not reliably measurable. under cGaap, the company’s investment in an alternative alpha trading System is designated 
as available for sale and is carried at cost. under ifrS, the investment should be recorded at fair value unless the fair value 
cannot be reliably measured, and any unrealized gains and losses should be recorded through other comprehensive income. 
Management has determined that a reliable fair value measurement can be made, and the fair value adjustment has been 
recognized accordingly. 

D. Provisions
under cGaap, the company accrued amounts related to contingent liabilities, which are included in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, in accordance with applicable recognition criteria. these amounts would be considered as provisions under ifrS and 
need to be disclosed separately on the face of the consolidated statements of financial position. ifrS also requires the provision 
to be distinguished between current and non-current. the recognition criteria are also different between cGaap and ifrS. under 
cGaap, an entity is required to recognize contingent liabilities when it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will 
be required to settle the obligation. under ifrS, a provision also has to be recognized when it is probable that the outflow of 
economic resources will be required to settle the obligation; however, under ifrS, probable is defined as more likely than not, 
which is a lower recognition threshold than under cGaap. 

E. Income taxes
there are no identified material differences in the methodology of the calculation of provisions for current and deferred taxes; the 
various transitional adjustments described above result in adjustments to the book values of the corresponding accounts, leading 
to adjusted temporary differences. upon transition to ifrS, the company recalculated the deferred tax liability based on revised 
balances using a tax rate of 24.9%. in addition, in accordance with ifrS, deferred tax is to be classified as non-current, while this 
was classified as current or non-current based on the nature of the temporary differences under cGaap. 

under ifrS, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities, and the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity.

F. Material adjustments to the statement of cash flows
there is no significant impact on the presentation of the company’s consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 
March 31, 2011. adjustments include the effects on comprehensive income and non-cash operating items as a result of the 
transition adjustments described above. 

N
o

Te summary of significant Accounting Policies5
BusINess coMBINATIoNs 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. the cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate 
of the fair value of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the company, measured at 
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. for each business combination, the 
company elects whether it measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share 
of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. the proportionate share method was selected for the acquisition of the 
50% interest in canaccord BGf. acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. 

the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under ifrS 3, 
“Business Combinations”, are recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date except for non-current assets (or disposal 
groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with ifrS 5, “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations”, which are recognized and measured at fair value less cost to sell. 



notes to consolidated financial Statements

 84 canaccord financial inc.  2012 annual report

any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date at the best 
estimate of such amount. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that are deemed to be a liability 
will be recognized in the statements of operations. 

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the consideration 
transferred over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. if this consideration is lower than 
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in the statements of operations. 

after initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. for the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill acquired in each of the business combinations is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the company’s 
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the corresponding combinations, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

TrANslATIoN oF ForeIgN curreNcy TrANsAcTIoNs AND ForeIgN suBsIDIArIes

the company’s consolidated financial statements are presented in canadian dollars, which is also the company’s functional 
currency. each subsidiary of the company determines its own functional currency, and items included in the financial statements 
of each subsidiary are measured using that functional currency. 

Transactions and balances 

transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the company and its subsidiaries in their respective functional currencies 
using exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated by the company and its subsidiaries into 
their respective functional currencies at the exchange rate in effect at the reporting date. all differences upon translation are 
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. 

non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated by the company and its subsidiaries into 
their respective functional currencies at historical rates. non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates in effect at the date when the fair value is determined. 

Translation of foreign subsidiaries

assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the canadian dollar are translated into canadian 
dollars at rates prevailing at the reporting date, and income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates prevailing 
during the period. unrealized gains or losses arising as a result of the translation of the foreign subsidiaries are recorded in 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). on disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive 
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. 

gooDWIll

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid for the acquisition of subsidiaries over the fair value of the identifiable 
net tangible and intangible assets acquired. following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. 

INTANgIBle AsseTs

identifiable intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. the cost of identifiable intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is equal to their fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

following initial recognition, identifiable intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

the amortization of intangible assets is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations as part of amortization expense.

the useful lives of identifiable intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. identifiable intangible assets with 
finite lives are amortized over their useful economic lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
identifiable intangible asset may be impaired. the amortization period and the amortization method for an identifiable intangible 
asset are reviewed at least annually, at each financial year end. 
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identifiable intangible assets purchased through the acquisition of Genuity, the 50% interest in BGf, and cSHp are brand names, 
customer relationships, sales backlogs, technology, trading licences and non-competition agreements, which have finite lives and 
are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. the estimated amortization periods of these amortizable 
intangible assets are as follows:

   Genuity BGf cSHp

Brand names       indefinite  1 year 1 year

customer relationships       11 years  5 years 8 to 24 years

Sales backlogs       0.4 years  1 year 1 year

non-competition       5 years  10 years n/a

trading licences       n/a  indefinite n/a

technology       n/a  n/a 3 years

trading licences acquired through the acquisition of the 50% interest in BGf are considered to have an indefinite life as they are 
expected to provide benefit to the company over a continuous period. Branding acquired through the acquisition of Genuity is 
considered to have an indefinite life, as it will provide benefit to the company over a continuous period. 

identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually.

IMPAIrMeNT oF gooDWIll AND INTANgIBle AsseTs

after initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. for the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill acquired in a business acquisition is allocated to each of the company’s cash-generating units that are expected 
to benefit from the acquisition. Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances 
suggest that there may be impairment. a write-down is recognized if the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, determined 
as the greater of the estimated fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use, is less than the carrying value. any impairment of 
goodwill is expensed in the period in which the impairment is identified. impairment losses relating to goodwill are not reversed if 
there is a subsequent recovery in value of the cash-generating unit.

intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but are assessed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that there may be impairment. indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment by 
comparing the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units to which they have been allocated to the carrying values of that 
cash-generating unit. an impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. in estimating the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, the company uses a value-in-use approach based on the 
projected discounted cash flows to be derived from these assets. 

cAsh AND cAsh equIvAleNTs

cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit, commercial paper and bankers’ acceptances with a term to maturity of 
less than three months from the date of purchase.

FINANcIAl INsTruMeNTs

the company classifies financial instruments into one of the following categories according to iaS 39, “Financial Instruments – 
Recognition and Measurement” (iaS 39): fair value through profit and loss, held to maturity, loans and receivables, available for 
sale assets and other financial liabilities. the company determines its classification of financial instruments at initial recognition. 



notes to consolidated financial Statements

 86 canaccord financial inc.  2012 annual report

[i] Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
financial assets are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. for financial 
assets, trade date accounting is applied, the trade date being the date at which the company commits itself to either the purchase 
or sale of the asset.

financial assets held for trading are initially measured at fair value. transaction costs related to financial instruments classified 
as held for trading are recognized through net income when incurred. transaction costs for all financial instruments other than 
those classified as held for trading are included in the costs of the assets. 

Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss
financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition as fair value through profit or loss. financial assets purchased for trading activities are classified 
as held for trading and are measured at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recognized in net income. in addition, 
provided that the fair value can be reliably determined, iaS 39 permits an entity to designate any financial instrument as fair value 
through profit and loss on initial recognition or adoption of this standard even if that instrument would not otherwise meet the 
definition of fair value through profit and loss as specified in iaS 39. the company did not designate any financial assets upon 
initial recognition as fair value through profit and loss. the company’s financial assets classified as held for trading include cash 
and cash equivalents, and securities owned, including derivative financial instruments.

the company periodically evaluates the classification of its financial assets as held for trading based on whether the intent to  
sell the financial assets in the near term is still appropriate. if the company is unable to trade these financial assets due to 
inactive markets or if management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the company may elect  
to reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances. 

Financial assets classified as available for sale
available for sale assets are generally measured at fair value, with subsequent changes in fair value recorded in other 
comprehensive income, net of tax, until the assets are sold or impaired, at which time the difference is recognized in net income 
for the year. investment in equity instruments classified as available for sale that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market are measured at fair value unless fair value is not reliably measurable. the company’s investments in alternative alpha 
trading System and euroclear are classified as available for sale and measured at their estimated fair value.

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held to maturity
financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held to maturity are measured at amortized cost. amortized cost is 
calculated as the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition less principal repayment and impairment, 
and includes amortization of any discount or premium on acquisition. the company classifies accounts receivable as loans  
and receivables.

Impairment of financial assets
the company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. in the case of debt or equity securities classified as available for sale or held to maturity, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is impaired. 

if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is recognized in the statements 
of operations and is measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value. 

[ii] Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
all financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less, in the case of other financial liabilities, directly attributable 
transaction costs, and classified as either fair value through profit and loss or other financial liabilities.

Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities classified as fair value through profit and loss
financial liabilities classified as fair value through profit and loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as fair value through profit and loss. financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if 
they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the 
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statements of operations. the company has not designated any financial liabilities as fair value through profit and loss that would 
not otherwise meet the definition of fair value through profit and loss upon initial recognition. Bank indebtedness, securities sold 
short and derivative financial instruments are classified as held for trading and recognized at fair value.

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities
after initial recognition, financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognized in the statements of operations through the effective 
interest rate method of amortization. other financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, short term credit 
facility, provisions, and subordinated debt. the carrying value of other financial liabilities approximates their fair value.

[iii] offsetting of financial instruments

financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statements of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

[iv] Fair value of financial instruments

the fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by referencing quoted 
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for 
transaction costs. 

for financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate and reliable valuation 
techniques. Such techniques may include recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair value of another 
instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. Valuation techniques may 
require the use of estimates or management assumptions if observable market data is not available. When the valuation 
technique is not considered as reliable, then the financial instrument is measured at cost. 

[v] Derivative financial instruments

derivative financial instruments are financial contracts, the value of which is derived from the value of the underlying assets, 
interest rates, indices or currency exchange rates.

the company uses derivative financial instruments to manage foreign exchange risk on pending security settlements in foreign 
currencies. the fair value of these contracts is nominal due to their short term to maturity. realized and unrealized gains and 
losses related to these contracts are recognized in net income during the reporting period. 

the company trades in futures contracts, which are agreements to buy or sell standardized amounts of government bonds at a 
predetermined future date and price, in accordance with terms specified by a regulated futures exchange, and subject to daily 
cash margining. the company trades in futures in an attempt to mitigate interest rate risk, yield curve risk, and liquidity risk. 

securITIes oWNeD AND solD shorT

Securities owned and sold short are recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices in an active market or a valuation 
model if no market prices are available. unrealized gains and losses are reflected in income. certain securities owned have been 
pledged as collateral for securities borrowing transactions. Securities owned and sold short are classified as held-for-trading 
financial instruments. 

securITIes leNDINg AND BorroWINg 

the company employs securities lending and borrowing activities to primarily facilitate the securities settlement process. these 
arrangements are typically short term in nature, with interest being received when cash is delivered and interest being paid when 
cash is received. Securities borrowed and securities loaned are carried at the amounts of cash collateral delivered and received 
in connection with the transactions. Securities borrowed transactions require the company to deposit cash, letters of credit or 
other collateral with the lender. for securities loaned, the company receives collateral in the form of cash or other collateral in an 
amount generally in excess of the market value of the securities loaned. the company monitors the fair value of the securities 
loaned and borrowed against the cash collateral on a daily basis and, when appropriate, the company may require counterparties 
to deposit additional collateral or it may return collateral pledged to ensure such transactions are adequately secured.
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Securities purchased under agreements to resell and securities sold under agreements to repurchase represent collateralized 
financing transactions. the company receives securities purchased under agreements to resell, makes delivery of securities sold 
under agreements to repurchase, monitors the market value of these securities on a daily basis and delivers or obtains additional 
collateral as appropriate. 

the company manages its credit exposure by establishing and monitoring aggregate limits by customer for these transactions. 
interest earned on cash collateral is based on a floating rate. at March 31, 2012, the floating rates for equities and bonds ranged 
from 0.00% to 0.68% [March 31, 2011 – 0.00% to 0.67%; april 1, 2010 – 0.00% to 0.049%].

reveNue recogNITIoN

revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the company and the revenue can 
be reliably measured. the company assesses its revenue arrangements in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. 

commission revenue consists of revenue generated through commission-based brokerage services, recognized on a trade date 
basis, and the sale of fee-based products and services, recognized on an accrual basis. realized and unrealized gains and losses 
on securities purchased for client-related transactions are reported as net facilitation losses and recorded as a reduction of 
commission revenues. facilitation losses for the year ended March 31, 2012 were $28.1 million [March 31, 2011 – $28.3 million].

investment banking revenue consists of underwriting fees and commissions earned on corporate finance activities. revenue from 
underwritings and other corporate finance activities is recorded when the underlying transaction is substantially completed under 
the engagement terms and the related revenue is reasonably determinable. 

advisory fees consist of management and advisory fees that are recognized on an accrual basis. also included in advisory fees is 
revenue from mergers and acquisitions activities, which is recognized when the underlying transaction is substantially completed 
under the engagement terms and the related revenue is reasonably determinable. 

principal trading revenue consists of income earned in connection with principal trading operations and is recognized on a trade 
date basis.

interest revenue consists of interest earned on client margin accounts, interest earned on the company’s cash and cash 
equivalents balances, interest earned on cash delivered in support of securities borrowing activity, and dividends earned on 
securities owned. interest revenue is recognized on an effective interest rate basis. dividend income is recognized when the  
right to receive payment is established. 

other revenue includes foreign exchange gains or losses, revenue earned from our correspondent brokerage services and 
administrative fees revenues.

equIPMeNT AND leAseholD IMProveMeNTs

equipment, building and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. amortization is being 
recorded as follows:

computer equipment 33% declining balance basis
furniture and equipment 10% to 20% declining balance basis
leasehold improvements Straight-line over the term of the respective leases

an item of property, plant and equipment, and any specific part initially recognized, is derecognized upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the 
consolidated statements of operations when the asset is derecognized. 

the assets’ residual values, useful lives and method of amortization are reviewed at each financial year end, and are adjusted 
prospectively where appropriate.
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INcoMe TAxes

current income tax

current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 
to the taxation authorities. the tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amounts are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted, at the reporting date, in the countries where the company operates and generates taxable income.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations 
are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax

deferred taxes are accounted for using the liability method. this method requires that deferred taxes reflect the expected deferred 
tax effect of temporary differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
statement purposes and their tax bases. 

deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except for taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, can be utilized. the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets 
are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. unrecognized deferred tax assets are assessed at each 
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered. 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period. deferred tax is charged or credited in the statements of operations except where it relates to items that may 
be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is recognized directly against equity. 

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on the same taxable entity.

sales tax

revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax, except where the amount of sales tax incurred 
is not recoverable from the tax authority. in these circumstances, sales tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of an item of the expense. the net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
included as part of accounts receivable or accounts payable in the statements of financial position. 

TreAsury shAres

the company’s own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. 
this includes shares held in our long-term incentive plan and unvested share purchase loans. no gain or loss is recognized in the 
statements of operations in the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the company’s own equity instruments. any difference 
between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized in contributed surplus. Voting rights related to 
treasury shares are nullified for the company and no dividends are allocated to them. 

eArNINgs Per coMMoN shAre

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing the net income available to common shareholders for the period by 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. diluted earnings per common share reflects the dilutive effect of 
unvested share purchase loans, share issuance commitments in connection with share-based payment plans, unvested shares 
purchased by the employee benefit trust and share issuance commitments in connection with the long-term incentive plan based 
on the treasury stock method. the treasury stock method determines the number of incremental common shares by assuming 
that the number of shares the company has granted to employees has been issued. 
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shAre-BAseD PAyMeNTs

employees (including senior executives and directors) of the company receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). 
independent directors also receive deferred share units (dSus) as part of their remuneration, which can only be settled in cash 
(cash-settled transactions). the dilutive effect of outstanding options and share-based payments is reflected as additional share 
dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per common share. 

equity-settled transactions

for equity-settled transactions, the company measures the fair value of share-based awards as of the grant date and recognizes 
the cost as an expense over the applicable vesting period with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus. the cost is 
recognized on a graded basis. 

the company estimates the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest when calculating the amortization expense.  
no expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest. 

When share-based awards vest, contributed surplus is reduced by the applicable amount and share capital is increased by the 
same amount.

cash-settled transactions

the cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at fair value at the grant date. the fair values of dSus are expensed 
upon grant, as there are no vesting conditions [note 18]. the liability is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date up to and 
including the settlement date, with changes in fair value recognized through the statements of operations. 

ProvIsIoNs

provisions are recognized when the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. the expense relating to any provision is presented in the statements of operations net of any 
reimbursement. if the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 
reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognized as an interest expense. 

legal provisions

legal provisions are recognized when it is probable that the company will be liable for the future obligation as a result of a past 
event related to legal settlements or litigations. 

restructuring provisions

restructuring provisions are only recognized when the recognition criteria for provisions are fulfilled. in order for the recognition 
criteria to be met, the company needs to have in place a detailed formal plan about the business or part of the business 
concerned, the location and number of employees affected, a detailed estimate of associated costs and an appropriate 
timeline. in addition, either the personnel affected must have a valid expectation that the restructuring is being carried out or the 
implementation must have been initiated. the restructuring provision recognized includes staff restructuring costs, reorganization 
expenses and onerous lease provisions. 

IMPAIrMeNT oF NoN-FINANcIAl AsseTs

an impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. the company assesses at each 
reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. if any indication exists, or when an annual 
impairment testing for an asset is required, the company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

for assets excluding goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether 
there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. a previously 
recognized impairment loss can be reversed up to the lower of its recoverable amount and the carrying amount that would have 
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resulted had no impairment been recognized in prior periods. any reversal of impairment is recognized in the statements of 
operations. impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

leAses

the determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the 
inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement. the company has assessed its 
lease arrangements and concluded that the company only has leases that have the characteristics of an operating lease. an 
operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits and ownership of an asset to the 
lessee. operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the statements of operations on a straight-line basis over  
the lease term. 

BorroWINg cosTs

the company incurs borrowing costs in relation to its investments and broker dealer and client payable balances, the short term 
credit facility related to the acquisition of cSHp and its subordinated debt. Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
of an asset that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset.

clIeNT MoNey

the company’s uK operations hold money on behalf of its clients, in accordance with the client money rules of the financial 
Services authority in the united Kingdom. Such money and the corresponding liabilities to clients are not included in the 
statements of financial position as the company is not beneficially entitled thereto. the amounts held on behalf of clients at  
the reporting date are included in note 22.

coMPArATIve FINANcIAl sTATeMeNTs

certain of the comparative financial statement disclosures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the 
current year.

segMeNT rePorTINg 

the company’s segment reporting is based on the following operating segments: canaccord Genuity, canaccord Wealth Management 
and corporate and other. the company’s business operations are grouped into the following geographic regions: canada, the uK 
and europe, other foreign locations, and the uS.

N
o

Te securities owned and securities sold short6
  March 31, 2012  March 31, 2011 april 1, 2010 

  securities securities Securities Securities Securities Securities 
  owned sold owned sold owned sold

corporate and government debt $ 949,517 $ 824,466 $ 816,363 $ 689,509 $ 282,686 $ 342,916

equities and convertible debentures  222,471  90,183  130,822  33,104  80,069  21,221

 $ 1,171,988 $ 914,649 $ 947,185 $ 722,613 $ 362,755 $ 364,137

as at March 31, 2012, corporate and government debt maturities range from 2012 to 2096 [March 31, 2011 – 2011 to 2060; 
april 1, 2010 – 2010 to 2060] and bear interest ranging from 0.00% to 13.00% [March 31, 2011 – 0.50% to 14.00%; april 1, 
2010 – 0.50% to 14.00%].

N
o

Te Financial Instruments7
in the normal course of business the company is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk, which includes fair value 
risk, interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.
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creDIT rIsk

credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. credit risk arises from 
cash and cash equivalents, net receivables from clients and brokers and investment dealers, and other accounts receivable. the 
maximum exposure of the company to credit risk before taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements is 
the carrying amount of the financial instruments as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2012 and 
2011, and april 1, 2010. 

the primary source of credit risk to the company is in connection with trading activity by private clients and private client margin 
accounts. to minimize its exposure, the company applies certain credit standards, applies limits to transactions and requires 
settlement of securities transactions on a cash basis or delivery against payment. Margin transactions are collateralized by 
securities in the clients’ accounts in accordance with limits established by the applicable regulatory authorities and are subject to 
the company’s credit review and daily monitoring procedures. Management monitors the collectibility of receivables and estimates 
an allowance for doubtful accounts. the accounts receivable outstanding are expected to be collectible within one year. the 
company has recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts of $13.4 million [March 31, 2011 – $12.0 million; april 1, 2010 – 
$11.6 million] [note 8]. 

the company is also exposed to the risk that counterparties to transactions will not fulfill their obligations. counterparties primarily 
include investment dealers, clearing agencies, banks and other financial institutions. the company does not rely entirely on 
ratings assigned by credit rating agencies in evaluating counterparty risk. the company mitigates credit risk by performing its own 
due diligence assessments on the counterparties, obtaining and analyzing information regarding the structure of the financial 
instruments, and keeping current with new innovations in the market. the company also manages this risk by conducting regular 
credit reviews to assess creditworthiness, reviewing security and loan concentrations, holding and marking to market collateral on 
certain transactions and conducting business through clearing organizations with performance guarantees. 

as at March 31, 2012 and 2011 and april 1, 2010, the company’s most significant counterparty concentrations were with 
financial institutions and institutional clients. Management believes that they are in the normal course of business and does not 
anticipate loss for non-performance. 

lIquIDITy rIsk

liquidity risk is the risk that the company cannot meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations as they become due. the 
company’s management is responsible for reviewing liquidity resources to ensure funds are readily available to meet its financial 
obligations as they become due, as well as ensuring adequate funds exist to support business strategies and operational growth. 
the company’s business requires capital for operating and regulatory purposes. the current assets reflected on the statements 
of financial position are highly liquid. the majority of the positions held as securities owned are readily marketable and all are 
recorded at their fair value. client receivables are generally collateralized by readily marketable securities and are reviewed daily 
for impairment in value and collectibility. receivables and payables from brokers and dealers represent the following: current open 
transactions that generally settle within the normal three-day settlement cycle; collateralized securities borrowed and/or loaned 
in transactions that can be closed within a few days on demand; and balances on behalf of introducing brokers representing net 
balances in connection with their client accounts. additional information regarding the company’s capital structure and capital 
management objectives is discussed in note 21. 

the following table presents the contractual terms to maturity of the financial liabilities owed by the company as at March 31, 2012: 

financial liability carrying amount contractual term to maturity

Bank indebtedness $ 75,141 due on demand

Short term credit facility  150,000 due within six months

accounts payable and accrued liabilities  3,550,600 due within one year

restructuring provisions  26,723 due within one year

Subordinated debt 15,000 due on demand(1)

(1) Subject to investment industry regulatory organization of canada’s approval.

the fair values for the above financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying values and will be paid within 12 months.

MArkeT rIsk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. the company 
separates market risk into three categories: fair value risk, interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.
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Fair value risk

When participating in underwriting activities, the company may incur losses if it is unable to resell the securities it is committed to 
purchase or if it is forced to liquidate its commitment at less than the agreed upon purchase price. the company is also exposed 
to fair value risk as a result of its principal trading activities in equity securities, fixed income securities, and derivative financial 
instruments. Securities at fair value are valued based on quoted market prices where available and, as such, changes in fair value 
affect earnings as they occur. fair value risk also arises from the possibility that changes in market prices will affect the value 
of the securities the company holds as collateral for client margin accounts. the company mitigates its fair value risk exposure 
through controls to limit concentration levels and capital usage within its inventory trading accounts, as well as through monitoring 
procedures of the margin accounts.

the following table summarizes the effect on net income as a result of a fair value change in financial instruments as at March 31,  
2012. this analysis assumes all other variables remain constant. the methodology used to calculate the fair value sensitivity is 
consistent with the prior year. 
 
   March 31, 2012   March 31, 2011

 carrying value effect of a effect of a carrying value effect of a effect of a 
  10% increase 10% decrease  10% increase 10% decrease 
  in fair value on in fair value on  in fair value on in fair value on 
financial instrument Asset (liability) net income  net income  asset (liability) net income net income

equities and convertible  

 debentures owned $ 222,471 $ 6,541 $ (6,541) $ 130,822 $ 4,231 $ (4,231)

equities and convertible  

 debentures sold short  (90,183)  (2,651)  2,651  (33,104)  (1,071)  1,071

the following table summarizes the effect on oci as a result of a fair value change in the financial instruments classified as 
available for sale. this analysis assumes all other variables remain constant. the methodology used to calculate the fair value 
sensitivity is consistent with the prior year. 
 
   March 31, 2012   March 31, 2011

  effect of a effect of a  effect of a effect of a 
  10% increase 10% decrease  10% increase 10% decrease 
  in fair value in fair value  in fair value in fair value 
  on other  on other  on other on other 
  comprehensive  comprehensive  comprehensive comprehensive  
financial instrument carrying value income  income  carrying value income income

investments  $ 9,493 $ 507 $ (507) $ 5,934 $ 317 $ (317)

a fair value hierarchy is presented below that distinguishes the significance of the inputs used in determining the fair value 
measurements of various financial instruments. the hierarchy contains the following levels: level 1 uses quoted (unadjusted) 
prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, level 2 uses other techniques for which all inputs that have a 
significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly, and level 3 uses techniques with inputs 
that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value and that are not based on observable market data. 

  estimated fair value

    March 31, 2012  
  March 31, 2012 level 1 level 2 level 3

Securities owned  

 corporate and government debt   $ 949,517 $ 425,655  $ 520,070 $ 3,792

 equities and convertible debentures    222,471  206,584  6,107  9,780

Securities sold short  

 corporate and government debt    (824,466)  (535,117)  (289,349)  —

 equities and convertible debentures    (90,183)  (89,135)  (1,048)  —

investments    9,493  —  —  9,493
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  estimated fair value

    March 31, 2011  
  March 31, 2011 level 1 level 2 level 3

Securities owned

 corporate and government debt   $ 816,363 $ 691,195 $ 125,168 $ —

 equities and convertible debentures    130,822  120,914  3,280  6,628

Securities sold short

 corporate and government debt    (689,509)  (484,357)  (205,152)  —

 equities and convertible debentures    (33,104)  (33,104)  —  —

investments    5,934  —  —  5,934

  estimated fair value

    april 1, 2010  
  april 1, 2010 level 1 level 2 level 3

Securities owned

 corporate and government debt   $ 282,686 $ 218,831 $ 63,855 $ —

 equities and convertible debentures    80,069  76,060  674  3,335

Securities sold short

 corporate and government debt    (342,916)  (298,567)  (44,349)  —

 equities and convertible debentures    (21,221)  (21,221)  —  —

investments    6,732  —  —  6,732

during the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011, there were no transfers between level 1, 2, and 3 fair value 
measurements. 

Movement in level 3 Financial Assets
     

april 1, 2010          $ 10,067

transfers into level 3 assets           3,473

unrealized loss recognized in oci           (798)

Sales           (180)

March 31, 2011           12,562

purchase of investment from acquisition of cSHp           3,559

transfers into level 3 assets           7,218

Sales           (274)

March 31, 2012         $ 23,065

Interest rate risk

interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the fair value or future cash flows of financial  
instruments held by the company. the company incurs interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalent balances, bank 
indebtedness, short term credit facility, fixed income portion of securities owned and securities sold short, net clients’ balances, 
and net brokers’ and investment dealers’ balances, as well as its subordinated debt. the company attempts to minimize and 
monitor its exposure to interest rate risk through quantitative analysis of its net positions of fixed income securities, clients’ 
balances, securities lending and borrowing activities, and short term borrowings. the company also trades in futures in an attempt 
to mitigate interest rate risk. futures are included in marketable securities owned, net of marketable securities sold short, for the 
purpose of calculating interest rate sensitivity.

all cash and cash equivalents mature within three months. net clients’ receivable (payable) balances charge (incur) interest based 
on floating interest rates. Subordinated debt bears interest at a rate of prime plus 4%, payable monthly. the short term credit 
facility bears interest based on a prime-linked rate payable monthly. 
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the following table provides the effect on net income (loss) for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 if interest rates 
had increased or decreased by 100 basis points applied to balances as of March 31, 2012 and 2011. fluctuations in interest 
rates do not have an effect on oci. this sensitivity analysis assumes all other variables are constant. the methodology used to 
calculate the interest rate sensitivity is consistent with the prior year. 
 
   March 31, 2012   March 31, 2011

  Net income  Net income  net income net income 
   effect of a  effect of a   effect of a  effect of a 
  100 bps 100 bps   100 bps  100 bps 
   increase in  decrease in   increase in decrease in
 carrying value interest rates interest rates(1) carrying value interest rates interest rates(1)

cash and cash equivalents,  

 net of bank indebtedness $ 739,097 $ 3,953 $ (4,038) $ 940,488 $ 5,529 $ (5,538)

Marketable securities owned, net of  

 marketable securities sold short  257,339  (132)  691  224,572  746  (746)

Short term credit facility  (150,000)  (401)  401  n/a  n/a  n/a

clients’ payable, net  (688,954)  (3,515)  (2,417)  (852,636)  (5,012)  (4,161)

rrSp cash balances held in trust  535,486  2,864  (2,864)  553,802  3,256  (3,256)

Brokers’ and investment dealers’  

 payable, net  (124,413)  (1,224)  7  (223,596)  (1,293)  65

Subordinated debt  (15,000)  (80)  80  (15,000)  (88)  88

(1)  Subject to a floor of zero.

Foreign exchange risk

foreign exchange risk arises from the possibility that changes in the price of foreign currencies will result in losses. the company’s 
primary foreign exchange risk results from its investment in its uS, australia, and uK and europe subsidiaries. these subsidiaries 
are translated using the foreign exchange rate at the reporting date. any fluctuation in the canadian dollar against the uS dollar, 
the pound sterling, or the australian dollar will result in a change in the unrealized gains (losses) on translation of foreign 
operations recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (losses).

all of the subsidiaries may also hold financial instruments in currencies other than their functional currency; therefore, any 
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates will impact foreign exchange gains or losses. 

the following table summarizes the effects on net income (loss) and oci as a result of a 10% change in the value of the foreign 
currencies where there is significant exposure. the analysis assumes all other variables remain constant. the methodology used 
to calculate the foreign exchange rate sensitivity is consistent with the prior year. 

as at March 31, 2012: 
   

   effect of a effect of a effect of a effect of a 
   5% appreciation 5% depreciation 5% appreciation 5% depreciation 
   in foreign in foreign  in foreign  in foreign 
   exchange rate exchange rate exchange rate exchange rate 
currency   on net income  on net income  on ocI  on ocI 

uS dollar     $ (1,199) $ 1,199 $ 4,229 $ (4,229)

pound sterling      (2,461)  2,461  33,310  (33,310)

australian dollar      nil  nil  4,660  (4,660)
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as at March 31, 2011:

   effect of a effect of a effect of a effect of a 
   5% appreciation 5% depreciation 5% appreciation 5% depreciation 
   in foreign in foreign  in foreign  in foreign 
   exchange rate exchange rate exchange rate exchange rate 
currency   on net income  on net income  on oci  on oci 

uS dollar     $ (1,584) $ 1,584 $ 4,249 $ (4,249)

pound sterling      (130)  130  3,567  (3,567)

australian dollar      n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a

DerIvATIve FINANcIAl INsTruMeNTs

derivative financial instruments are financial contracts, the value of which is derived from the value of the underlying assets, 
interest rates, indices or currency exchange rates. all derivative financial instruments are expected to be settled within six months 
subsequent to fiscal year end.

Foreign exchange forward contracts

the company uses derivative financial instruments to manage foreign exchange risk on pending security settlements in foreign 
currencies. the fair value of these contracts is nominal due to their short term to maturity. realized and unrealized gains and 
losses related to these contracts are recognized in net income (loss) during the reporting period. 

forward contracts outstanding at March 31, 2012:
 

   Notional amounts Average price   
   (millions of usD) (cAD/usD) Maturity Fair value

to sell uS dollars     $ 13.3 $ 1.00  April 4, 2012  nil

to buy uS dollars      9.3  1.00  April 4, 2012  nil

forward contracts outstanding at March 31, 2011:

   notional amounts average price   
   (millions of uSd) (cad/uSd) Maturity fair value

to sell uS dollars     $ 5.0 $ 0.98  april 5, 2011  nil

to buy uS dollars      25.1  0.97  april 5, 2011  nil

forward contracts outstanding at april 1, 2010:

   notional amounts average price   
   (millions of uSd) (cad/uSd) Maturity fair value

to sell uS dollars     $ 8.3 $ 1.02  april 6, 2010  nil

to buy uS dollars      17.0  1.02  april 6, 2010  nil

Bond futures

the company is involved in trading bond futures contracts, which are agreements to buy or sell a standardized amount of an 
underlying Government of canada bond, at a predetermined future date and price, in accordance with terms specified by a 
regulated futures exchange, and are subject to daily cash margining. the company trades in futures in order to mitigate interest 
rate risk, yield curve risk, and liquidity risk. the notional amount of futures contracts outstanding at March 31, 2012 was  
$7.2 million [March 31, 2011 – $0.1 million; april 1, 2010 – $96.9 million]. 

credit risk on bond futures is minimal as the counterparty to every futures trade is a clearing corporation, which acts as a third 
party that matches trade and collects and maintains margin. 
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securITIes leNDINg AND BorroWINg 

the company employs securities lending and borrowing primarily to facilitate the securities settlement process. these 
arrangements are typically short term in nature, with interest being received when cash is delivered and interest being paid when 
cash is received. these transactions are fully collateralized and are subject to daily margin calls for any deficiency between the 
market value of the security given and the amount of collateral received. these transactions are collateralized by either cash or 
securities, including government treasury bills and government bonds, and are reflected within accounts receivable and accounts 
payable. interest earned on cash collateral is based on a floating rate. at March 31, 2012 the floating rates ranged from 0.00% to 
0.68%, respectively [March 31, 2011 – 0.00% to 0.67%; april 1, 2010 – 0.00% to 0.049%, respectively].

  cash  securities

 loaned or Borrowed or loaned or Borrowed or 
 delivered as received as delivered as received as 
 collateral collateral collateral collateral

March 31, 2012 $ 120,781 $ 63,856 $ 66,102 $ 122,184

March 31, 2011  117,187  51,364  52,075  119,295

april 1, 2010  135,690  45,575  50,703  140,124

BANk INDeBTeDNess

the company enters into call loans or overdraft positions primarily to facilitate the securities settlement process for both client 
and company securities transactions. the bank indebtedness is collateralized by either unpaid client securities and/or securities 
owned by the company. as at March 31, 2012 the company had a balance of $75.1 million outstanding [March 31, 2011 –  
$13.6 million; april 1, 2010 – $29.4 million]. interest on the bank indebtedness was at a floating rate of 0.64% as at March 31, 
2012 [March 31, 2011 – 0.88%; april 1, 2010 – 1.70%]. 

shorT TerM creDIT FAcIlITy

the company entered into a $150 million senior secured credit agreement to finance a portion of the cash consideration for 
its acquisition of cSHp [note 11]. this credit facility is collateralized by guarantees, securities pledge agreements, or equitable 
mortgages in the uK over the shares of its material subsidiaries. the balance outstanding as of March 31, 2012 was $150.0 million. 
this short term credit facility bears a step-up prime-rate linked interest rate (up to +75 basis points) per annum, and the facility 
must be repaid within 180 days of the initial drawdown on March 21, 2012.

oTher creDIT FAcIlITIes

Subsidiaries of the company also have other credit facilities with banks in canada and the uK for an aggregate amount of  
$650.4 million. these credit facilities, consisting of call loans, letters of credit and daylight overdraft facilities, are collateralized 
by unpaid client securities and/or securities owned by the company. as of March 31, 2012, there were no outstanding balances 
under these other credit facilities. 

a subsidiary of the company has also entered into secured irrevocable standby letters of credit from a financial institution totalling 
$1.9	million	(US$1.9	million)	as	rent	guarantees	for	its	leased	premises	in	Boston	and	New	York.	As	of	March	31,	2012,	March	31,	 
2011 and april 1, 2010, there were no outstanding balances under these standby letters of credit.

N
o

Te Accounts receivable and Accounts Payable and Accrued liabilities8
AccouNTs receIvABle

  March 31,  March 31,  april 1, 
  2012 2011 2010

Brokers and investment dealers   $ 1,839,332 $ 1,426,005 $ 932,408

clients    616,300  789,896  503,733

rrSp cash balances held in trust    535,486  553,802  475,220

other    90,522  59,109  61,563

   $ 3,081,640 $ 2,828,812 $ 1,972,924
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AccouNTs PAyABle AND AccrueD lIABIlITIes

  March 31,  March 31,  april 1, 
  2012 2011 2010

Brokers and investment dealers   $ 1,963,745 $ 1,649,601 $ 949,595

clients    1,305,254  1,642,532  1,188,545

other    281,601  258,991  165,015

   $ 3,550,600 $ 3,551,124 $ 2,303,155

amounts due from and to brokers and investment dealers include balances from resale and repurchase agreements, securities 
loaned and borrowed, as well as brokers’ and dealers’ counterparty balances. 

client security purchases are entered into on either a cash or a margin basis. in the case of a margin account, the company 
extends a loan to a client for the purchase of securities, using securities purchased and/or other securities in the client’s account 
as collateral. amounts loaned to any client are limited by the margin regulations of the investment industry regulatory organization 
of canada (iiroc) and other regulatory authorities and are subject to the company’s credit review and daily monitoring procedures.

amounts due from and to clients are due by the settlement date of the trade transaction. Margin loans are due on demand and 
are collateralized by the assets in the clients’ accounts. interest on margin loans and on amounts due to clients is based on a 
floating rate [March 31, 2012 – 6.00% to 6.25% and 0.00% to 0.05%, respectively; March 31, 2011 – 6.00% to 6.25% and 0.00% 
to 0.05%, respectively; april 1, 2010 – 5.25% to 6.25% and 0.00% to 0.05% respectively].

as at March 31, 2012, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $13.4 million [March 31, 2011 – $12.0 million; april 1, 2010 – 
$11.6 million]. See below for the movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts:

      total

at april 1, 2010         $ 11,557

charge for the year          3,854

utilized           (3,427)

at March 31, 2011          11,984

charge for the year          10,036

recoveries           (6,169)

utilized           (2,416)

At March 31, 2012          $ 13,435

N
o

Te Investments9
  March 31,  March 31,  april 1, 
  2012 2011 2010

available for sale   $ 9,493 $ 5,934 $ 6,732

the company invested $5.0 million in a limited partnership as part of its initiative to operate an alternative alpha trading System. 
as a result of the acquisition of cSHp, the company holds an investment in euroclear, one of the principal clearing houses for 
securities traded in the euromarket. these investments are carried at fair value, determined using a market approach. 



notes to consolidated financial Statements

 canaccord financial inc.  2012 annual report 99

N
o

Te equipment and leasehold Improvements10
   Accumulated Net book
  cost amortization value

March 31, 2012         

computer equipment   $ 9,840  $ 3,855  $ 5,985 

furniture and equipment    28,506   16,813   11,693 

leasehold improvements    68,322   34,916   33,406 

   $ 106,668  $ 55,584  $ 51,084 

March 31, 2011

computer equipment   $ 6,536 $ 5,335 $ 1,201

furniture and equipment    27,038  16,516  10,522

leasehold improvements    61,684  32,589  29,095

   $ 95,258 $ 54,440 $ 40,818

april 1, 2010

computer equipment   $ 5,550 $ 4,676 $ 874

furniture and equipment    26,490  16,014  10,476

leasehold improvements    53,278  26,501  26,777

   $ 85,318 $ 47,191 $ 38,127

 computer furniture and leasehold  
 equipment  equipment  improvements total

cost          

Balance, april 1, 2010 $ 5,550  $ 26,490  $ 53,278  $ 85,318 

additions  650   367   6,041   7,058 

acquisition of a subsidiary  330   312   2,614   3,256 

exchange adjustment  6   (131)  (249)  (374)

Balance, March 31, 2011   6,536  27,038  61,684  95,258

additions  1,182   1,948   7,483   10,613 

acquisition of a subsidiary  4,841   1,995   4,998   11,834 

disposals   (2,883)  (2,512)  (6,195)  (11,590)

exchange adjustment  164   37   352   553 

Balance, March 31, 2012 $ 9,840  $ 28,506  $ 68,322  $ 106,668 

 computer furniture and leasehold  
 equipment  equipment  improvements total

Accumulated amortization  

Balance, april 1, 2010 $ 4,676  $ 16,014  $ 26,501  $ 47,191 

additions  623   323   6,243   7,189 

disposals  34   243   —   277 

exchange adjustment  2   (64)  (155)  (217)

Balance, March 31, 2011  5,335   16,516   32,589   54,440 

additions  617   2,288   5,325   8,230 

disposals  (2,146)  (2,026)  (3,087)  (7,259)

exchange adjustment   49   35   89   173 

Balance, March 31, 2012 $  3,855  $ 16,813  $ 34,916  $ 55,584 

the amount of borrowing costs capitalized during the year ended March 31, 2012 was nil [March 31, 2011 – nil]. 
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N
o

Te Business combinations11
[i] BgF cAPITAl grouP PTy lTD

on July 31, 2011, the company announced that it had signed a definitive agreement to acquire a 50% interest in BGf, a boutique 
investment bank based in australia, with offices in Melbourne, Sydney and Hong Kong. the transaction was completed on 
november 1, 2011 for consideration consisting of 623,796 canaccord common shares valued at $5.7 million [aud$5.5 million] 
and cash of $36.5 million [aud$34.7 million]. the shares issued were valued at $9.20 per common share based on the closing 
share price as of november 1, 2011, the closing date of the transaction, in accordance with ifrS 3, “Business Combinations”. 
all of the canaccord common shares issued as part of the purchase price were placed in escrow at closing and will be released 
ratably over five years. Subsequent to the closing of the transaction, BGf was rebranded as canaccord BGf. 

the purchase agreement grants the company a call option to purchase the remaining 50% interest in BGf. the option is exercisable 
by the company for a three-month period commencing on november 1, 2016 at a price to be determined at that time by reference 
to canaccord BGf profits as set out in the purchase agreement. as the option price is expected to approximate fair market value 
at the time it is exercisable, the value of this call option is nominal.

total costs expensed related to this transaction were $1.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2012. these costs consist 
primarily of professional and consulting fees.

the purchase price, determined by the fair value of the consideration given at the date of the acquisition and the fair value of the 
net assets acquired on the date of the acquisition, was as follows:

consideration paid
      

cash   $ 36,497

common shares issued (623,796 shares @ $9.20 per share)    5,739

   $ 42,236

Net assets acquired
      

fair value of tangible assets   $ 26,798

non-controlling interests    (19,019)

identifiable intangible assets    16,205

deferred tax liability related to identifiable intangible assets    (4,861)

Goodwill    23,113

   $ 42,236

the fair value of BGf’s net tangible assets was $26.8 million, which included cash of $26.6 million and accounts receivable of 
$0.6 million. non-controlling interests of $19.0 million have also been recognized, representing 50% of BGf’s net identifiable 
assets at the acquisition date. identifiable intangible assets of $16.2 million were recognized and include brand names, 
customer relationships, sales backlog, non-competition agreements, and trading licences [note 12]. the goodwill of $23.1 million 
represents the value of expected synergies arising from the acquisition. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. 

in accordance with iaS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”, the company has consolidated the operating 
results of canaccord BGf and recognized a 50% non-controlling interest, which at the acquisition date represented the portion of 
canaccord BGf net identifiable assets not controlled by the company. 

contributions to revenue and net loss by canaccord BGf were $3.8 million and $2.0 million since the acquisition date.

[ii] collINs sTeWArT hAWkPoINT Plc

on december 15, 2011, the company announced that it had made an offer to acquire 100% of cSHp, an independent investment 
bank based in the uK, with operations in europe, the uS and Singapore. this transaction closed on March 21, 2012. the total 
purchase consideration of $400.1 million was paid as a combination of cash and canaccord common shares. 
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the purchase price, determined by the fair value of the consideration given at the date of the acquisition and the fair value of the 
net assets acquired on the date of the acquisition, was as follows:

consideration paid
      

cash   $ 230,797

common shares issued (18,273,812 shares @ $9.01 per share)    164,462

replacement stock plan awards and other    4,836

   $ 400,095

Net assets acquired
      

cash    $ 54,508

accounts receivable    907,702

other tangible assets    184,660

liabilities    (1,005,010)

identifiable intangible assets    64,183

deferred tax liability related to identifiable intangible assets    (7,834)

Goodwill    201,886

   $ 400,095

the cash consideration was funded through a combination of borrowing under a short term credit facility, pursuant to a $150 million  
senior secured credit agreement, and the company’s existing cash resources [note 7]. net proceeds from the issuance of 
Series c preferred Shares [notes 15 and 25] of $97 million, which closed on april 10, 2012, were used towards reducing the 
outstanding borrowings under this short term credit facility. 

the fair value of cSHp’s net tangible assets was $141.9 million, which included accounts receivable of $908 million. identifiable 
intangible assets of $64.2 million were recognized and include brand names, customer relationships, sales backlog, and 
technology [note 12]. the goodwill of $201.9 million represents the value of expected synergies arising from the acquisition. 
Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. 

the above amounts are estimates, which were made by management at the time of the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements based on available information. amendments may be made to these amounts while values subject to 
estimates are finalized for a period of up to 12 months subsequent to the close of the acquisition. the preliminary allocation of 
goodwill to the various cash-generating units may be subject to change.

the aggregate acquisition-related costs incurred by the company in connection with the acquisition of cSHp are $13.1 million. 
these costs are mainly comprised of professional and consulting fees. in addition to the acquisition-related costs incurred during 
the year ended March 31, 2012, the company also incurred restructuring expenses of $20.8 million in connection with the 
closing of the acquisition and other expenditures related to the integration of the operations of the common business units of the 
company and cSHp.

the company intends to put in place a £15 million ($24 million) retention plan for key cSHp staff. the company intends to implement 
this retention plan by the award of up to 2,036,785 restricted share units under a “cSHp inducement plan”, which would vest on the 
third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the completion of the acquisition, and the award of the balance of the plan as restricted share 
units under the existing ltip, which would vest on the first and second anniversaries of the completion of the acquisition.

contributions to revenue and net loss by cSHp, including restructuring and acquisition-related costs, were $12.0 million and  
$7.4 million since the acquisition date. 

Had cSHp and BGf been consolidated from april 1, 2011, as part of the consolidated statement of operations, the consolidated 
revenue and net loss would have been approximately $922.7 million [unaudited] and $33.1 million [unaudited], respectively, for the 
year ended March 31, 2012. these figures represent historical results and are not necessarily indicative of future performance.
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N
o

Te goodwill and other Intangible Assets12
 identifiable intangible assets

 
    customer    non- trading  
  Goodwill Brand names relationships Sales backlog technology competition  licences total

gross amount

Balance, april 1, 2010 $ — $ — $ — $ — $  — $  — $ — $ —

additions – Genuity  242,074  44,930  25,450  1,633  —  7,037  —  79,050

additions – tBG     3,183  —  —  —  —  —  —  —

Balance, March 31, 2011  245,257  44,930  25,450  1,633  —  7,037  —  79,050

addition – BGf   23,113  494  7,009  994  —  7,508  200  16,205

addition – cSHp   201,886  1,181  52,166  4,943  5,893  —  —  64,183

foreign exchange   2,254  13   626  54  82  (108)  (3)  664

Balance, March 31, 2012  472,510  46,618  85,251  7,624  5,975  14,437  197  160,102

Accumulated amortization 

Balance, april 1, 2010  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —

For the year ended  

 March 31, 2011

amortization   —  —  (2,172)  (1,633)  —  (1,322)  —  (5,127)

Balance, March 31, 2011  —  —  (2,172)  (1,633)  —  (1,322)  —  (5,127)

For the year ended  

 March 31, 2012

amortization    —  (206)  (2,875)  (292)  —  (2,118)  —  (5,491)

foreign exchange   —  1  8  4  —  13  —  26

Balance, March 31, 2012  —  (205)  (5,039)  (1,921)  —  (3,427)  —  (10,592)

Net book value

March 31, 2011   245,257  44,930  23,278  —  —  5,715  —  73,923

March 31, 2012   472,510  46,413  80,212  5,703  5,975  11,010  197  149,510

IMPAIrMeNT TesTINg oF gooDWIll AND IDeNTIFIABle INTANgIBle AsseTs WITh INDeFINITe lIves

the carrying amounts of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets acquired through business combinations have been allocated 
to the cash-generating units as follows: 
 
 intangible assets with indefinite lives Goodwill total

 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011

canaccord genuity

canada $ 44,930 $ 44,930 $ 242,074 $ 242,074 $ 287,004 $ 287,004

uK and europe  —  —  82,969  —  82,969  —

uS  —  —  7,169  —  7,169  —

other foreign locations (china)  —  —  3,183  3,183  3,183  3,183

other foreign locations (australia)  197    22,752  —  22,949  —

other foreign locations (Singapore)  —  —  28,288  —  28,288  —

canaccord Wealth Management

uK and europe  —  —  86,075  —  86,075  —

 $ 45,127 $ 44,930 $ 472,510 $ 245,257 $ 517,637 $ 290,187

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units’ assets has been determined based on value-in-use calculations, using 
cash flow projections based, in part, on financial budgets approved by senior management covering a one-year period. there is a 
material degree of uncertainty with respect to the estimates of the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units’ assets given 
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that they involve making key assumptions about the future. Based on management’s best estimates, the value-in-use calculation 
uses discounted cash flow projections that employ the following key assumptions: future cash flows, growth projections and the 
weighted average cost of capital. 

the cash flow projection’s key assumptions are based on the company’s financial forecasts, which span a period of five years.  
the following rates are used by the company for each cash-generating unit:
 
 canaccord Genuity

 canada other foreign locations (australia) other foreign locations (china)

 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011

discount rate  12.5%  12%  14%  n/a  20%  n/a

compound annual growth rate  15%  19%  32%  n/a  16%  n/a

terminal growth rate  3%  5.0%  5%  n/a  5%  n/a

in order to determine the value-in-use of each cash-generating unit, the cash flow projections of each cash-generating unit are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate. the discount rate is based on the specific circumstances of the 
company and its operating segments and is derived from its weighted average cost of capital (Wacc). the Wacc takes into account 
the cost of both debt and equity. the Wacc is adjusted for specific risks associated with each cash-generating unit that have not 
been incorporated into the cash flow forecasts.

Sensitivity testing was conducted as a part of the March 2012 annual impairment test of goodwill and indefinite life intangible 
assets. the sensitivity testing includes assessing the impact that reasonably possible declines in projected growth rates and 
increases in the discount rate would have on the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units, with other assumptions being 
held constant. 

the company’s impairment testing has determined that the recoverable amount of the other foreign locations (australia) cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount by $1.8 million, and consequently, a reasonably possible decline in the projected 
growth rate or increase in the discount rate may result in an impairment charge in respect of the goodwill and indefinite life 
intangible assets allocated to this cash-generating unit. an increase of 1 percentage point in the discount rate or a reduction in  
the compound annual growth rate of 2.5 percentage points may result in a full or partial impairment. 

for all other cash-generating units, the company believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions 
would cause the carrying value of the unit to exceed its recoverable amount. 

there was no indication of significant impairment of the goodwill related to the acquisition of cSHp from its acquisition date of 
March 22, 2012 to March 31, 2012. the ongoing annual impairment test for the goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets for 
cSHp will be performed by March 31, 2013. 

N
o

Te Income Taxes13
the major components of income tax expense are:

   March 31,  March 31, 
   2012 2011

consolidated statements of operations

 current income tax expense

  current income tax expense $ 9,607 $ 40,288

  adjustments in respect of prior years  1,436  1,990

  11,043  42,278

 deferred income tax expense (recovery)

  origination and reversal of temporary differences  (6,176)  144

  impact of change in tax rates  360  307

  (5,816)  451

 income tax expense reported in the statements of operations $ 5,227 $ 42,729
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the company’s income tax expense differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the combined federal and 
provincial income tax rates as a result of the following:

   March 31,  March 31, 
   2012 2011

(loss) income before income taxes $ (16,119) $ 142,472

income taxes at the estimated statutory rate of 25.8% (2011: 27.8%)  (4,165)  39,639

difference in tax rates in foreign jurisdictions  (1,944)  1,763

non-deductible items affecting the determination of taxable income  5,690  2,659

change in accounting and tax base estimate  2,654  3,735

change in deferred tax asset – reversal period of temporary difference  (1,393)  (600)

tax losses and other temporary differences not recognized (prior year’s losses recognized on utilization)  4,385  (4,467)

income tax expense reported in the statements of operations $ 5,227 $ 42,729

the following were the deferred tax liabilities and assets recognized by the company and movements thereon during the year:

  consolidated Statements consolidated Statements  
  of financial position of operations 

   March 31, March 31, april 1,  March 31, March 31, 
   2012 2011  2010 2012 2011

unrealized gain on securities owned    $ (1,150) $ (2,654) $ (857) $ (1,727) $ 1,797

legal provisions    1,585  1,488  1,239  (97)  (249)

unpaid remunerations    883  —  —  512  —

unamortized capital cost of equipment and leasehold 

 improvements over their net book value   997  48  35  (603)  (13)

unamortized common share purchase loans   3,362  3,305  3,215  (57)  (90)

loss carryforwards    8,130  25  —  (3,921)  (25)

common and preferred shares issuance costs   1,039  116  8  49  173

long-term incentive plan    9,486  8,148  8,991  1,945  843

other intangible assets    (28,921)  (18,176)  (321)  (1,829)  (1,581)

investment in limited partnership    (675)  (679)  (699)  (3)  (20)

other    1,135  1,719  1,335  (85)  (384)

   $ (4,129) $ (6,660) $ 12,946 $ (5,816) $ 451

deferred tax assets and liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statements of financial position are as follows:

  March 31,  March 31,  april 1, 
  2012 2011 2010

deferred tax assets   $ 3,959 $ 1,503 $ 12,946

deferred tax liabilities    (8,088)  (8,163)  —

   $ (4,129) $ (6,660) $ 12,946

the movement for the year in the net deferred tax position was as follows:

   March 31,  March 31, 
   2012 2011

opening balance as of april 1  $ (6,660) $ 12,946

tax (expense) recovery during the period recognized in statements of operations  5,816  (451)

deferred taxes acquired in business combinations  (4,257)  (19,436)

tax (expense) recovery during the period recognized in shareholders’ equity  972  281

 $ (4,129) $ (6,660)
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deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and if the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on the same taxable entity.

tax loss carryforwards of $29.7 million in the uK and europe and $1.9 million in other foreign locations (australia) have been 
recognized as a deferred tax asset. the losses in both jurisdictions can be carried forward indefinitely.

at the balance sheet date, the company has tax loss carryforwards approximating $27.1 million [2011 – $0.6 million] for which 
a deferred tax asset has not been recognized. these losses relate to subsidiaries outside of canada that have a history of losses 
and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the consolidated group of companies. the subsidiaries have no taxable 
temporary differences or tax planning opportunities available that could partly support the recognition of these losses as deferred 
tax assets, as the likelihood of future economic benefit is not sufficiently assured. these losses begin expiring in 2029.

other temporary differences not recognized as deferred tax assets in relation to subsidiaries outside of canada amount to  
$20.5 million at March 31, 2012 [2011 – $6.1 million]. Since the subsidiaries outside of canada have a history of losses and the 
deductible temporary differences may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the consolidated group of companies, no 
asset has been recognized as the likelihood of future economic benefit is not sufficiently assured. 

at March 31, 2012, there was no recognized deferred tax liability for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings 
of certain of the company’s subsidiaries. the company has determined that undistributed profits of its subsidiaries will not be 
distributed in the foreseeable future. the temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which a deferred 
tax liability has not been recognized are $nil (2011 – $nil).

N
o

Te subordinated Debt14
  March 31,  March 31,  april 1, 
  2012 2011 2010

loan payable, interest payable monthly at prime + 4% per annum, due on demand  $ 15,000 $ 15,000 $ 15,000

the loan payable is subject to a subordination agreement and may only be repaid with the prior approval of the iiroc. as at  
March 31, 2012 and 2011 and april 1, 2010, the interest rates for the subordinated debt were 7.0%, 7.0%, and 6.25%. 

N
o

Te Preferred shares15
 
  March 31, 2012  March 31, 2011  april 1, 2010

  Number of  number of   number of
 Amount  shares amount  shares amount  shares

Series a preferred Shares,  

 issued and outstanding $ 110,818  4,540,000 $ —  — $ —  —

on april 15, 2011, the company’s shareholders approved amendments to its articles to alter the authorized capital of the 
company by creating an additional class of preferred shares. the company has an unlimited number of authorized preferred 
shares without nominal or par value. 

[i] serIes A PreFerreD shAres

On	June	23,	2011,	the	Company	issued	4,000,000	Cumulative	5-Year	Rate	Reset	First	Preferred	Shares,	Series	A	(Series	A	
preferred Shares) at a purchase price of $25.00 per share, for gross proceeds of $100 million. on July 7, 2011, the company 
closed the over-allotment option and issued an additional 540,000 Series a preferred Shares at $25.00 per share for gross 
proceeds of $13.5 million.

the aggregate net amount recognized after deducting issue costs, net of deferred taxes of $1.0 million, was $110.8 million. 
Quarterly cumulative cash dividends, if declared, will be paid at an annual rate of 5.5% for the initial five-year period ending on 
September 30, 2016. thereafter, the dividend rate will be reset every five years at a rate equal to the five-year Government of 
canada bond yield plus 3.21%. 
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Holders of Series a preferred Shares have the right, at their option, to convert any or all of their shares into an equal number  
of cumulative floating rate first preferred Shares, Series B (Series B preferred Shares), subject to certain conditions, on  
September 30, 2016 and on September 30 every five years thereafter. Holders of the Series B preferred Shares will be entitled 
to receive floating rate, cumulative, preferential dividends payable quarterly, if declared, at a rate equal to the three-month 
Government of canada treasury Bill yield plus 3.21%. 

the company has the option to redeem the Series a preferred Shares on September 30, 2016 and on September 30 every five 
years thereafter, in whole or in part, at $25.00 per share together with all declared and unpaid dividends. the Series B preferred 
Shares are redeemable at the company’s option on September 30, 2021 and on September 30 every five years thereafter, in 
whole or in part, at $25.00 per share together with all declared and unpaid dividends.

[ii] serIes c PreFerreD shAres

On	March	22,	2012,	the	Company	announced	that	it	had	agreed	to	issue	4,000,000	Cumulative	5-Year	Rate	Reset	First	Preferred	
Shares, Series c (Series c preferred Shares) at a purchase price of $25.00 per share for gross proceeds of $100 million. 
Quarterly cumulative cash dividends, if declared, will be paid at an annual rate of 5.75% for the initial five-year period ending on 
September 30, 2016. thereafter, the dividend rate will be reset every five years at a rate equal to the five-year Government of 
canada bond yield plus 4.03%. 

Holders of Series c preferred Shares have the right, at their option, to convert any or all of their shares into an equal number of 
cumulative floating rate first preferred Shares, Series d (Series d preferred Shares), subject to certain conditions, on June 30, 
2017 and on June 30 every five years thereafter. Holders of the Series c preferred Shares will be entitled to receive floating rate, 
cumulative, preferential dividends payable quarterly, if declared, at a rate equal to the three-month Government of canada treasury 
Bill yield plus 4.03%. 

the company has the option to redeem the Series c preferred Shares on June 30, 2017 and on June 30 every five years 
thereafter, in whole or in part, at $25.00 per share together with all declared and unpaid dividends. the Series d preferred Shares 
are redeemable at the company’s option on June 30, 2022 and on June 30 every five years thereafter, in whole or in part, at 
$25.00 per share together with all declared and unpaid dividends.

the offering closed subsequent to fiscal year end on april 10, 2012 [note 25]. the net amount recognized after deducting issue 
costs, net of deferred taxes of $1.0 million, was $97.3 million. 

N
o

Te common shares16
 
  March 31, 2012  March 31, 2011  april 1, 2010

  Number of  number of   number of
 Amount  shares amount  shares amount  shares

issued and fully paid $ 705,293  101,688,721 $ 533,876  82,809,623 $ 254,553  55,571,133

unvested share purchase loans  (33,152)  (3,209,336)  (36,018)  (4,501,992)  (35,280)  (4,475,468)

Held for ltip  (48,402)  (4,453,508)  (30,808)  (2,903,991)  (33,582)  (3,201,274)

 $ 623,739  94,025,877 $ 467,050  75,403,640 $ 185,691  47,894,391

[i] AuThorIzeD

unlimited common shares without par value
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[ii] IssueD AND Fully PAID

     number of shares amount

Balance, april 1, 2010  55,571,133 $ 254,553

Shares issued in relation to the acquisition of Genuity   26,500,000  271,900

Shares issued in connection with share-based payment plans [note 18]  823,144  7,969

Shares cancelled in connection with share-based payment plans  (84,654)  (546)

Balance, March 31, 2011  82,809,623  533,876

Shares issued in connection with share-based payment plans [note 18]  841,113  7,081

Shares issued in relation to the acquisition of 50% interest in BGf [note 11]  623,796  5,739

Shares issued in relation to the acquisition of cSHp [note 11]  18,273,812  164,462

Shares cancelled related to forfeited escrowed shares  (59,048)  (606)

Shares cancelled in connection with share-based payment plans  (100,075)  (694)

Shares cancelled under the nciB  (700,500)  (4,565)

Balance, March 31, 2012  101,688,721 $ 705,293

the company has filed a notice for a normal course issuer bid (nciB) to allow for the purchase of up to 2,000,000 of its common 
shares through the facilities of the tSX from June 13, 2011 to June 12, 2012. the purchase of common shares under the nciB 
will enable the company to acquire shares for cancellation. the shares that may be repurchased represent 2.0% of the company’s 
outstanding common shares as of March 31, 2012. the company repurchased 700,500 shares for cash consideration of  
$5.7 million through the nciB between June 13, 2011 and March 31, 2012, which were subsequently cancelled. 

[iii] coMMoN shAre PurchAse loANs

the company provides forgivable common share purchase loans to employees in order to purchase common shares. the unvested 
balance of forgivable common share purchase loans is presented as a deduction from share capital. the forgivable common share 
purchase loans are amortized over the vesting period. the difference between the unvested and unamortized values is included in 
contributed surplus.

[iv] loss Per coMMoN shAre

   March 31,  March 31, 
for the year ended   2012 2011 

Basic (loss) earnings per common share

net (loss) income attributable to cfi shareholders $ (20,307) $ 99,743

preferred share dividends   (4,815)  —

net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders  (25,122)  99,743

Weighted average number of common shares (number)  76,715,248  72,989,655

Basic (loss) earnings per share  $ (0.33) $ 1.37

Diluted (loss) earnings per common share

net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders  (25,122)  99,743

Weighted average number of common shares (number)  76,715,248  72,989,655

dilutive effect of unvested shares (number)  3,209,336  4,501,992

dilutive effect of share options (number)  253,075  481,855

dilutive effect of unvested shares purchased by the employee benefit trust (number) [note 18]  3,906,179  3,334,980

dilutive effect of share issuance commitment in connection with the ltip (number) [note 18]  382,997  408,136

dilutive effect of share issuance commitment in connection with replacement plans (number) [note 18]  215,662  —

adjusted weighted average number of common shares (number)  84,682,497  81,716,618

diluted (loss) earnings per common share  $ (0.33) $ 1.22
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N
o

Te Dividends17
coMMoN shAres DIvIDeNDs

the company declared the following common shares dividends during the year ended March 31, 2012:

    cash dividend per total dividend 
record date  payment date common share amount

June 3, 2011    June 15, 2011 $ 0.10 $ 8,416

august 26, 2011    September 15, 2011 $ 0.10 $ 8,332

december 2, 2011    december 15, 2011 $ 0.10 $ 8,406

March 2, 2012    March 15, 2012 $ 0.10 $ 8,356

on May 22, 2012, the Board of directors approved a cash dividend of $0.10 per common share payable on June 15, 2012 to 
common shareholders of record as at June 1, 2012 [note 25].

PreFerreD shAres DIvIDeNDs
    cash dividend per total dividend 
record date  payment date preferred share amount

September 16, 2011    September 30, 2011 $ 0.37295 $ 1,693

december 16, 2011    January 3, 2012 $ 0.34375 $ 1,561

March 16, 2012    april 2, 2012 $ 0.34375 $ 1,561

on May 22, 2012, the Board also approved a cash dividend of $0.34375 per Series a preferred Share payable on July 3, 2012 to 
Series a preferred shareholders of record as at June 15, 2012 [note 25].

on May 22, 2012, the Board also approved a cash dividend of $0.3190 per Series c preferred Share payable on July 3, 2012 to 
Series c preferred shareholders of record as at June 15, 2012 [note 25].

N
o

Te share-based Payment Plans18
[i] shAre oPTIoNs

the company grants share options to purchase common shares of the company to directors and senior management. Share options 
to independent directors vest over a four-year period and expire seven years after the grant date or 30 days after the participant 
ceases to be a director. Share options to senior management vest over a five-year period and expire on the earliest of: (a) seven 
years from the grant date; (b) three years after death or any other event of termination of employment; (c) after any unvested 
optioned shares held by the optionee are cancelled for any reason (other than early retirement but including resignation without 
entering into a formal exit agreement and termination for cause); and (d) in the case of early retirement, after a determination that 
the optionee has competed with the company or violated any non-competition, non-solicitation or non-disclosure obligations. the 
exercise price is based on the fair market value of the common shares at grant date. the weighted average exercise price of the 
share options was $9.83 at March 31, 2012. 
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the following is a summary of the company’s share options as at March 31, 2012 and changes during the periods then ended: 

     Weighted average 
    number of options exercise price ($)

Balance, april 1, 2010  2,449,993 $ 9.91

Granted  150,000  8.39

exercised  (58,659)  9.47

Balance, March 31, 2011  2,541,334  9.82

Granted  —  —

exercised  (58,659)  (9.47)

Balance, March 31, 2012   2,482,675 $ 9.83

the following table summarizes the share options outstanding as at March 31, 2012:
 
   options outstanding options exercisable

   Weighted average Weighted number of Weighted  
  number of  remaining average exercise options  average exercise 
range of exercise price ($)  common shares contractual life price ($)  exercisable price ($)

 23.13     100,000    2.12 years  $ 23.13  100,000 $ 23.13

 7.21–9.48     2,382,675   4.39 years   9.27  501,011  8.81

 7.21–23.13     2,482,675   4.30 years $ 9.83  601,011 $ 11.19

option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected price volatility. Volatility is based 
on the historical trend of the share prices of the company. changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the fair 
value estimate, and therefore the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the 
company’s share options. 

[ii] loNg-TerM INceNTIve PlAN

under the ltip, eligible participants are awarded restricted share units (rSus), which generally vest over three years. for employees 
in canada, an employee benefit trust (the trust) has been established and either (a) the company will fund the trust with cash, 
which will be used by the trustee to purchase on the open market common shares of the company that will be held in trust by 
the trustee until the rSus vest or (b) the company will issue common shares from treasury to participants following vesting of 
the rSus. for employees in the uS and the uK, the company will allot common shares at the time of each rSu award, and these 
shares will be issued from treasury at the time they vest for each participant. 

there were 4,275,476 rSus [year ended March 31, 2011 – 2,713,726 rSus] granted in lieu of cash compensation to employees 
during the year ended March 31, 2012. the trust purchased 3,168,265 [year ended March 31, 2011 – 1,695,553] number of 
common shares for the year ended March 31, 2012.

the fair value of the rSus at the measurement date is based on the volume weighted average price at the grant date and is 
amortized on a graded basis over the vesting period of three years. the weighted average fair value of rSus granted during the 
year ended March 31, 2012 was $11.07 [year ended March 31, 2011 – $9.77]. 

      number

awards outstanding, april 1, 2010    5,317,945

Grants    2,713,726

Vested    (2,680,631)

forfeited    (95,212)

awards outstanding, March 31, 2011    5,255,828

Grants    4,275,476

Vested    (2,401,202)

forfeited    (61,785)

Awards outstanding, March 31, 2012    7,068,317
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      number

common shares held by the trust, april 1, 2010    3,201,274

acquired    1,695,553

released on vesting     (1,992,836)

common shares held by the trust, March 31, 2011    2,903,991

acquired    3,168,265

released on vesting     (1,618,748)

common shares held by the Trust, March 31, 2012    4,453,508

[iii] ForgIvABle coMMoN shAre PurchAse loANs

the company provides loans to certain employees for the purpose of partially funding the purchase of shares of the company and 
increasing share ownership by the employees. these loans are generally forgiven over a three- to five-year period from the initial 
advance of the loan or at the end of that three- to five-year period [see note 16 [iii]]. 

[iv] DeFerreD shAre uNITs 

Beginning april 1, 2011, the company adopted a dSu plan for its independent directors. independent directors must elect annually 
as to how they wish their directors’ fees to be paid and can specify the allocation of their directors’ fees between dSus and cash. 
When a director leaves the Board of directors, outstanding dSus are paid out in cash, with the amount equal to the number of 
dSus granted multiplied by the closing share price as of the end of the fiscal quarter immediately following such terminations. 
under the plan, the directors are not entitled to receive any common shares in the company, and under no circumstances will 
dSus confer on any participant any of the rights or privileges of a holder of common shares. 

during the year ended March 31, 2012, the company granted 33,769 dSus. the carrying amount of the liability relating to dSus 
at March 31, 2012 was $0.3 million.

[v] reTeNTIoN PlAN

in connection with the acquisition of tBG, the company established a retention plan that provides for the issuance of up to 
approximately 1,187,800 common shares of the company to key employees of canaccord Genuity asia over a five-year graded 
vesting period based on future asia-linked revenue. as of March 31, 2012, the award of 87,989 shares was forfeited upon the 
departure of a key employee. the estimated retention payments are amortized as development costs on a graded basis based on 
the expected revenue to be earned related to canaccord Genuity asia over the five-year vesting period. in addition, the applicable 
number of retention shares is included in diluted common shares outstanding. the maximum retention payments are estimated to 
be $12.7 million if all vesting conditions are met. 

[vi] rePlAceMeNT PlANs

as a result of the acquisition of cSHp, the following share-based payment plans were introduced to replace the share-based 
payment plans that existed at cSHp at the acquisition date:

canaccord Financial Inc. collins stewart hawkpoint replacement Annual Bonus equity Deferral (ABeD) Plan

on March 21, 2012, the company introduced the replacement aBed plan, which replaced the aBed plans that existed at cSHp as 
of the acquisition date. eligible employees who participated in the cSHp aBed plans were granted awards under the replacement 
aBed plan. the shares granted vest between one and three years from the acquisition date of cSHp. in accordance with ifrS 3, 
“Business Combinations”, a portion of the awards granted is included as part of the purchase consideration for the acquisition 
of cSHp and a portion will be deferred and amortized to incentive compensation expense over the vesting period. the company 
recognized $1.1 million through acquisition-related expense for the year ended March 31, 2012 as per ifrS 3. the number of 
outstanding awards at March 31, 2012 was 573,538 canaccord shares. 
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canaccord Financial Inc. collins stewart hawkpoint replacement long-Term Incentive Plan Award

on March 21, 2012, the company introduced the replacement ltip, which replaced the existing ltips at cSHp on the acquisition 
date. eligible employees who participated in the cSHp ltips were granted awards under the replacement ltip. the shares  
granted vest annually on a graded basis over a three-year period. in accordance with ifrS 3, a portion of awards granted is 
included as part of the purchase consideration for the acquisition of cSHp and a portion will be deferred and amortized to 
incentive compensation expense over the vesting period. the amount recognized through incentive compensation expense  
was not significant as the acquisition closed on March 21, 2012. the number of outstanding awards at March 31, 2012 was 
842,036 canaccord shares. 

[vii] corAzoN cAPITAl grouP lIMITeD shAre PlAN 

in connection with the acquisition of cSHp, the company assumed the outstanding obligation under the corazon capital Group 
limited Share plan (the corazon Share plan). the corazon Share plan was entered into by cSHp in relation to its acquisition of 
corazon capital Group limited, an independent, Guernsey-based investment management firm.

the obligation will be paid in the form of 170,562 number of canaccord common shares, which will vest in March 2013, and 
cash consideration of $2.2 million (£1.4 million). in accordance with ifrS 3, a portion of the awards granted is included as part 
of the purchase consideration for the acquisition of cSHp and a portion will be deferred and amortized to incentive compensation 
expense over the vesting period. the cash consideration was included as part of the determination of the fair value of cSHp’s net 
assets when calculating the purchase price allocation. 

[viii] shAre-BAseD coMPeNsATIoN exPeNse

   March 31,  March 31, 
for the year ended   2012 2011 

Share options  $ 1,622 $ 2,097

long-term incentive plan   29,610  22,166

forgivable common share purchase loans  12,946  16,014

deferred share units  280  —

retention shares  2,340  75

accelerated share-based payment expense included as restructuring expense  2,705  —

Share-based payment expense related to acquisition of cSHp  1,621  —

total share-based compensation expense $ 51,124 $ 40,352
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N
o

Te related Party Transactions19
[i] coNsolIDATeD suBsIDIArIes

the financial statements include the financial statements of the company and the company’s principal trading subsidiaries and 
principal intermediate holding companies listed in the following table:
 
   % equity interest

  country of  March 31, March 31, april 1,  
  incorporation  2012 2011  2010

canaccord Genuity corp. canada   100%  100%  100%

canaccord Genuity Securities limited (formerly canaccord Genuity limited) united Kingdom  100%  100%  100%

collins Stewart Hawkpoint limited united Kingdom  100%  n/a  n/a

canaccord Genuity Hawkpoint limited united Kingdom  100%  n/a  n/a

canaccord Genuity Hawkpoint SaS france   100%  n/a  n/a

collins Stewart (ci) ltd Guernsey   100%  n/a  n/a

collins Stewart 360o limited united Kingdom  100%  n/a  n/a

canaccord Genuity Singapore pte. ltd Singapore   100%  n/a  n/a

canaccord Genuity limited (formerly collins Stewart europe ltd.) united Kingdom  100%  n/a  n/a

collins Stewart inc. united States   100%  n/a  n/a

canaccord Genuity Securities llc united States   100%  n/a  n/a

canaccord Genuity inc. united States   100%  100%  100%

canaccord Wealth Management (uSa) inc. united States   100%  100%  100%

canaccord estate planning Services ltd. canada   100%  100%  100%

canaccord asset Management inc. canada   100%  100%  100%

canaccord adams financial Group inc. united States   100%  100%  100%

canaccord adams (delaware) inc. united States   100%  100%  100%

canaccord adams financial Group ulc canada   100%  100%  100%

Stockwave equities ltd. canada   100%  100%  100%

cld financial opportunities limited canada   100%  100%  100%

canaccord BGf (Hong Kong) limited Hong Kong   50%  n/a  n/a

canaccord BGf limited australia   50%  n/a  n/a

Beijing parkview Balloch investment advisory limited 

 (to be renamed canaccord Genuity asia) china   100%  100%  n/a

canaccord international ltd. Barbados   100%  100%  100%

[ii] coMPeNsATIoN oF key MANAgeMeNT PersoNNel oF The coMPANy

disclosed in the table below are the amounts recognized as expenses related to individuals who are key management personnel 
as at March 31, 2012 for the years ended:

   March 31,  March 31, 
   2012 2011 

Short term employee benefits $ 6,628 $ 13,456

Share-based payments  2,113  1,286

Total compensation paid to key management personnel $ 8,741 $ 14,742
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[iii] oTher TrANsAcTIoNs WITh key MANAgeMeNT PersoNNel

accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities include the following balances with key management personnel:

  March 31,  March 31,  april 1, 
  2012 2011 2010

accounts receivable   $ — $ 29 $ 53

accounts payable and accrued liabilities    2,506  24,754  14,585

[iv] TerMs AND coNDITIoNs oF TrANsAcTIoNs WITh relATeD PArTIes

Security trades executed by the company for officers and directors are transacted in accordance with the terms and conditions 
applicable to all clients. commission income on such transactions in the aggregate is not material in relation to the overall 
operations of the company.

N
o

Te segmented Information20
the company operates in two industry segments as follows:

  canaccord Genuity – includes investment banking, research and trading activities on behalf of corporate, institutional and 
government clients as well as principal trading activities in canada, the uK and europe, other foreign locations and the uS. 
other foreign locations include operations for canaccord international ltd., canaccord Genuity asia and the 50% interest in 
canaccord BGf.

  canaccord Wealth Management – provides brokerage services and investment advice to retail or institutional clients in canada, 
the uS, the uK and europe, and other foreign locations. 

corporate and other includes correspondent brokerage services, interest and foreign exchange revenue and expenses not 
specifically allocable to canaccord Genuity or canaccord Wealth Management.

the company’s industry segments are managed separately because each business offers different services and requires different 
personnel and marketing strategies. the company evaluates the performance of each business based on operating results, 
without regard to non-controlling interests. 

the company does not allocate total assets, liabilities or equipment and leasehold improvements to the segments. amortization 
of tangible assets is allocated to the segments based on the square footage occupied. amortization of identifiable intangible 
assets is allocated to the canaccord Genuity segment, as it relates to the acquisition of Genuity, and the 50% interest in BGf. 
amortization of the identifiable intangible assets acquired through the purchase of cSHp is allocated to canaccord Genuity and 
canaccord Wealth Management segments in the uK and europe. the accounting policies of the segments are the same as those 
described in note 5. there are no significant intersegment revenues. income taxes are managed on a company basis and are not 
allocated to operating segments. all revenue and operating profit is derived from external customers.



notes to consolidated financial Statements

 114 canaccord financial inc.  2012 annual report

 
for the year ended

 
     March 31, 2012    March 31, 2011

   canaccord    canaccord   
  canaccord Wealth corporate  canaccord Wealth corporate  
  genuity Management and other Total Genuity Management and other total

revenues, excluding  

 interest revenue  $ 365,123 $ 187,849 $ 20,093 $ 573,065 $ 532,563 $ 222,005 $ 25,023 $ 779,591

interest revenue   8,354  13,441  10,004  31,799  6,081  11,044  6,915  24,040

expenses, excluding  

 undernoted   306,362  150,752  67,443  524,557  352,826  172,325  80,328  605,479

amortization   10,264  2,221  1,623  14,108  8,738  2,422  1,582  12,742

development costs  10,989  8,220  1,984  21,193  10,810  9,258  2,319  22,387

interest expense   7,985  295  1,536  9,816  5,968  308  1,535  7,811

acquisition-related costs  10,466  4,077  1,513  16,056  12,740  —  —  12,740

restructuring costs  29,078  900  5,275  35,253  —  —  —  —

income (loss) before  

 income taxes  $ (1,667) $ 34,825 $ (49,277) $ (16,119) $ 147,562 $ 48,736 $ (53,826) $ 142,472

for geographic reporting purposes, the company’s business operations are grouped into canada, the uK and europe,  
the united States, and other foreign locations. the following table presents the revenue of the company by geographic location:

   March 31,  March 31, 
for the year ended   2012 2011 

canada $ 458,131 $ 598,556

united Kingdom and europe  53,180  92,677

united States  83,061  111,170

other foreign locations  10,492  1,228

 $ 604,864 $ 803,631

the following table presents selected figures pertaining to the financial position of each geographic location:

   uK and united other foreign 
  canada europe States locations total   

As at March 31, 2012

equipment and leasehold improvements $ 28,627 $ 10,249 $ 10,018 $ 2,190 $ 51,084

Goodwill  242,074  169,044  7,169  54,223  472,510

intangible assets  70,205  61,117  80  18,108  149,510

non-current assets  348,793  242,876  16,737  78,150  686,556

As at March 31, 2011         

equipment and leasehold improvements  30,596  4,079  5,896  247  40,818

Goodwill  242,074  —  —  3,183  245,257

intangible assets  73,923  —  —  —  73,923

non-current assets  353,755  5,052  5,166  3,462  367,435

As at April 1, 2010     

equipment and leasehold improvements  27,712  4,936  5,479  —  38,127

non-current assets  38,316  6,333  13,098  58  57,805
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N
o

Te capital Management21
the company’s business requires capital for operating and regulatory purposes, including funding current and future operations. 
the company’s capital structure is underpinned by shareholders’ equity, which is comprised of preferred shares, common shares, 
contributed surplus, retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), and is further complemented by the 
subordinated debt. the following table summarizes our capital as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, and april 1, 2010:

  March 31,  March 31,  april 1, 
type of capital  2012 2011 2010

preferred shares   $ 110,818 $ — $ —

common shares    623,739  467,050  185,691

contributed surplus    68,336  52,167  58,103

retained earnings    180,748  238,647  158,138

accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    8,484  (972)  1,301

Shareholders’ equity    992,125  756,892  403,233

Subordinated debt    15,000  15,000  15,000

   $ 1,007,125 $ 771,892 $ 418,233

the company’s capital management framework is designed to maintain the level of capital that will: 

•	 Meet	the	Company’s	regulated	subsidiaries’	target	ratios	as	set	out	by	the	respective	regulators
•	 Fund	current	and	future	operations
•	 Ensure	that	the	Company	is	able	to	meet	its	financial	obligations	as	they	become	due
•	 Support	the	creation	of	shareholder	value

the following subsidiaries are subject to regulatory capital requirements in the respective jurisdictions by the listed regulators: 

•	 Canaccord	Genuity	Corp.	is	subject	to	regulation	in	Canada	primarily	by	the	IIROC
•	 Canaccord	Genuity	Limited,	Canaccord	Genuity	Securities	Limited,	Collins	Stewart	360o limited and canaccord Genuity 

Hawkpoint limited are regulated in the uK by the financial Services authority and are members of the london Stock exchange
•	 Collins	Stewart	(CI)	Ltd	is	licensed	and	regulated	by	the	Guernsey	Financial	Services	Commission,	the	Isle	of	Man	Financial	

Supervision commission and the Jersey financial Services commission
•	 Canaccord	Genuity	Singapore	Pte.	Ltd	is	subject	to	regulation	by	the	Monetary	Authority	of	Singapore
•	 Canaccord	BGF	Limited	is	regulated	by	the	Australian	Securities	and	Investments	Commission,	and	Canaccord	BGF	 

(Hong Kong) limited is regulated by the Securities and futures commission
•	 Canaccord	Genuity	Inc.	and	Canaccord	Genuity	Securities	LLC	are	registered	as	broker	dealers	in	the	US	and	are	subject	to	

regulation primarily by the financial industry regulatory authority
•	 Canaccord	Wealth	Management	(USA)	Inc.	is	registered	as	a	broker	dealer	in	the	US	and	is	subject	to	regulation	primarily	by	

the financial industry regulatory authority
•	 Canaccord	International	Ltd.	is	regulated	in	Barbados	by	the	Central	Bank	of	Barbados

Margin requirements in respect of outstanding trades, underwriting deal requirements and/or working capital requirements cause 
regulatory capital requirements to fluctuate on a daily basis. compliance with these requirements may require the company to 
keep sufficient cash and other liquid assets on hand to maintain regulatory capital requirements rather than using these liquid 
assets in connection with its business or paying them out in the form of cash disbursements. there were no significant changes 
in the company’s capital management policy during the current year. the company’s subsidiaries were in compliance with all of the 
minimum regulatory capital requirements during the year ended March 31, 2012. 

N
o

Te client Money22
at March 31, 2012, the uK and europe operations held client money in segregated accounts of $1,221.4 million (£765.3 million). 
this comprised $9.9 million (£6.2 million) of balances held by the uK and european operations on behalf of clients to settle 
outstanding trades and $1,211.5 million (£759.1 million) of segregated deposits, held on behalf of clients, which are not reflected 
on the statements of financial position. Movement in settlement balances is reflected in operating cash flows. 
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N
o

Te Provisions and contingencies23
ProvIsIoNs

provisions are recognized when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, when it 
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and when a reliable estimate of the amount can 
be made. restructuring provisions incurred in the year ended March 31, 2012 relate primarily to termination benefits and also 
include the acceleration of share-based payments and onerous leases incurred as part of the company’s reorganization. at each 
reporting date, the company assesses the adequacy of its pre-existing provisions and adjusts the amounts as necessary. the 
following is a summary of the changes during the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011:

  legal restructuring total 
   provisions  provisions  provisions

Balance, april 1, 2010   $ 4,991 $ — $ 4,991

additions    6,239  —  6,239

utilized    (5,079)  —  (5,079)

Balance, March 31, 2011    6,151  —  6,151

additions    3,862  35,253  39,115

provision resulting from acquisition of cSHp    6,000  —  6,000

utilized    (1,702)  (8,530)  (10, 232)

recoveries    (1,368)  —  (1,368)

Balance, March 31, 2012   $ 12,943 $ 26,723 $ 39,666

commitments, litigation proceedings and contingent liabilities

in the normal course of business as an investment dealer, the company is involved in litigation, and as of March 31, 2012, it was 
a defendant in various legal actions. the company has established accruals for matters where payments are probable and can be 
reasonably estimated. While the outcome of these actions is subject to future resolution, management’s evaluation and analysis 
of these actions indicate that, individually and in the aggregate, the probable ultimate resolution of these actions will not have a 
material effect on the financial position of the company. the actions described below have been commenced against the company 
and, although the company has denied the allegations and intends to vigorously defend itself in each case, the outcome of each 
action cannot be predicted with certainty. the amounts claimed in respect of these actions, or which could potentially be claimed, 
are material and, accordingly, these actions are described in these consolidated financial statements.

i)  in 2002, two actions were commenced in the Superior court of Québec against canaccord Genuity corp. and other defendants 
including another investment dealer. Both are class action proceedings in which the plaintiffs make allegations of certain 
wrongful trading and disclosure practices by the company and another defendant and that the company was negligent in 
respect of a private placement in 2000. discoveries are complete and the parties are in the process of exchanging experts’ 
reports. canaccord intends to vigorously defend itself against these claims. 

ii)  Genuity has been named as co-defendant in an action initiated by ciBc World Markets inc. in 2005 in the ontario Superior 
court of Justice alleging improper solicitation of the plaintiffs’ employees, conspiracy, inducing breach of contract, interference 
with commercial relations, breach of fiduciary duties, misuse of confidential information and misappropriation of corporate 
opportunities. the claim against Genuity is for general damages to be determined by the court and an accounting of benefits 
received by all the parties as a result of these alleged activities. there is also a claim against all the parties for $10.0 million 
for punitive and exemplary damages. Management believes these claims can be wholly defended and no liability will be 
determined against Genuity. as canaccord Genuity corp. assumed all the assets and liabilities of Genuity, it may be subject to 
any judgment that may be made against Genuity in connection with this litigation.

iii)  the company and cSHp and its uS subsidiary, collins Stewart llc, among others, are defendants in an action commenced by 
Morgan	Joseph	TriArtisan	Group	Inc.	and	Morgan	Joseph	TriArtisan	LLC	in	State	Court	in	New	York	City	alleging	that	a	proposed	
joint	venture	in	New	York	between	Collins	Stewart	LLC	and	Morgan	Joseph	TriArtisan	LLC	is	fundamentally	inconsistent	with	
the acquisition of cSHp by the company. the claims against the company are for tortious interference with contract, tortious 
interference with prospective business advantage, and aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty. remedies requested by the 
plaintiff against the company are for compensatory damages in an amount not less than $35 million and punitive damages 
in an amount of three times the compensatory damages or approximately $100 million. the defences to these claims and 
the quantification of damages are yet to be determined. the company considers that the allegations are spurious and entirely 
unfounded and will strenuously defend itself against these claims.
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N
o

Te commitments24
Subsidiaries of the company are committed to approximate minimum lease payments for premises and equipment over the next 
five years and thereafter as follows:
      

2013   $ 33,300

2014    33,778

2015    32,178

2016    29,033

2017    24,681

thereafter    110,256

   $ 263,226

N
o

Te subsequent events25
[i] serIes c PreFerreD shAres AND shorT TerM creDIT FAcIlITy

on March 22, 2012, the company announced it had agreed to issue 4,000,000 Series c preferred Shares. this offering closed 
subsequent to fiscal year end on april 10, 2012. the net amount recognized after deducting issue costs, net of deferred taxes of 
$1.0 million, was $97.3 million. the net proceeds from the offering were used to partially repay $97.0 million of the short term 
credit facility of $150.0 million that the company secured for bridge financing related to the acquisition of cSHp [note 7]. the 
balance of the short term credit facility was repaid in full on May 22, 2012.

[ii] DIvIDeNDs

on May 22, 2012, the Board of directors approved the following cash dividends: $0.10 per common share payable on June 15, 
2012 to common shareholders with a record date of June 1, 2012; $0.34375 per Series a preferred Share payable on July 3, 
2012 and with a record date of June 15, 2012; and $0.3190 per Series c preferred Share payable on July 3, 2012 and with a 
record date of June 15, 2012.
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supplemental Information
Advisory note: this supplemental information is not audited and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements contained herein. 
the company adopted ifrS beginning april 1, 2011. consequently, data for the year ended March 31, 2012 and its comparative year ended March 
31, 2011 is in compliance with ifrS. figures for periods prior to the year ended March 31, 2011 are in accordance with cGaap. See the transition 
to international financial reporting Standards section on page 23.

Financial highlights(1)

  
(c$ thousands, except for auM, aua,  for the years ended and as at March 31

common share information and financial measures) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

 IFrs ifrS cGaap cGaap cGaap
Financial results 
 revenue $ 604,864 $ 803,631 $ 577,537 $ 477,721 $ 731,539
 expenses  620,983  661,159  525,896  524,920  680,008
 income taxes   5,227  42,729  13,144  452  20,197
 net income (loss)  (21,346)  99,743  38,497  (47,651)  31,334
 net income (loss) attributable to cfi shareholders  (20,307)  99,743  38,497  (47,651)  31,334
 net income (loss) available to common shareholders  (25,122)  99,743  38,497  (47,651)  31,334
Business segment 
income (loss) before intersegment allocations  
 and income taxes 
 canaccord Genuity(2) $ (1,667) $ 147,562 $ 70,962 $ (21,129) $ 88,575
 canaccord Wealth Management   34,825  48,736  27,783  22,707  1,205
 corporate and other  (49,277)  (53,826)  (47,104)  (48,777)  (38,249)
geographic segment 
income (loss) before income taxes 
 canada(3) $ 39,439 $ 111,905 $ 30,036 $ (9,799) $ 24,846
 uK and europe(4)  (41,202)  14,129  9,533  2,031  29,613
 uS(5)  (7,533)  16,755  8,631  (42,000)  (7,359)
 other foreign locations(6)  (6,823)  (317)  3,441  2,569  4,431
client assets information ($ millions) 
 auM – canada (discretionary) $ 677 $ 546 $ 445 $ 393 $ 730
 aua – canada  14,828  16,985  12,922  9,184  14,295
 auM – uK and europe  13,087  —  —  —  —
 total  27,915  16,985  12,922  9,184  14,295
common share information
per common share ($)
 Basic earnings (loss) $ (0.33) $ 1.37 $ 0.79 $ (0.97) $ 0.70
 diluted earnings (loss)  (0.33)  1.22  0.69  (0.97)  0.64
 Book value per diluted common share(7)  8.26  8.79  6.96  6.51  7.21
common share price ($)
 High $ 15.31 $ 16.41 $ 11.87 $ 11.75 $ 25.92
 low  6.94  7.95  5.30  2.87  8.60
 close  8.30  14.00  11.10  5.40  9.80
common shares outstanding (thousands)
 issued shares excluding unvested shares  94,026  75,404  48,868  49,343  43,873
 issued and outstanding  101,689  82,810  55,571  55,093  47,835
 diluted shares  106,883  85,655  57,767  57,251  49,556
 average basic  76,715  72,990  48,698  48,929  44,778
 average diluted  84,682  81,717  55,662  54,189  48,727
 Market capitalization (thousands)   887,131  1,199,170  640,259  309,155  485,649
Preferred share information (thousands)
Shares issued and outstanding  4,540  —  —  —  —
Financial measures
 dividends per common share $ 0.40 $ 0.275 $ 0.15 $ 0.125 $ 0.50
 common dividend yield (closing common share price)  4.8%  2.0%  0.3%  2.3%  5.1%
 common dividend payout ratio  (139.9)%  22.8%  22.4%  (15.1)%  78.3%
 total shareholder return(8)  (37.9)%  28.6%  108.3%  (44.2)%  (55.5)%
 roe(9)   (3.1)%  14.2%  9.8%  (12.4)%  7.9%
 price to earnings multiple(10)  (24.4)  11.8  16.1  5.7  15.8
 price to book ratio(11)  1.0  1.6  1.6  0.8  1.4

(1)  certain non-ifrS measures are utilized by the company as measures of financial performance. non-ifrS measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by ifrS and are therefore 
unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. non-ifrS measures included are: return on average common equity (roe), book value per diluted share, dividend yield, 
dividend payout ratio, total shareholder return, price to earnings multiple (p/e), price to book ratio (p/B), assets under management (auM) and assets under administration (aua).

(2)  includes the global capital markets division in canada, the uK and europe, the uS, australia, china, Barbados and Singapore. 
(3)  canaccord’s canada geographic segment includes operations for canaccord Genuity, canaccord Wealth Management and corporate and other business segments. 
(4)  canaccord’s uK and europe geographic segment engages in capital markets and wealth management activities. results of former cSHp entities located in the uK and europe are included since 

March 22, 2012. 
(5)  canaccord’s uS geographic segment includes uS capital markets and wealth management operations. results of former cSHp entities located in the uS are included since March 22, 2012.
(6)  revenue derived from capital markets activity outside of canada, the uS and the uK and europe is reported as other foreign locations, which includes operations in australia, china, Barbados and 

Singapore. results of australian operations were included since november 1, 2011, and Singaporean operations were included since March 22, 2012.
(7)  Book value per diluted share, a non-ifrS measure, is calculated as total shareholders’ equity divided by the number of diluted common shares outstanding at the end of the period.
(8)  total shareholder return is calculated as the change in share price plus dividends paid to common shares and special distributions paid in the current period as a percentage of the prior period’s 

closing common share price, assuming reinvestment of all dividends.
(9)  roe is calculated by dividing the annual net income available to common shareholders over the average common shareholders’ equity. 
(10) the price to earnings multiple is calculated based on the end of period share price and 12-month trailing diluted epS. 
(11) the price to book ratio is calculated based on the end of period common share price and book value per diluted common share. 
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condensed consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings(1)

 

(c$ thousands, except per share  for the years ended March 31

amounts and financial measures) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

 IFrs ifrS cGaap cGaap cGaap
revenue
 commission $ 252,877 $ 294,650 $ 235,606 $ 233,104 $ 296,047
 investment banking  175,225  327,499  215,237  117,916  295,787
 advisory fees  107,370  84,914  39,200  51,453  41,087
 principal trading  10,647  43,644  45,982  18,319  7,443
 interest  31,799  24,040  12,965  38,287  63,168
 other  26,946  28,884  28,547  18,642  28,007

    604,864  803,631  577,537  477,721  731,539

expenses
 incentive compensation(2)  304,908  389,046  299,084  222,006  347,079
 Salaries and benefits  63,924  64,420  59,415  56,771  54,294
 trading costs   30,313  31,507  28,884  26,311  27,090
 premises and equipment  27,546  27,158  24,402  24,695  22,745
 communication and technology  28,343  25,466  21,868  25,228  23,228
 interest  9,816  7,811   2,581  11,220  24,527
 General and administrative  69,523  67,882  52,153  69,689  69,463
 amortization  14,108  12,742  7,609  8,994  8,536
 development costs  21,193  22,387  24,900  28,773  32,049
 restructuring costs  35,253  —  —  7,662  4,000
 acquisition-related costs  16,056  12,740  5,000  —  —
 aBcp fair value adjustment  —  —  —  6,700  12,797
 canaccord relief program  —  —  —  5,347  54,200
 impairment of goodwill and intangible assets  —  —  —  31,524  —

   620,983  661,159  525,896  524,920  680,008

income (loss) before income taxes   (16,119)  142,472  51,641  (47,199)  51,531
income taxes   5,227  42,729  13,144  452  20,197

Net income (loss) for the year $ (21,346) $ 99,743 $ 38,497 $ (47,651) $ 31,334
non-controlling interests  (1,039)  —  —  —  —
net income (loss) attributable to cfi shareholders  (20,307)  99,743  38,497  (47,651)  31,334
retained earnings, beginning of year  238,647  194,007  160,868  222,597  213,659
opening ifrS adjustments   —  (35,869)  —  —  —
common shares dividends  (32,778)  (19,234)  (5,358)  (14,078)  (22,396)
preferred shares dividends  (4,814)  —  —  —  —

retained earnings, end of year $ 180,748 $ 238,647 $ 194,007 $ 160,868 $ 222,597

incentive compensation expenses as a % of revenue  50.4%  48.4%  51.8%  46.5%  47.4%
total compensation expenses as a % of revenue(3)  61.0%  56.4%  62.1%  58.4%  54.9%
non-compensation expenses as a % of revenue  41.7%  25.8%  29.0%  51.5%  38.1%
total expenses as a % of revenue  102.7%  82.3%  91.1%  109.9%  93.0%
pre-tax profit margin  (2.7)%  17.7%  8.9%  (9.9)%  7.0%
effective tax rate  (32.4)%  30.0%  25.5%  (1.0)%  39.2%
net profit margin  (3.5)%  12.4%  6.7%  (10.0)%  4.3%
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ (0.33) $ 1.37 $ 0.79 $ (0.97) $ 0.70
diluted earnings (loss) per share $ (0.33) $ 1.22 $ 0.69 $ (0.97) $ 0.64
Book value per diluted common share(4) $ 8.26 $ 8.79 $ 6.96 $ 6.51 $ 7.21

supplemental segmented revenue information
canaccord Genuity $ 373,477 $ 538,644 $ 363,558 $ 277,351 $ 431,642
canaccord Wealth Management   201,290  233,049  187,046  172,484  249,127
corporate and other  30,097  31,938  26,933  27,886  50,770

 $ 604,864 $ 803,631 $ 577,537 $ 477,721 $ 731,539
(1)  certain non-ifrS measures are utilized by the company as measures of financial performance. non-ifrS measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by ifrS and are therefore 

unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. non-ifrS measures included are: incentive compensation expenses as a % of revenue, total compensation expenses 
as a % of revenue, non-compensation expenses as a % of revenue, total expenses as a % of revenue, and book value per diluted common share.

(2)  incentive compensation expenses include the national Health insurance tax applicable to the uK and europe. 
(3)  total compensation expenses include incentive compensation and salaries and benefits, but exclude hiring incentives, which are included in development costs. Beginning in fiscal 2011, 

development group salary and benefits have been included as compensation expense, whereas they were classified as development costs prior to fiscal 2011. 
(4)  Book value per diluted common share, a non-ifrS measure, is calculated as total shareholders’ equity divided by the number of diluted common shares outstanding at the end of the period.
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condensed consolidated statements of Financial Position
 
as at March 31 (c$ thousands) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

 IFrs ifrS cGaap cGaap cGaap
Assets
 cash and cash equivalents $ 814,238 $ 954,068 $ 731,852 $ 701,173 $ 435,649
 Securities owned, at market  1,171,988  947,185  362,755  133,691  92,796
 accounts receivable   3,081,640  2,828,812  1,972,924  1,061,161  1,422,917
 income taxes recoverable  8,301  —  —  23,771  11,083
 deferred tax assets  3,959  1,503  13,190  15,680  28,207
 investments  9,493  5,934  5,000  5,000  5,000
 investment in asset-backed commercial paper  —  —  —  35,312  29,860
 equipment and leasehold improvements  51,084  40,818  38,127  46,311  40,686
 Goodwill and other intangibles  622,020  319,180  —  —  32,520

 $ 5,762,723 $ 5,097,500 $ 3,123,848 $ 2,022,099 $ 2,098,718

liabilities and shareholders’ equity
 Bank indebtedness $ 75,141 $ 13,580 $ 29,435 $ 75,600 $ 15,038
 Short term credit facility  150,000  —  —  —  —
 Securities sold short, at market  914,649  722,613  364,137  79,426  13,757
 accounts payable and accrued liabilities  3,590,266  3,557,275  2,308,146  1,469,369  1,687,479
 income taxes payable  —  23,977  5,385  —  —
 deferred tax liabilities  8,088  8,163  —  —  —
 Subordinated debt   15,000  15,000  15,000  25,000  25,000
 non-controlling interests  17,454  —  —  —  —
 Shareholders’ equity   992,125  756,892  401,745  372,704  357,444

 $ 5,762,723 $ 5,097,500 $ 3,123,848 $ 2,022,099 $ 2,098,718

Miscellaneous operational statistics(1)

 
as at March 31 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Number of employees in canada
 number in canaccord Genuity  247 268 203 209 253
 number in canaccord Wealth Management  684 684 680 700 762
 number in corporate and other  378 373 364 356 380
 total canada  1,309 1,325 1,247 1,265 1,395

Number of employees in the uk and europe
 number in canaccord Genuity  461 143 138 105 112
 number in canaccord Wealth Management  276  —  —  —  —

Number of employees in the us 
 number in canaccord Genuity  302 175 163 151 163

Number of employees in other Foreign locations
 number in canaccord Genuity  80 41 1 9 13

Number of employees company-wide  2,428 1,684 1,549 1,530 1,683
number of advisory teams in canada(2)  280 271 303 338 354
number of investment professionals and  
 fund managers in the uK and europe(3)  106  —  —  —  —
number of licensed professionals in canada  604 645 718 790 852

auM – canada (discretionary) (c$ millions) $ 677 $ 546 $ 445 $ 393 $ 730
aua – canada (c$ millions) $ 14,828 $ 16,985 $ 12,922 $ 9,184 $ 14,295
auM – uK and europe (c$ millions) $ 13,087 $ — $ — $ — $ —
total (c$ millions) $ 27,915 $ 16,985 $ 12,922 $ 9,184 $ 14,295

Number of companies with canaccord genuity  
 limited as broker
 london Stock exchange (lSe)  52 26 23 9 5
 alternative investment Market (aiM)  77 39 43 51 60
 total broker  129 65 66 60 65

Number of companies with canaccord genuity  
 limited as Nomad(4)

 lSe  — 1 1 — 1
 aiM  62 30 35 42 51
 total nomad  62 31 36 42 52
(1)  these miscellaneous operational statistics are non-ifrS measures. 
(2)  advisory teams in canada are normally comprised of one or more investment advisors (ias) and their assistants and associates, who together manage a shared set of client accounts. advisory 

teams that are led by, or only include, an ia who has been licensed for less than three years are not included in our advisory team count, as it typically takes a new ia approximately three years to 
build an average-sized book. 

(3)  investment professionals include all staff with direct sales responsibilities, which includes brokers and assistants with direct client contacts. fund managers include all staff who manage client assets.
(4)  a company listed on aiM is required to retain a nominated adviser (commonly referred to as a nomad) during the company’s life on the market. among other duties, nomads are responsible for 

warranting that a company is appropriate for joining aiM. a nomad is similar to a financial advisor on the lSe, but is specific to aiM.
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quarterly Financial highlights(1)

 
(c$ thousands, except for  
auM, aua, common share Fiscal 2012 fiscal 2011
information and financial ratios) q4 q3 q2 q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Financial results
 revenue $ 177,692 $ 147,889 $ 119,500 $ 159,783 $ 247,595 $ 254,834 $ 149,285 $ 151,917
 expenses 207,731 142,822 126,396 144,034 189,279 192,918 134,676 144,286
 income taxes (recovery) 1,755 2,536 (1,618) 2,554 16,993 18,919 4,358 2,459
 net income (loss) (31,794) 2,531 (5,278) 13,195 41,323 42,997 10,251 5,172
 net income (loss) attributable to  
  cfi shareholders  (31,250)  3,026  (5,278)  13,195  41,323  42,997  10,251  5,172
 net income (loss) available to  
  common shareholders  (32,357)  1,208  (7,078)  13,105  41,323  42,997  10,251  5,172
Business segment
income (loss) before intersegment  
 allocations and income taxes
 canaccord Genuity(2) $ (25,934) $ 10,421 $ (2,560) $ 16,406 $ 55,164 $ 59,462 $ 19,349 $ 13,587
 canaccord Wealth Management 6,147 7,327 10,085 11,266 18,504 16,587 5,938 7,707
 corporate and other (10,252) (12,681) (14,421) (11,923) (15,352) (14,133) (10,678) (13,663)
geographic segment
income (loss) before income taxes
 canada(3) $ 11,484 $ 8,169 $ 710 $ 19,076 $ 44,007 $ 52,275 $ 12,175 $ 3,448
 uK and europe(4) (31,409) (1,003) (3,956) (4,834) 9,340 2,955 1,443 391
 uS(5) (7,602) (1,470) (1,754) 3,293 5,683 6,421 664 3,987
 other foreign locations(6)  (2,512)  (629)  (1,896)  (1,786)  (714)  265  327  (195)
client assets ($ millions)
 auM – canada (discretionary) $ 677 $ 607 $ 574 $ 575 $ 546 $ 514 $ 473 $ 431
 aua – canada 14,828 14,367 14,635 15,676 16,985 16,006 13,895 12,571
 auM – uK and europe 13,087 — — — — — — —
 total 27,915 14,367 14,635 15,676 16,985 16,006 13,895 12,571
common share information
per common share ($)
 Basic earnings (loss) $ (0.42) $ 0.02 $ (0.09) $ 0.17 $ 0.55 $ 0.57 $ 0.14 $ 0.08
 diluted earnings (loss) (0.42) 0.01 (0.09) 0.16 0.49 0.51 0.12 0.07
 Book value per diluted common share(7) 8.26 8.54 8.75 8.71 8.79 8.43 8.05 7.86
common share price ($)
 High $ 9.44 $ 9.74 $ 13.05 $ 15.31 $ 16.41 $ 14.42 $ 10.89 $ 11.48
 low 7.61 6.94 9.32 11.65 13.03 10.09 8.77 7.95
 close 8.30 7.80 9.55 12.36 14.00 14.16 10.37 9.39
common shares outstanding (thousands)
 issued shares excluding  
  unvested shares 94,026 74,999 76,232 75,597 75,404 75,055 74,552 74,961
 issued and outstanding 101,689 83,412 83,322 83,097 82,810 82,626 82,553 82,308
 diluted shares 106,656 86,787 85,979 86,236 86,080 85,938 84,565 85,357
 average basic 77,830 75,221 76,073 75,087 75,194 74,947 74,235 67,931
 average diluted 85,568 83,822 83,922 84,283 84,571 83,643 82,976 76,217
 Market capitalization (thousands) 885,245 676,940 821,101 1,065,877 1,205,121 1,216,882 876,939 801,503
Preferred share information (thousands)
 Shares issued and outstanding  4,540 4,540 4,540 4,000 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Financial measures
 dividends per common share $ 0.10 $ 0.10 $ 0.10 $ 0.10 $ 0.10 $ 0.075 $ 0.05 $ 0.05
 common dividend yield (closing  
  share price)  4.8% 5.1% 4.2% 3.2% 2.9% 2.1% 1.9% 2.1%
 common dividend payout ratio  (31.4)% 690.5% (117.7)% 63.4% 20.0% 14.4% 40.3% 79.6%
 total shareholder return(8) 7.7% (17.3)% (21.9)% (11.0)% (0.4)% 37.3% 11.0% (15.0)%
 annualized roe(9) (16.2)% 0.6% (2.8)% 7.0% 22.6% 24.3% 6.0% 3.9%
 price to earnings multiple(10) (24.4) 13.7 8.9 9.7 11.8 16.9 17.3 15.7
 price to book ratio(11) 1.0 0.9 1.1 1.4 1.6 1.7 1.3 1.2
(1)  certain non-ifrS measures are utilized by the company as measures of financial performance. non-ifrS measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by ifrS and are therefore 

unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. non-ifrS measures included are: return on average common equity (roe), book value per diluted share, dividend yield, 
dividend payout ratio, total shareholder return, price to earnings multiple (p/e), price to book ratio (p/B), assets under management (auM) and assets under administration (aua).

(2)  includes the global capital markets division in canada, the uK and europe, the uS, australia, china, Barbados and Singapore. 
(3)  canaccord’s canada geographic segment includes operations for canaccord Genuity, canaccord Wealth Management and corporate and other business segments. 
(4)  canaccord’s uK and europe geographic segment engages in capital markets and wealth management activities. results of former cSHp entities located in the uK and europe were included since 

March 22, 2012. 
(5)  canaccord’s uS geographic segment includes uS capital markets and wealth management operations. results of former cSHp entities located in the uS were included since March 22, 2012.
(6)  revenue derived from capital markets activity outside of canada, the uS and the uK and europe is reported as other foreign locations, which includes operations in australia, china, Barbados and 

Singapore. results of australian operations were included since november 1, 2011, and Singaporean operations were included since March 22, 2012.
(7)  Book value per diluted share, a non-ifrS measure, is calculated as total common shareholders’ equity divided by the number of diluted common shares outstanding at the end of the period.
(8)  total shareholder return is calculated as the change in share price plus dividends paid to common shares and special distributions paid in the current period as a percentage of the prior period’s 

closing common share price, assuming reinvestment of all dividends.
(9)  roe is presented on an annualized basis. Quarterly annualized roe is calculated by dividing the annualized net income available to common shareholders for the three-month period over the average 

common shareholders’ equity.
(10) the price to earnings multiple is calculated based on the end of period share price and 12-month trailing diluted epS. 
(11) the price to book ratio is calculated based on the end of period common share price and book value per diluted common share. 
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condensed consolidated statements of operations(1)

 

(c$ thousands, except per share Fiscal 2012 fiscal 2011
amounts and financial measures)  q4 q3 q2 q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

revenue
 commission $ 74,170 $ 57,380 $ 60,299 $ 61,028 $ 81,959 $ 87,433 $ 63,002 $ 62,256
 investment banking 53,553 32,015 29,799 59,858 103,646 116,716 51,236 55,901
 advisory fees 24,634 38,541 21,664 22,531 25,702 25,276 13,215 20,721
 principal trading 6,769 3,304 (1,379) 1,953 17,431 10,658 9,597 5,958
 interest 8,205 8,147 7,590 7,857 7,707 7,753 5,436 3,144
 other 10,361 8,502 1,527 6,556 11,150 6,998 6,799 3,937
  177,692 147,889 119,500 159,783 247,595 254,834 149,285 151,917

expenses
 incentive compensation(2) 95,641 69,815 61,838 77,614 119,383 126,640 70,538 72,485
 Salaries and benefits 17,635 15,009 14,163 17,117 17,543 14,739 16,322 15,816
 trading costs  6,190 7,416 7,742 8,965 8,624 7,937 7,241 7,705
 premises and equipment 7,354 6,633 6,727 6,832 7,403 7,077 6,640 6,038
 communication and technology 8,458 6,744 6,752 6,389 6,307 6,111 6,779 6,269
 interest 3,080 2,361 1,967 2,408 2,485 3,037 1,673 616
 General and administrative 20,795 16,191 16,263 16,274 19,052 17,049 15,990 15,791
 amortization 4,350 3,906 2,947 2,905 2,966 2,786 3,706 3,284
 development costs 4,867 5,755 5,041 5,530 5,516 5,792 5,787 5,292
 acquisition-related costs 10,400 2,700 2,956 — — 1,750 — 10,990
 restructuring costs 28,961 6,292 — — — — — — 
  207,731 142,822 126,396 144,034 189,279 192,918 134,676 144,286
income (loss) before income taxes (30,039) 5,067 (6,896) 15,749 58,316 61,916 14,609 7,631
income taxes (recovery) 1,755 2,536 (1,618) 2,554 16,993 18,919 4,358 2,459
Net income (loss) for the period $ (31,794) $ 2,531 $ (5,278) $ 13,195 $ 41,323 $ 42,997 $ 10,251 $ 5,172

non-controlling interests (544) (495) — — — — — —
Net income (loss) attributable  
 to cFI shareholders (31,250) 3,026 (5,278) 13,195 41,323 42,997 10,251 5,172
incentive compensation expenses  
 as a % of revenue 53.8% 47.2% 51.7% 48.6% 48.2% 49.7% 47.3% 47.7%
total compensation expenses  
 as a % of revenue(3) 63.7% 57.4% 63.6% 59.3% 55.3% 55.5% 58.2% 58.1%
non-compensation expenses  
 as a % of revenue 53.2% 39.2% 42.2% 30.9% 21.1% 20.2% 32.0% 36.9%
total expenses as a % of revenue 116.9% 96.6% 105.8% 90.1% 76.4% 75.7% 90.2% 95.0%
pre-tax profit margin (16.9)% 3.4% (5.8)% 9.9% 23.6% 24.3% 9.8% 5.0%
effective tax rate (5.8)% 50.0% 23.5% 16.2% 29.1% 30.6% 29.8% 32.2%
net profit margin (17.9)% 1.7% (4.4)% 8.3% 16.7% 16.9% 6.9% 3.4%
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ (0.42) $ 0.02 $ (0.09) $ 0.17 $ 0.55 $ 0.57 $ 0.14 $ 0.08
diluted earnings (loss) per share $ (0.42) $ 0.01 $ (0.09) $ 0.16 $ 0.49 $ 0.51 $ 0.12 $ 0.07
Book value per diluted common share(4) $ 8.26 $ 8.54 $ 8.75 $ 8.71 $ 8.79 $ 8.43 $ 8.05 $ 7.86

supplemental segmented revenue 
 information
canaccord Genuity $ 113,067 $ 93,581 $ 69,452 $ 97,377 $ 163,771 $ 177,758 $ 96,963 $ 100,152
canaccord Wealth Management 54,524 44,571 47,412 54,783 72,704 68,599 44,539 47,207
corporate and other 10,101 9,737 2,636 7,623 11,120 8,477 7,783 4,558
 $ 177,692 $ 147,889 $ 119,500 $ 159,783 $ 247,595 $ 254,834 $ 149,285 $ 151,917
(1)  certain non-ifrS measures are utilized by the company as measures of financial performance. non-ifrS measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by ifrS and are therefore 

unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. non-ifrS measures included are: incentive compensation expenses as a % of revenue, total compensation expenses 
as a % of revenue, non-compensation expenses as a % of revenue, total expenses as a % of revenue, and book value per diluted common share.

(2)  incentive compensation expenses include the national Health insurance tax applicable to the uK.
(3)  total compensation expenses include incentive compensation and salaries and benefits, but exclude hiring incentives, which are included in development costs. Beginning in Q1/11, development 

group salary and benefits have been included as compensation expense, whereas they were classified as development costs prior to Q1/11. 
(4)  Book value per diluted common share, a non-ifrS measure, is calculated as total common shareholders’ equity divided by the number of diluted common shares outstanding at the end of the period.
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condensed consolidated statements of Financial Position
 

  Fiscal 2012 fiscal 2011
(c$ thousands) q4 q3 q2 q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Assets
 cash and cash equivalents $ 814,238 $ 700,914 $ 691,114 $ 710,734 $ 954,068 $ 713,117 $ 636,908 $ 569,953
 Securities owned, at market 1,171,988 1,100,470 1,316,755 849,679 947,185 1,098,154 1,268,897 835,261
 accounts receivable  3,081,640 2,215,448 3,270,356 2,488,826 2,828,812 2,383,057 2,987,415 2,185,305
 income taxes recoverable 8,301 15,565 18,776 10,317 — — 5,567 5,287
 deferred tax assets 3,959 2,419 1,791 2,076 1,503 1,036 1,076 680
 investments 9,493 5,934 5,934 5,934 5,934 6,732 6,732 6,732
 equipment and leasehold improvements 51,084 44,550 43,120 43,289 40,818 36,860 37,463 39,001
 Goodwill and other intangibles 622,020 354,577 317,320 318,250 319,180 316,928 317,858 319,685
 $5,762,723  $ 4,439,877 $ 5,665,166 $ 4,429,105 $ 5,097,500 $ 4,555,884 $ 5,261,916 $ 3,961,904

liabilities and shareholders’ equity
 Bank indebtedness $ 75,141 $ — $ — $ 24,125 $ 13,580 $ 34,914 $ 64,733 $ 82,992
 Short term credit facility 150,000 — — — — — — —
 Securities sold short, at market 914,649 952,750 1,117,268 731,730 722,613 853,869 1,236,229 702,976
 accounts payable and  
  accrued liabilities 3,590,266 2,592,774 3,663,323 2,802,669 3,557,275 2,910,423 3,257,736 2,483,250
 income taxes payable — — — — 23,977 8,668 — —
 deferred tax liabilities 8,088 8,840 6,082 7,340 8,163 8,285 7,688 6,690
 Subordinated debt  15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000
 non-controlling interests 17,454 18,218 — — — — — —
 Shareholders’ equity 992,125 852,295 863,493 848,241 756,892 724,726 680,530 670,996
 $ 5,762,723 $ 4,439,877 $ 5,665,166 $ 4,429,105 $ 5,097,500 $ 4,555,884 $ 5,261,916 $ 3,961,904

Miscellaneous operational statistics(1)

 

  Fiscal 2012 fiscal 2011
  q4 q3 q2 q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Number of employees in canada
 number in canaccord Genuity 247 262 266 265 268 276 276 273
 number in canaccord Wealth Management 684 699 686 666 684 671 665 689
 number in corporate and other 378 386 384 382 373 365 369 371
 total canada 1,309 1,347 1,336 1,313 1,325 1,312 1,310 1,333
Number of employees in the uk and europe
 number in canaccord Genuity 461 143 152 155 143 140 142 137
 number in canaccord Wealth Management 276 — — — — — — —
Number of employees in the us
 number in canaccord Genuity 302 176 186 180 175 175 178 169
Number of employees in  
 other Foreign locations
 number in canaccord Genuity  80 69 36 36 41 1 1 1
Number of employees company-wide 2,428 1,735 1,710 1,684 1,684 1,628 1,631 1,640
number of advisory teams in canada(2) 280 278 271 263 271 272 280 290
number of investment professionals and  
 fund managers in the uK and europe(3) 106 — — — — — — —
number of licensed professionals in canada 604 631 626 628 645 653 712 684
auM – canada (discretionary)  
 (c$ millions) $ 677 $ 607 $ 574 $ 575 $ 546 $ 514 $ 473 $ 431
aua – canada (c$ millions) $ 14,828 $ 14,367 $ 14,635 $ 15,676 $ 16,985 $ 16,006 $ 13,895 $ 12,571
auM – uK and europe (c$ millions) $ 13,087 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
total (c$ millions) $ 27,915 $ 14,367 $ 14,635 $ 15,676 $ 16,985 $ 16,006 $ 13,895 $ 12,571
Number of companies with canaccord  
 genuity limited as broker
 london Stock exchange (lSe) 52 31 29 29 26 24 20 23
 alternative investment Market (aiM) 77 48 41 41 39 35 37 39
 total broker 129 79 70 70 65 59 57 62
Number of companies with canaccord  
 genuity limited as Nomad(4)

 lSe — 2 2 1 1 1 1 1
 aiM 62 35 32 31 30 29 30 32
 total nomad 62 37 34 32 31 30 31 33
(1)  these miscellaneous operational statistics are non-ifrS measures. 
(2)  advisory teams are normally comprised of one or more investment advisors (ias) and their assistants and associates, who together manage a shared set of client accounts. advisory teams that are 

led by, or only include, an ia who has been licensed for less than three years are not included in our advisory team count, as it typically takes a new ia approximately three years to build an average-
sized book. 

(3)  investment professionals include all staff with direct sales responsibilities, which includes brokers and assistants with direct client contacts. fund managers include all staff who manage client assets.
(4)  a company listed on aiM is required to retain a nominated adviser (commonly referred to as a nomad) during the company’s life on the market. among other duties, nomads are responsible for 

warranting that a company is appropriate for joining aiM. a nomad is similar to a financial advisor on the lSe, but is specific to aiM. 
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glossary
Acquisition-related expense items
acquisition-related expense items include costs incurred to 
acquire Genuity capital Markets, the Balloch Group limited, 
50% interest in BGf capital pty ltd, collins Stewart Hawkpoint 
plc, as well as the amortization of intangible assets related 
to these acquisitions. acquisition-related expense items 
also include costs incurred for prospective acquisitions not 
pursued. figures that exclude acquisition-related items are 
considered non-ifrS measures.

AdvantageBc International Business centre society  
(formerly known as International Financial centre  
British columbia society) 
Membership provides certain tax and financial benefits, 
reducing the overall corporate tax rate, pursuant to  
British columbia legislation.

Advisory fees
revenue related to the fees canaccord charges for corporate 
advisory, mergers and acquisitions or corporate restructuring 
services is recorded as advisory fees.

Advisory Teams (IA Teams)
advisory teams are normally comprised of one or more ias 
and their assistants and associates, who together manage 
a shared set of client accounts. advisory teams that are led 
by, or only include, an ia who has been licensed for less than 
three years are not included in our advisory team count, as 
it typically takes a new ia approximately three years to build 
an average-sized book. as independent Wealth Management 
branches are led by one advisor (with a team), each iWM 
branch is counted as a single advisory team.

Alternative Investment Market (AIM) 
the junior arm of the london Stock exchange (lSe), aiM 
provides a global market for smaller, growing companies.

Assets under administration (AuA) canada
aua is the market value of client assets administered by 
canaccord, for which canaccord earns commissions or 
fees. this measure includes funds held in client accounts, 
as well as the aggregate market value of long and short 
security positions. Management uses this measure to 
assess operational performance of the canaccord Wealth 
Management business segment. this measure is non-ifrS.

Assets under management (AuM) canada
auM consists of assets that are beneficially owned by clients 
and discretionarily managed by canaccord as part of the 
Complete Canaccord Investment Counselling Program and 
Complete Canaccord Managed Account Program. Services 
provided include the selection of investments and the 
provision of investment advice. auM is also administered by 
canaccord and is therefore included in aua. this measure is 
non-ifrS.

Assets under management (AuM) uk and europe
auM is the market value of client assets managed and 
administered by canaccord, for which canaccord earns 
commissions or fees. this measure includes both discretionary 
and non-discretionary accounts. this measure is non-ifrS.

Book value per diluted common share
a measure of common equity per share calculated by 
subtracting liabilities from assets and dividing by the number 
of diluted shares outstanding. this measure is non-ifrS.

canaccord BgF
canaccord BGf is the brand used for canaccord Genuity’s 
operations in australia and Hong Kong.

canaccord genuity
canaccord’s capital markets division was rebranded from 
canaccord adams to canaccord Genuity in May 2010, 
following the acquisition of Genuity capital Markets. 

canaccord genuity Asia
canaccord Genuity asia is the brand used for canaccord 
Genuity’s operations in the asia-pacific region. 

canaccord genuity hawkpoint
canaccord Genuity Hawkpoint is the brand used to represent 
part of canaccord Genuity’s global corporate advisory 
operations based in the uK and europe.

collins stewart hawkpoint plc (cshP)
canaccord acquired collins Stewart Hawkpoint plc (cSHp) on 
March 21, 2012. cSHp was a leading independent financial 
advisory group with operations in the uK, the uS, europe 
and Singapore. Subsequent to the acquisition, cSHp was 
rebranded canaccord Genuity. 

collins stewart Wealth Management (csWM)
collins Stewart Wealth Management is the private client 
division of the former cSHp, servicing over 9,000 clients 
from offices in the uK, the channel islands, isle of Man and 
Switzerland. cSWM will be rebranded canaccord Wealth 
Management during fiscal 2013. 

common equity
also referred to as common shares, which are, as the name 
implies, the most usual and commonly held form of stock in 
a corporation. dividends paid to the stockholders must be 
paid to preferred shares before being paid to common stock 
shareholders.

correspondent brokerage services
the provision of secure administrative, trade execution 
and research services to other brokerage firms through the 
company’s existing technology and operations infrastructure 
(pinnacle correspondent Services).
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Dilution
the change in earnings and book value per share resulting 
from the exercise of all warrants and options and conversion 
of convertible securities.

Dividend yield
a financial ratio that shows how much a company pays out in 
dividends each year relative to its share price. it is calculated 
as total annual dividends per share divided by the company 
share price.

earnings (loss) per share (ePs), diluted
net income (loss) divided by the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding adjusted for the dilutive effects of stock 
options and other share-based compensation. 

efficiency ratio
a financial ratio to measure efficiency calculated by dividing 
total expense over total revenue. 

employee stock Purchase Plan (esPP)
Voluntary plan that provides eligible employees with the 
ability to purchase shares in the company through payroll 
deductions, with an additional contribution by the company.

escrowed securities
common shares in the company that are subject to specific 
terms of release. 

Fair value adjustment
an estimate of the fair value of an asset (or liability) for 
which a market price cannot be determined, usually because 
there is no established market for the asset. at canaccord, 
adjustments were made to reflect our estimate of the value of 
the restructured aBcp notes based on discounting expected 
future cash flows on a probability-weighted basis, considering 
best available data at the time of valuation.

Fixed income trading
trading in new issues, government and corporate bonds, 
treasury bills, commercial paper, strip bonds, high-yield debt 
and convertible debentures. 

genuity capital Markets
canaccord acquired Genuity capital Markets and certain of 
its affiliates (also referred to as “Genuity”) on april 23, 2010. 
Genuity was an independent canadian investment bank with 
strong mergers and acquisitions and advisory practices. 
Subsequent to the acquisition, canaccord renamed its capital 
markets division canaccord Genuity.

Incentive-based revenue
a percentage of incentive-based revenue earned is directly 
paid out as incentive compensation expense. at canaccord, 
this includes commission, investment banking, advisory fees, 
and principal trading revenue. 

Independent Wealth Management
an independent operating platform of canaccord Wealth 
Management, under which investment advisors operate as 
independent agents of the company. each iWM branch is 
classified as one advisory team, which is comprised of one or 
more investment advisors and their assistants and associates, 
who together manage a shared set of client accounts. 

Institutional sales and trading
a capital markets business segment providing market 
information and research, advice and trade execution to 
institutional clients.

International trading
executing trades in canadian securities on behalf of  
uS brokerage firms.

Investment banking
assisting public and private businesses and governments to 
obtain financing in the capital markets through the issuance of 
debt, equity and derivative securities on either an underwritten 
or an agency basis.

Investment professionals and fund managers
investment professionals include all staff with direct sales 
responsibilities, which include brokers and assistants with 
direct contacts. fund managers include all staff who manage 
client assets.

liquidity
the total of cash and cash equivalents available to the 
company as capital for operating and regulatory purposes. 

london stock exchange (lse)
one of the world’s largest stock exchanges, the lSe has been 
in existence for more than 300 years and has over 3,000 
listed companies. the exchange has four main sectors: the 
Main Market; the aiM Market; the professional Securities 
Market; and the Specialist fund Market.

long-term incentive plan (lTIP)
a reward system designed to align employee and external 
shareholder interests. under canaccord’s ltip, a portion of 
an eligible employee’s annual compensation is held back to 
purchase restricted Share units (rSus) of the company. the 
rSus are topped up by the firm and vest over three years.

Montréal International Financial centre 
Membership provides certain tax and financial benefits, 
reducing the overall corporate tax rate, pursuant to  
Québec legislation. 

National health Insurance (NhI) tax 
payroll tax applicable to uK employees based on a percentage 
of incentive compensation payout.
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Nominated Adviser (Nomad)
a company approved by the lSe to act as an adviser for 
companies who wish to be admitted to aiM. a nomad warrants 
to the lSe that the company is appropriate for admission 
and assists the listed company on an ongoing basis with 
disclosure and other market related matters.

Non-cash charges
charges booked by a company that do not impact its cash 
balance or working capital.

offshore operations
for canaccord’s purposes, offshore operations refer to wealth 
management offices in the channel islands, the isle of Man 
and Switzerland. currently offices of collins Stewart Wealth 
Management, these offices will be rebranded canaccord 
Wealth Management during fiscal 2013.

Preferred shares
a class of ownership in a corporation that has a higher claim 
on the assets and earnings than common stock. preferred 
shares generally do not have voting rights; however, preferred 
shareholders receive a dividend that must be paid out before 
dividends are paid to common stockholders. 

Principal trading
trading in equity securities in principal and inventory accounts. 
revenue is generated through inventory trading gains  
and losses.

registered trading
trading in equity securities in principal and inventory accounts 
by registered traders who operate by taking positions, trading 
and making markets in equity securities including securities of 
companies with small to medium-sized market capitalizations. 
revenue is generated through inventory trading gains  
and losses.

return on average common equity (roe) 
net income expressed as a percentage of average common 
equity. this measure is non-ifrS.

risk
financial institutions face a number of risks that may 
expose them to losses, including market, credit, operational, 
regulatory and legal risk. 

separately managed accounts (sMAs)
investment portfolios available to clients that are managed  
by a senior portfolio manager. in SMas, clients own the 
individual securities within the portfolio, rather than a portion 
of a pooled fund. 

significant items
charges not considered to be recurring or indicative of 
operating earnings. for canaccord this includes acquisition-
related expense items, impairment of goodwill and intangibles, 
restructuring costs, aBcp fair value adjustments and accrual 
for the company’s client relief program. figures excluding 
significant items are considered to be non-ifrS measures.

syndicate participation
a group of investment banking firms coordinating the 
marketing, distribution, pricing and stabilization of equity 
financing transactions. 

The Balloch group (TBg)
the Balloch Group was a leading boutique investment bank in 
china that canaccord acquired in January 2011. canaccord’s 
operations in china were subsequently rebranded canaccord 
Genuity asia.

Trading services
Quotation services, trade reconciliation, execution 
management, order book management and trade reporting. 

underwriter – investment banking
purchases securities or other instruments from a corporate 
issuer for resale to investors.

value-at-risk (var)
Var is a generally accepted risk measurement concept that 
is defined as the predicted minimum loss in market value of 
a portfolio at a specific confidence level (e.g., 95%) over a 
certain period of time (e.g., daily).

Wrap accounts
a type of brokerage account in which a single or flat fee  
covers all administrative, research, advisory and  
management expenses.
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corporate governance 
the Board of directors (Board) assumes responsibility for the stewardship of the company, acting as a whole and through its 
committees, and has approved a formal Board Governance Manual (Mandate) including terms of reference for the Board and 
setting forth the Board’s stewardship responsibilities and other specific duties and responsibilities. the Board’s responsibilities 
are also governed by:

•	 The	Business Corporations Act (British columbia)
•	 The	Company’s	articles
•	 The	charters	of	its	committees
•	 Other	corporate	policies	and	applicable	laws

communication with Independent Members of the Board

terrence lyons has been appointed by the Board of directors of canaccord financial inc. as its lead director. one of his 
responsibilities is to receive and determine appropriate action on any communications from interested parties that are  
addressed to the independent directors of the Board. Such communications can be sent to Mr. lyons in writing by mail to  
2039 West 35th avenue, Vancouver, Bc, canada, V6M 1J1.

strategic Planning Process

the Board’s Mandate provides that the Board is responsible for ensuring that the company has an effective strategic planning 
process. as such, the Board reviews, approves, monitors and provides guidance on the company’s strategic plan.

Identification and Management of risks

the Board’s Mandate includes:

•	 Assisting	management	to	identify	the	principal	business	risks	of	the	Company
•	 Taking	reasonable	steps	to	ensure	the	implementation	of	appropriate	systems	to	manage	and	monitor	those	risks
•	 Reviewing	plans	for	evaluating	and	testing	the	Company’s	internal	financial	controls
•	 Overseeing	the	external	auditors,	including	the	approval	of	the	external	auditors’	terms	of	reference

succession Planning and evaluation

the Board’s Mandate includes keeping in place adequate and effective succession plans for the chief executive officer (ceo) and 
senior management.

•	 The	Corporate	Governance	and	Compensation	Committee	(CGCC)	receives	periodic	updates	on	the	Company’s	succession	
plan at the senior officer level and monitors the succession planning process

•	 The	succession	plan	is	reviewed,	at	least	annually,	by	the	CGCC
•	 On	the	recommendation	of	the	President	&	CEO,	the	Board	appoints	the	senior	officers	of	the	Company

communications and Public Disclosure

the company’s disclosure controls policy (dcp) addresses the accurate and timely communication of all important information 
relating to the company and its interaction with shareholders, investment analysts, other stakeholders and the public generally.

•	 The	DCP	is	reviewed	annually	by	the	Board
•	 The	DCP,	public	securities	regulatory	filings,	press	releases	and	investor	presentations	are	posted	on	the	Company’s	website
•	 The	Board	reviews	all	quarterly	and	annual	consolidated	financial	statements	and	related	management	discussion	and	

analysis, the company’s earnings releases, management information circulars, annual information forms (aifs) and  
financing documents
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Internal controls

the Board requires management to maintain effective internal controls and information systems. the Board, with the assistance 
of the audit committee, oversees the integrity of the company’s internal control and information systems.

•	 The	Audit	Committee	meets	no	less	than	four	times	a	year	with	the	Company’s	Chief	Financial	Officer	(CFO)	and	senior	
finance staff to review internal controls over financial reporting and related information systems

•	 External	auditors	provide	recommendations	to	the	Audit	Committee	on	an	annual	basis	in	relation	to	the	Company’s	internal	
controls and information systems

as of March 31, 2012, an evaluation was carried out, under the supervision of and with the participation of management, 
including the president & ceo and the executive Vice president & cfo, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and 
procedures as defined under Multilateral Instrument 52-109. Based on that evaluation, the president & ceo and the executive 
Vice president & cfo concluded that the design and operation of these disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of 
March 31, 2012, except in the scope limitation as noted below that exists as a result of the purchase of cSHp. 

National Instrument 52-109 allows for a scope limitation on the design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls 
over financial reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures in respect of any business acquired not more than 365 days 
before the end of the relevant reporting period.

accordingly, the acquisition of cSHp, which closed on March 21, 2012, has been excluded from the assessment of the company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures, as the operations of the former cSHp entities were not yet integrated into the company’s 
internal controls, policies and procedures. Management is currently in the process of revising the company’s internal control 
structure to incorporate the newly acquired operations. the following table shows the summarized financial information for the 
excluded operations of the former cSHp entities:

selected financial data

as at March 31, 2012 and for the period between March 22, 2012 and March 31, 2012
($ millions)     

total assets   $ 1,407.6

total liabilities    840.8

revenue    12.0

net loss for the period   $ (7.4)

governance

the Board recognizes the current trend towards having a majority of independent directors. as the company continues to be 
largely employee owned, it is of the view that the number of its members that are independent directors adequately reflects the 
perspectives and interests of the minority shareholders.

•	 The	Board	is	currently	composed	of	nine	directors,	six	of	whom	are	independent	of	management	as	determined	under	
applicable securities legislation

•	 The	CGCC	is	responsible	for	periodically	reviewing	the	composition	of	the	Board	and	its	committees
•	 A	formal	annual	assessment	process	has	been	established	to	include	feedback	by	all	the	directors	to	the	full	Board,	including	

the completion of a confidential survey
•	 New	directors	are	provided	with	substantial	reference	material	on	the	Company’s	strategic	focus,	financial	and	operating	

history, corporate governance practices and corporate vision
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summary of charters and committees

the Board has delegated certain of its responsibilities to two committees, each of which has specific roles and responsibilities  
as defined by the Board. Both of these Board committees are made up of independent directors.

AuDIT coMMITTee

the audit committee assists the Board of directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities by monitoring the company’s financial 
reporting practices and financial disclosure. it comprises three unrelated directors. all members of the audit committee are 
financially literate; that is, they are able to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of 
complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably 
be expected to be raised by the company’s financial statements. the current members of the audit committee are Messrs. lyons 
(chair), eeuwes and carello.

the audit committee has adopted a charter which specifically defines the roles and responsibilities of the audit committee. the 
audit committee charter can be found in the company’s aif filed on Sedar. the audit committee has direct communication 
channels with the external auditors and cfo and senior finance staff and discusses and reviews issues with each of them on a 
regular basis.

the audit committee is responsible for ensuring management has designed and implemented an effective system of internal 
control. the external auditors are hired by and report directly to the audit committee. after consultation with management, the 
audit committee is responsible for setting the external auditors’ compensation. the external auditors attend each meeting of 
the audit committee, and a portion of each meeting is held without the presence of management. the audit committee annually 
reviews and approves the external auditors’ audit plan and must approve any audit and non-audit work performed by the external 
auditors. the cfo and senior finance staff attend each meeting of the audit committee other than the portion of the meeting 
which is held without management present to allow more open discussion. the audit committee annually reviews and approves 
the internal audit plan.

corPorATe goverNANce AND coMPeNsATIoN coMMITTee

the corporate Governance and compensation committee is responsible for developing the company’s approach to governance 
issues, reviewing the company’s overall governance principles and recommending changes to those principles from time to time. 
it comprises three unrelated directors: Messrs. Harris (chair), eeuwes and lyons. the committee has full access to staff and 
resources. at all regular committee meetings during the year, a portion of each meeting is held without management present to 
allow more open discussion.
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Board of Directors 
charles Bralver (2010)
charles n. Bralver is a corporate director and advisor. He was 
a founding partner and Vice chairman of oliver, Wyman & co. 
and led its capital Markets, european, and north american 
practices. He has also served as a partner in Massif partners, 
an investment management and advisory firm; Senior 
associate dean for international Business and finance at the 
fletcher School of tufts university; and as a Strategic advisor 
to Warburg pincus llc. Mr. Bralver serves as a director of 
canaccord financial and newstar financial where he is a 
member of the risk committee, is a member of the Senior 
advisory Board of oliver Wyman, and sits on the boards of the 
fletcher School of tufts university and the dickey center for 
international understanding at dartmouth college. Mr. Bralver 
is the author of several articles on trading market structure 
and economics, and most recently of “the cfo as the agent 
of the capital Markets”, in The Known, the Unknown, and the 
Unknowable in Financial Risk Management, edited by diebold 
and Herring, Wharton financial institutions center, princeton 
university press 2010. He has an aB from dartmouth college 
and an Ma and Mald from the fletcher School. 

Peter M. Brown, o.B.c., ll.D., litt D. (1997) 
peter M. Brown was born in 1941 in Vancouver where he  
lives today. after attending the university of British columbia,  
he entered the investment business with Greenshields inc. in 
1962. today he remains founder and Honorary chairman  
of canaccord financial inc. which he founded in 1968 and  
is canada’s largest independent investment dealer with  
64 offices worldwide, including 37 wealth management offices 
located across canada and five wealth management offices 
in the uK, channel islands, isle of Man and Switzerland. 
canaccord Genuity, the international capital markets division, 
operates in 11 countries including canada, united States, uK, 
france, Germany, ireland, italy, china, Hong Kong, Singapore, 
australia and Barbados. 

peter Brown is currently serving as chairman of the Board 
for the fraser institute. Mr. Brown is British columbia’s 
representative on the advisory committee to the canadian 
Securities transition office to lead the transition to a single 
canadian securities regulator. He is a director and is a 
Member of the executive committee for the investment 
industry association of canada. Mr. Brown is a Member of 
the economic advisory council to the federal Minister of 
finance. He is also currently serving as a federally appointed 
lead director and Member of the finance committee for 
the Vancouver 2010 olympic & paralympics Games which 
successfully brought the Vancouver 2010 olympics to canada. 
recently, the Business council of British columbia appointed 
Mr. Brown to their Board of Governors. peter Brown is the 
incoming chair of the Vancouver police foundation. 

He has served on the boards of numerous private sector and 
crown corporations over the years. formerly, he was a director 
of the Vancouver convention centre expansion project limited & 
pavilion corp (both crown corporations). among his attainments, 

he was the past chairman of the university of British columbia, 
the Vancouver Stock exchange, B.c. place corporation and B.c. 
enterprise corporation (both crown corporations). He was also 
the Vice chairman of expo 86 corporation. 

Mr. Brown is a recipient of the B.c. chamber of commerce 
Businessman	of	the	Year	award;	the	B.C.	&	Yukon	Chamber	
of Mines financier award and the pacific entrepreneur of the 
Year	Award	for	2001.	In	2002	he	received	the	Distinguished	
Service award by the prospectors and developers association  
of canada. in January 2003, Mr. Brown received a 
commemorative Medal for the Golden Jubilee of Her Majesty 
Queen elizabeth. in June 2003, he was awarded the order 
of British columbia. the Brotherhood inter-faith Society 
recognized	Peter	Brown	as	their	Person	of	the	Year	in	 
february 2004. in the spring of 2005, Mr. Brown received  
an honorary degree (doctor of laws) from the university of  
British columbia. in 2007, he received the distinguished 
Graduate award from St. George’s School and the ted ticknor 
award for exceptional contribution from Big Brothers of Greater 
Vancouver. in 2009, Mr. Brown received the fraser institute’s 
t. patrick Boyle founder’s award. in 2010, peter Brown was 
inducted into the canadian Mining Hall of fame recognizing 
his entrepreneurial spirit and contribution to canada’s 
mining industry. He also became an Honorary Member of the 
Vancouver police pipe Band in 2009 and received the first-ever 
civilian commendation from the Vancouver city police. ernst 
&	Young	recognized	him	with	the	Lifetime	Achievement	Award	
in 2010 and in May 2011 he was inducted into the Business 
laureates of Bc Hall of fame.

in 2012, peter Brown received the Vancouver Board of trade 
rix award for engaged community citizenship and an honorary 
degree (doctor of letters) from emily carr university of art 
& design. in January 2013 he will be receiving an Honorary 
degree from the Justice institute of British columbia.

Massimo carello (2008) 
Audit Committee
Mr. carello is a corporate director and a private investor in 
public companies. Mr. carello was the chairman and chief 
executive officer of diners club uK ltd. from 2001 to 2004 
and was the chairman and chief executive officer of fiat uK 
ltd. from 1990 to 2001. Mr. carello served as a member 
of the confederation of British industry (cBi) president’s 
committee from 1998 to 2003 and was a member of the cBi 
european committee. He was Vice president of the italian 
chamber of commerce in the uK from 1998 to 2005. in 
addition to canaccord financial inc., Mr. carello is a director 
and a member of the audit committees of the following public 
companies: canadian overseas petroleum ltd. and orsu 
Metals corporation. until december 2010, he was also a 
director and a member of the audit committee of uranium  
one inc.
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William J. eeuwes (2002) 
Audit Committee
Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee
Mr. eeuwes is Senior Vice president and Managing director 
of Manulife capital, a division of the Manufacturers life 
insurance company. He has executive responsibility for 
four alternative assets teams in canada: Manulife capital 
(private equity and mezzanine), project finance (power 
and infrastructure), regional power inc. and nal resource 
Management limited (oil and gas). Before joining Manulife 
in 1999, Mr. eeuwes was a career banker with 25 years of 
experience in underwriting and the management of a broad 
range of financing including lBos, corporate lending and 
project finance. Mr. eeuwes is a graduate of the richard ivey 
School of Business at the university of Western ontario. in 
addition to canaccord financial inc., Mr. eeuwes is a director 
of the following public company: nal energy corporation which 
is listed on the toronto Stock exchange.

Michael D. harris, IcD.D. (2004) 
Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee
Michael Harris, icd.d, is a senior business advisor with the 
law firm of cassels Brock & Blackwell llp in toronto, and the 
president of his own consulting firm, Steane consulting ltd., 
and, in this capacity, acts as a consultant to various canadian 
companies. prior to joining cassels Brock in March 2010, he 
was a senior business advisor with the law firm of Goodmans 
llp in toronto.

Mr. Harris was born in toronto in 1945, and was raised in 
callander and north Bay, ontario. Before his election to the 
ontario legislature in 1981, Mike Harris was a schoolteacher, 
a school board trustee and chair and an entrepreneur in 
the nipissing area. on June 8, 1995 Mr. Harris became the 
22nd premier of ontario following a landslide election victory. 
in 1999, he was re-elected – making him the first ontario 
premier in over 30 years to form a second consecutive 
majority government.

in addition to sitting on several boards of canadian 
corporations, he also serves as a director of the tim Horton 
children’s foundation. He is the Honorary chair of the north 
Bay district Hospital capital campaign and the nipissing 
university and canadore college capital campaign.  
Mr. Harris is also a Senior fellow of the fraser institute.  
He has received his icd.d certification from the institute  
of corporate directors.

in addition to canaccord financial inc., Mr. Harris is a director 
of the following public companies: chartwell Seniors Housing 
real estate investment trust (chair), firstService corporation, 
routel inc. (chair), and element financial.

David kassie (2010)
david Kassie became Group chairman and a director of 
canaccord financial inc. on the closing of the acquisition of 
Genuity capital Markets, a canadian investment bank, on  
april 23, 2010, and became chairman on april 1, 2012. He 
was the principal, chairman and chief executive officer of 
Genuity capital Markets from 2004 until May 9, 2010, when 
the integration of the businesses of Genuity capital Markets 
and canaccord financial ltd. was completed under the  
name canaccord Genuity. Before 2004, he was chairman  
and chief executive officer of ciBc World Markets and the  
Vice chairman of ciBc. 

Mr. Kassie has extensive experience as an advisor, underwriter 
and principal. He sits on a number of corporate boards. 
Mr. Kassie is actively involved in community and charitable 
organizations and is on the boards of the ivey School of 
Business and the toronto international film festival Group, and 
was formerly on the Board of the Hospital for Sick children.

Mr. Kassie holds a B.comm. (Honours) in economics from 
McGill university, 1977 and an MBa from the university of 
Western ontario, 1979.

Terrence A. lyons (2004) 
Audit Committee
Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee
terry lyons is past chairman, northgate Minerals corporation, 
which was recently acquired by aurico Gold, creating a new 
mid-cap gold company with a value of over $3 billion. He is a 
director of several public and private corporations including 
Sprott resource corp.; polaris Minerals corporation; eacoM 
timber corporation; Bc pavilion corporation (pavco) and 
currently serves as the lead director and chairman of the 
audit committee of canaccord financial inc. 

Mr. lyons is a civil engineer (uBc) with an MBa from the  
university of Western ontario. He sits on the advisory Board  
of the richard ivey School of Business and is active in 
sports and charitable activities, is a past Governor of the 
olympic foundation of canada, past chairman of the Mining 
association of Bc and in 2007 was awarded the inco 
Medal by the canadian institute of Mining and Metallurgy for 
distinguished service to the mining industry.
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Paul D. reynolds (2005)
paul reynolds was named president of canaccord financial 
inc. in august 2006 and ceo in august 2007, and leads the 
firm from canaccord’s toronto office. Between 1999 and 
2007, he managed canaccord’s london, england office as 
president and coo of european operations and was named 
Global Head of canaccord Genuity in april 2005.

Mr. reynolds has over 28 years of experience in the securities 
industry beginning as an equities trader. in 1985, he joined 
canaccord financial, working as an investment advisor 
before moving into a senior role in institutional sales. in 
the late 1990s, Mr. reynolds assumed a leadership role in 
investment banking where he specialized in financing emerging 
and developing companies in the resource, technology and 
biotechnology sectors.

Mr. reynolds also serves on the boards of the international 
crisis Group and the Hospital for Sick children in toronto, and 
sits on the Global commerce advisory panel for the canadian 
Ministry of foreign affairs and international trade. 

Michael A. Walker, ll.D., D.s.s. (2006) 
Michael Walker, ll.d., d.S.S. is a Senior fellow at the fraser 
institute and president of the fraser institute foundation. 
from its inception in 1974, until September 2005, Michael 
Walker directed the activities of the fraser institute. Before 
that he taught at the university of Western ontario and 
carleton university and was employed at the Bank of canada 
and the federal department of finance. He received his ph.d. 
at the university of Western ontario and his Ba at St. francis 
Xavier university.

as an economist, he has authored or edited 45 books on 
economic topics. His articles on technical economic subjects 
have appeared in professional journals in canada, the 
united States and europe, including the Canadian Journal 
of Economics, the American Economic Review, the Journal 
of Finance, the Canadian Tax Journal, Health Management 
Quarterly, Weltwertschaftliches Archiv and Health Affairs. 
He is the co-founder, with Milton and rose d. friedman, of 
the economic freedom of the World project, which is now 
a collaboration of 70 countries and produces the annual 
economic freedom of the World index. 

as a journalist, he has written more than 700 articles which 
have appeared in 60 north american newspapers including  
the Globe and Mail, the Wall Street Journal, the National Post,  
the Vancouver Sun, the Chicago Tribune, Reader’s Digest,  
the Detroit News and the Western Star. He has served  
as a regular columnist for the Ottawa Citizen, the Financial  
Post and the Vancouver Province. He has lectured to over 
2,000 audiences at universities and in other venues on  
six continents.

dr. Walker is not a director of any public companies other than  
canaccord financial inc. He is a director of Mancal corporation. 
He is also a director of a number of non-profit societies 
including the Milton and rose d. friedman foundation. 

He has received the Vancouver rotary Service above Self 
award, the colin M. Brown freedom Medal and award by 
the national citizens’ coalition, an honorary doctor of laws 
degree from the university of Western ontario, an honorary 
doctor of Social Sciences degree from universidad francisco 
Marroquín and the thomas Jefferson award from the 
association of private enterprise education.

The date appearing after the name of each director indicates 
the year in which he became a director. The term of office is 
subject to voting at the Annual General Meeting in 2012. 
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locations
capital Markets

cANAccorD geNuITy

canada

Toronto 
Brookfield place
161 Bay Street, Suite 3000
p.o. Box 516
toronto, on
canada  M5J 2S1
telephone: 416.869.7368
toll free (canada): 1.800.382.9280
toll free (uS): 1.800.896.1058

Vancouver
pacific centre
609 Granville Street, Suite 2200 
p.o. Box 10337
Vancouver, Bc
Canada		V7Y	1H2	
telephone: 604.643.7300
toll free (canada): 1.800.663.1899
toll free (uS): 1.800.663.8061

Calgary
transcanada tower
450 1st Street SW, Suite 2200
calgary, aB
canada  t2p 5p8
telephone: 403.508.3800
toll free: 1.800.818.4119

Montréal
1250 rené-lévesque Boulevard West
Suite 2000
Montréal, Qc
canada  H3B 4W8
telephone: 514.844.5443
toll free: 1.800.361.4805

Barbados 

26 cassia Heights
royal Westmoreland
St. James, Barbados  BB 24023
telephone: 246.419.0466

 
 
 
 
united states 

New York
535 Madison avenue, 2nd floor
New	York,	NY
uSa  10022
telephone: 212.849.3900
toll free: 1.800.818.2196 

New York
350 Madison avenue
New	York,	NY
uSa  10017
telephone: 212.389.8000
toll free: 1.800.538.7003

Boston
99 High Street, Suite 1200 
Boston, Ma
uSa  02110
telephone: 617.371.3900
toll free: 1.800.225.6201 

San Francisco 
101 Montgomery Street, Suite 2000
San francisco, ca
uSa  94104
telephone: 415.229.7171
toll free: 1.800.225.6104

Houston
Wells fargo plaza
1000 louisiana Street, 71st floor
Houston, tX 
uSa  77002
telephone: 713.331.9901

Chicago
1880 oak avenue, Suite 135
evanston, il
uSa  60201
telephone: 847.864.1137 

Minneapolis
45 7th Street South, Suite 2640
Minneapolis, Mn
uSa  55402
telephone: 613.332.2208

uk and europe

London
88 Wood Street
london, uK
ec2V 7Qr
telephone: 44.20.7523.8000

 
 
 
 
Edinburgh
29 rutland Square
edinburgh, Scotland 
eH1 2BW
telephone: 44.131.222.9400

Dublin
first floor, South dock House
Hanover Quay
dublin 2
ireland
telephone: 353.1.635.0210

Milan
filiale italiana
Galleria passarella 1
20122  Milan
italy
telephone: 39.02.062.1800

Asia

Beijing
Suite c700, 50 liangmaqiao rd.
Beijing  100125
china
telephone: 8610.8451.5559
fax: 8610.8454.0489

Shanghai
Suite 1205, tower 1, plaza 66
1266 nanjing West road,  
Jing’an district
Shanghai  200040, china
telephone: 86.21.6288.6895
fax: 86.21.6288.2636

Hangzhou
Suite 1001, Gongyuan north Building
8 Qiushi road
Hangzhou,	Zhejiang,	China
telephone: 86.571.8992.2216 
fax: 86.571.8992.2221 

Singapore
77 robinson road
#21-02
Singapore  068896
telephone: 65.6854.6150
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cANAccorD geNuITy hAWkPoINT

uk and europe

London
41 lothbury
london, uK
ec2r 7ae
telephone: 44.20.7665.4500

Frankfurt
opernturm
Bockenheimer landstrasse 2-4
60306 frankfurt am Main
Germany
telephone: 49.69.67.776.5000

Paris
Washington plaza
29 rue de Berri
75008  paris
france
telephone: 33.1.56.69.66.66

cANAccorD BgF

Asia-Pacific

Melbourne
level 4, 60 collins Street
Melbourne, Vic, 3000, australia
telephone: 61.3.8688.9100

Sydney
level 15, 9 castlereagh Street
Sydney, nSW, 2000, australia
telephone: 61.2.9263.2700

Hong Kong
8th floor, Vc House, 4-6 on lan Street
central, Hong Kong
telephone: 852.2110.3401

Wealth Management

cANAccorD WeAlTh MANAgeMeNT

corporate Branches

British Columbia
Vancouver Head Office 
pacific centre 
609 Granville Street, Suite 2200
p.o. Box 10337
Vancouver, Bc
Canada		V7Y	1H2
telephone: 604.643.7300
toll free (canada): 1.800.663.1899
toll free (uS): 1.800.663.8061

Abbotsford
32071 South fraser Way, Suite 200
abbotsford, Bc
canada  V2t 1W3
telephone: 604.504.1504
toll free: 1.877.977.5677

Kelowna
1708 dolphin avenue, Suite 602
Kelowna, Bc
Canada		V1Y	9S4
telephone: 250.712.1100
toll free: 1.888.389.3331

Victoria
737	Yates	Street,	Suite	400
Victoria, Bc
canada  V8W 1l6
telephone: 250.388-5354
toll free: 1.877.666.2288

 
 
White Rock
1688 – 152nd Street, Suite 305
Surrey, Bc
canada  V4a 4n2
telephone: 604.538.8004
toll free: 1.800.665.2001

Ontario
Toronto
Brookfield place 
161 Bay Street, Suite 2900
p.o. Box 516
toronto, on
canada  M5J 2S1
telephone: 416.869.7368
toll free (canada): 1.800.382.9280
toll free (uS): 1.800.896.1058

London
one london place, Suite 1600
255 Queens avenue
london, on
canada  n6a 5r8
telephone: 519.434.6259
toll free: 1.866.739.3386

Waterloo
80 King Street South, Suite 101
Waterloo, on
canada  n2J 1p5
telephone: 519.886.1060
toll free: 1.800.495.8071

 
 
Alberta
Calgary
transcanada tower, Suite 2200
450 – 1st Street SW
calgary, aB
canada  t2p 5p8
telephone: 403.508.3800
toll free: 1.800.818.4119

Edmonton
Manulife place, Suite 2700
10180 – 101st Street
edmonton, aB
canada  t5J 3S4
telephone: 780.408.1500
toll free: 1.877.313.3035

Québec
Montréal 
1250 rené-lévesque Boulevard West
Suite 2000
Montréal, Qc 
canada  H3B 4W8
telephone: 514.844.5443
toll free: 1.800.361.4805

Nova Scotia
Halifax
purdy’s Wharf tower ii, Suite 2004
1969 upper Water Street
Halifax, nS
canada  B3J 3r7
telephone: 902.442.3162
toll free: 1.866.371.2262
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canaccord Wealth Management  
(usA), Inc.

pacific centre 
609 Granville Street, Suite 2200
p.o. Box 10337
Vancouver, Bc 
Canada		V7Y	1H2
telephone: 604.684.5992

Independent Wealth Management 
Branches

Ontario
Toronto
20 eglinton avenue West, Suite 1500
p.o. Box 2039
toronto, on
canada  M4r 1K8
telephone: 416.222.7003
toll free: 1.866.852.6740

Burlington
5500 north Service road, Suite 805
Burlington, on
canada  l7l 6W6
telephone: 905.335.5223
toll free: 1.855.392.5626

Barrie
25 Berczy Street
Barrie, on
canada  l4M 3p6
telephone: 705.721.9594

Cobourg
7941 county rd. #2
cobourg, on
canada  K9a 4J7
telephone: 905.372.1300
toll free: 1.866.536.3702

Ottawa
1525 carling avenue, Suite 201
ottawa, on
Canada		K1Z	8R9
telephone: 613.233.3158
toll free: 1.888.899.9994

Ottawa
2 Gurdwara road, Suite 510
ottawa, on
canada  K2e 1a2
telephone: 613.274.2662
toll free: 1.877.721.1189

Brampton
21 Queen Street east, Suite 900
Brampton, on
canada  l6W 3p1
telephone: 905.450.6766
toll free: 1.800.450.4403

Simcoe
49 robinson Street
Simcoe, on
Canada		N3Y	1W5
telephone: 519.428.7525
toll free: 1.800.301.9379

Kitchener
4281 King Street east, unit e
Kitchener, on
canada  n2p 2e9
telephone: 519.219.6611
toll free: 1.866.232.1894

Vaughan
8400 Jane Street, Suite 200
Vaughan, on
canada  l4K 4l8
telephone: 905.474.7740

Thunder Bay
1001 William Street, Suite 202
thunder Bay, on
canada  p7B 6M1
telephone: 807.476.1750
toll free: 1.877.889.2233

British Columbia
Campbell River
1631 island Hwy
campbell river, Bc
canada  V9W 2e6
telephone: 250.287.8807
toll free: 1.800.347.0270

Nanaimo
75 commercial Street
nanaimo, Bc
canada  V9r 5G3
telephone: 250.754.1111
toll free: 1.800.754.1907

Prince George
1840 third avenue, Suite 101
prince George, Bc
canada  V2M 1G4
telephone: 250.614.0888
toll free: 1.866.614.0888

Prince George
1560 3rd avenue
prince George, Bc
canada  V2l 3G4
telephone: 250.562.7255
toll free: 1.800.667.3205

Vernon
3108 30th avenue
Vernon, Bc
canada  V1t 2c2
telephone: 250.558.5431
toll free: 1.800.665.2505

Summerland
9523 Main Street, Suite 103 
p.o. Box 840
Summerland, Bc
Canada		V0H	1Z0
telephone: 250.494.1130
toll free: 1.888.403.9392

Trail
1277 cedar avenue
trail, Bc
canada  V1r 4B9
telephone: 250.368.3838
toll free: 1.855.368.3838

Alberta
Calgary
322, 11th avenue SW, Suite 207
calgary, aB
canada  t2r 0c5
telephone: 403.531.2444
toll free: 1.866.531.2444
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Calgary
2nd Street SW, Suite 1409
calgary, aB
canada  t2r 0W7
telephone: 403.263.7999
toll free: 1.877.263.7999

Québec
Québec City
2590 laurier Boulevard, Suite 860
Québec city, Qc
canada  G1V 4M6
telephone: 418.658.2924
toll free: 1.866.658.2924

Gatineau
12 Sainte Marie Street
Gatineau, Qc
Canada		J8Y	2A3
telephone: 819.772.4737
toll free: 1.877.496.1685

Saskatchewan
Saskatoon
333 – 25th Street east, Suite 100
Saskatoon, SK
canada  S7K 0l4
telephone: 306.665.2133
toll free: 1.866.665.2121

collINs sTeWArT WeAlTh 
MANAgeMeNT

London
8th floor
88 Wood Street
london, uK
ec2V 7Qr
telephone: 44.20.7523.4600

Jersey
38 the esplanade 
St Helier
Jersey  Je4 0XQ
telephone: 44.1534.708090

Guernsey
collins Stewart House
the Grange
St peter port
p.o. Box 45
Guernsey		GY1	4AX
telephone: 44.1481.712889

Guernsey
landes du Marche chambers
Vale
p.o. Box 328
Guernsey		GY1	3TY
telephone: 44.1481.251515

Isle of Man
anglo international House
Bank Hill
douglas
isle of Man  iM1 4ln
telephone: 44.1624.690100

Geneva
7, avenue pictet-de-rochemont
1207 Geneva
Switzerland
telephone: 41.22.707.0080

oTher locATIoNs

Pinnacle correspondent services

Vancouver
pacific centre
609 Granville Street, Suite 2200
p.o. Box 10337
Vancouver, Bc 
Canada		V7Y	1H2
telephone: 604.643.7300

Toronto 
Brookfield place
161 Bay Street, Suite 3000 
p.o. Box 516
toronto, on
canada  M5J 2S1
telephone: 416.869.7368



 canaccord financial inc.  2012 annual report 137

shareholder Information
corporate headquarters 

sTreeT ADDress

canaccord financial inc.
609 Granville Street, Suite 2200
Vancouver, Bc, canada

MAIlINg ADDress

pacific centre
609 Granville Street, Suite 2200
p.o. Box 10337
Vancouver,	BC,	V7Y	1H2,	Canada

stock exchange listing 

tSX: cf
aiM: cf.

corporate Website

www.canaccordfinancial.com

general shareholder 
Inquiries and Information

INvesTor relATIoNs

161 Bay Street, Suite 3000
toronto, on, canada
telephone: 416.869.7293
fax: 416.947.8343
email: investor.relations@canaccord.com

Media relations and 
Inquiries from Institutional 
Investors and Analysts

Jamie kokoska
Vice president, investor relations and 
communications
telephone: 416.869.3891
email: Jamie.Kokoska@canaccord.com

this canaccord financial 2012 annual 
report is available on our website at 
www.canaccordfinancial.com. for a 
printed copy please contact the investor 
relations department.

common share Trading Information (Fiscal 2012)

  diluted shares 
	 	 outstanding	at	 Year-end	price	 	 	 Total	volume	of 
Stock exchange ticker March 31, 2012 March 31, 2012 High low shares traded

toronto tSX  cf 106,656,028 $ 8.30 $ 15.31 $ 6.94 44,170,959

london aiM  cf. 106,656,028 £  5.05 £ 9.25 £ 5.00  2,752,671

Fiscal 2012 Preferred Dividend Dates and Amounts

  preferred  preferred Series a Series c total
  dividend dividend preferred  preferred preferred
Quarter end date  record date payment date dividend dividend dividend

June 30, 2011 September 16, 2011 September 30, 2011 $ 0.37295  n/a $ 0.37295

September 30, 2011 december 16, 2011 January 3, 2012 $ 0.34375  n/a $ 0.34375

december 31, 2011 March 16, 2012 april 2, 2012 $ 0.34375  n/a $ 0.34375

March 31, 2012 June 15, 2012 July 3, 2012 $ 0.34375 $ 0.31900 $ 0.66275

   $ 1.4042 $ 0.31900 $ 1.7232

Fiscal 2012 common Dividend Dates and Amounts

   common dividend  common dividend   common
Quarter end date   record date payment date dividend

June 30, 2011  august 26, 2011 September 15, 2011 $ 0.10

September 30, 2011  december 2, 2011 december 15, 2011 $ 0.10

december 31, 2011  March 2, 2012 March 15, 2012 $ 0.10

March 31, 2012  June 1, 2012 June 15, 2012 $ 0.10

    $ 0.40
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Shareholder information

eligible Dividend Designation 
(Income Tax Act (canada))

in canada, the Federal Income Tax 
Act, and most provincial income tax 
legislation, provides lower levels of 
taxation for canadian individuals 
who receive eligible dividends. all of 
the common share dividends paid 
by canaccord financial inc. (or its 
predecessor canaccord capital inc.) 
since 2006 are eligible, as are common 
share dividends paid hereafter unless 
otherwise indicated. 

shareholder Administration

for information about stock transfers, 
address changes, dividends, lost stock 
certificates, tax forms and estate 
transfers, contact: 

coMPuTershAre  
INvesTor servIces INc.

100 university avenue, 9th floor
Toronto,	ON		M5J	2Y1
telephone toll free (north america):
1.800.564.6253 
international: 514.982.7555
fax: 1.866.249.7775
toll free fax (north america): or
international fax: 416.263.9524
email: service@computershare.com 
Website: www.computershare.com 
offers enrolment for self-service 
account management for  
registered shareholders through  
the investor centre. 

Annual general Meeting

the annual General Meeting of 
shareholders will be held on  
thursday, July 12, 2012 at 10:00 am  
(eastern time) at the  
tMX Broadcast centre 
the exchange tower
130 King Street West
toronto, on, canada

a live internet webcast will also be 
available for shareholders to view. 
please visit the webcast events page at 
www.canaccordfinancial.com for more 
information and a direct link. 

to view canaccord’s regulatory filings on 
Sedar, please visit www.sedar.com.

Financial Information

for present and archived financial 
information, please visit  
www.canaccordfinancial.com

Auditor

Ernst	&	Young	LLP
chartered accountants
Vancouver, Bc

Fees Paid to  
shareholders’ Auditors

for fees paid to shareholders’ auditors, 
see page 49 of the fiscal 2012 annual 
information form. 

qualified Foreign 
corporation

cfi is a “qualified foreign corporation” 
for uS tax purposes under the Jobs & 
Growth Tax Reconciliation Act of 2003. 

editorial and Design  
services

the Works design communications ltd. 

Fiscal 2013 expected Dividend(1) and earnings release Dates

 expected preferred   common
 earnings  dividend  preferred dividend common dividend dividend
 release date record date  payment date record date payment date

Q1/13  august 8, 2012 September 14, 2012 october 1, 2012 august 24, 2012 September 10, 2012

Q2/13  november 7, 2012 december 14, 2012 december 31, 2012 november 30, 2012 december 10, 2012

Q3/13 february 6, 2013 March 15, 2013 april 1, 2013 March 1, 2013 March 15, 2013

Q4/13 May 21, 2013 June 21, 2013 July 2, 2013 May 31, 2013 June 10, 2013

(1) dividends are subject to Board of directors approval. all dividend payments will depend on general business conditions and the company’s financial conditions, results of operations, capital 
requirements and such other factors as the Board determines to be relevant. 



Canaccord Financial Inc. is the publicly traded parent company 
to Canaccord’s group of companies. Canaccord Financial Inc.  
is listed on the TSX (as CF) and AIM (as CF.).

Canaccord Genuity provides global investment banking, M&A, 
advisory, research, sales and trading services to Canaccord’s 
institutional and corporate clients. Canaccord Genuity has  
24 offices worldwide.

Considered part of Canaccord Genuity, Canaccord Genuity 
Hawkpoint provides M&A, financial restructuring and strategic 
advice to corporate, government, and private equity clients. 
Canaccord Genuity Hawkpoint has offices in London, Paris  
and Frankfurt.

Canaccord Genuity Asia provides capital raising, debt financing 
and advisory services to corporate clients in the Asia-Pacific 
region. Canaccord Genuity Asia has offices in Beijing, Shanghai 
and Hangzhou.

Canaccord BGF provides research, wealth management, sales 
and trading, and equity capital markets services to private, 
institutional and corporate clients. Canaccord BGF has offices 
in Sydney, Melbourne and Hong Kong.

Canaccord Wealth Management’s Canadian operations  
provide tailored wealth management and brokerage services  
to individual investors. Canaccord Wealth Management has  
35 offices, located across Canada.

Collins Stewart Wealth Management (CSWM) provides high  
net worth clients, intermediaries and institutions, and charities 
with wealth management services from offices in the uK, the 
Channel Islands, Isle of Man and Switzerland. CSWM will be 
rebranded Canaccord Wealth Management during fiscal 2013.

Pinnacle provides correspondent services (administrative and 
clearing solutions) to Canada’s wealth management industry by 
leveraging Canaccord’s investment in leading-edge back-office 
infrastructure and technology. 



www.canaccordfinancial.com

Canada 

Toronto 
Vancouver 
Abbotsford 
Barrie 
Brampton 
Burlington 
Calgary 
Campbell River 
Cobourg 
Edmonton 

Gatineau 
Halifax 
Kelowna 
Kitchener 
London 
Montréal 
Nanaimo 
Ottawa 
Prince George 
Québec City 

Saskatoon 
Simcoe 
Summerland 
Thunder Bay 
Trail 
Vaughan 
Vernon 
Victoria 
Waterloo 
White Rock

USa 

New York 
Boston 
Chicago 
Houston 
Minneapolis 
San Francisco

UK and EUropE 

London 
Dublin 
Edinburgh 
Frankfurt 
Geneva 
Guernsey 
Isle of Man 
Jersey 
Milan 
Paris

aSia-paCifiC 

Beijing
Hangzhou
Hong Kong
Melbourne
Shanghai
Singapore
Sydney

Canaccord operations and strategic alliances
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